NOTE TO USERS

. . .

This reproduction is the best copy available.

UMI®

PHYSIOLOGICAL AND MOLECULAR FUNCTIONS OF THE MURINE RECEPTOR PROTEIN TYROSINE PHOSPHATASE SIGMA (RPTPσ)

Mélanie J. Chagnon

Department of Biochemistry

McGill University

Montreal, Quebec, Canada

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies in partial

fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy.

October, 2008

©Melanie J. Chagnon, 2008



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-66266-3 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-66266-3

NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission. AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis.

Canada

Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.

ABSTRACT

The control of cellular tyrosine phosphorylation levels is of great importance in many biological systems. Among the kinases and phosphatases that modulate these levels, the LAR-RPTPs have been suggested to act in several key aspects of neural development, and in a dysfunctional manner in various pathologies from diabetes to cancer. The aim of this thesis is to describe the physiological functions of one of the members of this subfamily of RPTPs, namely RPTPo. First, we showed that glucose homeostasis is altered in RPTPo null mice. They are hypoglycemic and more sensitive to exogenous insulin and we proposed that the insulin hypersensitivity observed in RPTPo-null mice is likely secondary to their neuroendocrine dysplasia and GH/IGF-1 deficiency. In addition to regulating nervous system development, RPTPo was previously shown to regulate axonal regeneration after injury. In the absence of RPTPo, axonal regeneration in the sciatic, facial and optical nerves was enhanced following nerve crush. However, myelin-associated growth inhibitory proteins and components of the glial scar such as CSPGs (chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans) have long been known to inhibit axonal regeneration in the CNS, making spinal cord injury irreversible. In collaboration with Dr Samuel David, we unveiled that RPTPo null mice are able to regenerate their corticospinal tract following spinal cord hemisections as opposed to their WT littermates. We then isolated primary neurons from both sets of animals and found that the absence of RPTP σ promotes the ability of the neurons to adhere to certain inhibitory substrates. Finally, in order to better understand the physiological role of RPTPo, we used a yeast substrate-trapping approach, to screen a murine embryonic library for new substrates. This screen identified the RhoGAP p250GAP as a new substrate, suggesting a downstream role for RPTPo in RhoGTPase signaling. We also identified p130Cas and Fyn as new binding partners. All these proteins have clear functional links to neurite extension. The characterization of RPTPo and its signaling partners is essential for understanding its role in neurological development and may one day translate into treatments of neural diseases and injuries.

ABRÉGÉ

La phosphorylation sur résidus tyrosine des protéines est un mécanisme clé de la régulation de nombreux processus biologiques. Parmi les protéines tyrosine kinases et phosphatases qui contrôlent ces niveaux, la sous-famille des LAR-RPTPs joue un rôle important dans le développement du système nerveux et a été impliquée dans diverses pathologies comme le diabète et le cancer. La présente thèse définit les fonctions physiologiques d'une des LAR-RPTPs, soit RPTPo. Premièrement, nous démontrons que les souris modifiées par transgenèse ciblée RPTPo (-/-) sont hypoglycémiques et plus sensibles à l'insuline exogène. Nous proposons que l'hypersensibilité à l'insuline observée chez ces souris soit fort probablement secondaire à leur dysplasie neuroendocrinienne résultant en une carence en hormone de croissance et IGF-1. Deuxièmement, il a été démontré qu'en l'absence de RPTPo la régénération axonale du nerf sciatique ou facial était accélérée suite à une axotomie. De plus, l'absence de RPTP σ promeut la repousse axonale des neurones ganglionnaires de la rétine dans l'environnement hostile du nerf optique. Les facteurs inhibiteurs associés à la myéline et à la cicatrice gliale sont maintenant reconnus comme un obstacle majeur à la repousse axonale dans le système nerveux central, faisant des lésions à la moelle épinière une condition irréversible. Avec la collaboration du Dr. Samuel David, nous démontrons ici que les souris RPTPo (-/-) ont la capacité de régénérer leurs axones de la voie corticospinale suite à une hémisection de la moelle épinière. De plus, les neurones provenant de souris RPTPo (-/-) ont une meilleure capacité à adhérer sur un substrat inhibant. Afin de mieux comprendre le rôle physiologique de RPTPo, nous avons procédé à une approche modifiée du double-hybride dans la levure afin d'identifier deux nouveaux substrats de RPTPo, soit p250GAP et p130CAS. Nous avons aussi identifié la tyrosine kinase Fyn comme nouveau partenaire de RPTPo. Ces protéines ont tous un lien fonctionnel avec l'élongation axonale. En conclusion, la caractérisation de RPTPo et de ses partenaires de signalisation est essentielle à la compréhension de son rôle dans le développement du système nerveux et pourrait éventuellement se traduire par de nouvelles alternatives de traitements des lésions de la moelle épinière ou maladies neurodégénératives.

DEDICATION

À mes parents adorés,

Jean et Jeannine,

pour n'avoir jamais douté que j'irais au bout de ce projet.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

For his advice, trust, and support I would like to thank my supervisor Dr. Michel L. Tremblay. He taught me to become independent and confident, and these skills are priceless for the continuation of my career.

I would like to acknowledge the following agencies for financial support during my graduate studies: Fonds de Recherche en Santé du Québec (FRSQ), Alexander McFee Memorial Fellowship, and Canderel Foundation.

I thank members of my research advisory committee, Dr. Nicole Beauchemin and Dr. Nathalie Lamarche-Vane for taking the time to discuss about my project with such enthusiasm.

I thank all the past and present members of the Tremblay Lab for their friendship and support. I am grateful to Dr. Noriko Uetani for always answering my questions and teaching me most of what I know regarding animal work and introducing me to the RPTP $\sigma/\delta/LAR$ world. Special thanks to Stéphanie Thibault, Maria Polychronidou, and François Beaubien the fellow students who worked with me on the RPTP σ project. I would like to thank Dr. (almost!) Maxime Hallé for helping me keeping the faith. I am grateful to Ailsa Lee Loy for her good spirit and keeping the working atmosphere so positive. I am also very thankful to Dr. Nadia Dubé for her constant support in and outside the laboratory and for believing in MCND.

I would like to thank my collaborator Dr. Samuel David, and members of his laboratory for allowing me to work on such a stimulating topic. I would especially like to thank Dr. Elizabeth Fry for her kindness, patience and stimulating scientific discussions.

I wish to acknowledge Dr. Alan Cheng, Dr. Christophe Blanchetot, and Dr. Annie Bourdeau for sharing scientific advice as well as their passion for research.

I would like to thank the best lab neighbors one could wish for: Valérie Hudon, Dr. Marie-Claude Gingras, and Dr. Ghada Kurban.

Last but not least, my warmest thoughts go to my beloved Yohan, for standing by me through these years and helping me become a better person.

CONTRIBUTION of AUTHORS

This section acknowledges the contribution of authors to the work included in this thesis. In Chapter 2, Dr. Mounib Elchebly initiated the project and provided figure 2.2B and 2.2C. Dr. Noriko Uetani provided technical assistance with mice work and injection of insulin into the hepatic portal vein. Luce Dombrowski and Dr. André Marette provided the essentials of Figure 2.4. Dr. Robert A. Mooney provided the insulin measurements in Table 1. Dr. Alan Cheng provided insightful discussions that contributed to the work. Chapter 3 was done in collaboration with Dr. Samuel David's laboratory. Dr. Elizabeth Fry and I contributed equally to the preparation of this manuscript, although I wrote most of what is presented in Chapter 3. She provided most of Figures 3.3, 3.4 and 3.5, as well as quantification analysis in Figure 3.6. Dr. Noriko Uetani did the infographics in Figure 3.2. Hiba Kazak and Nia Tsatas provided excellent technical help with performing the spinal cord hemisections, and isolation of primary cells. In Chapter 4, Dr. Takanobu Nakazawa, and Dr. Tadashi Yamamoto provided p250GAP related plasmids and Dr. Masahide Noda provided the pBridge-LexA-vSrc plasmid. Dr. Christophe Blanchetot provided technical help with the yeast-two-hybrid assay as well as insightful discussions that contributed to the work.

PUBLICATIONS

Publications arising from work presented in this thesis:

1. Chagnon M.J., Elchebly M., Uetani N., Dombrowski L., Cheng A., Mooney R.A., Marette A., Tremblay M.L. 2006. Altered glucose homeostasis in mice lacking the receptor protein tyrosine phosphatase sigma. Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol. 84: 755-763; Chapter 2

2. Fry E.*, Chagnon M.J.*, Lopes Vales R., Tremblay M.L.#, David S#. The corticospinal tract regenerate after spinal cord injury in receptor protein tyrosine phosphatase sigma knockout mice. Submitted to Glia. (*Co-first author, #co-corresponding author); Chapter 3

3. Chagnon M.J., Blanchetot C., Noda M., Tremblay M.L. Identification of p250RhoGAP as a new substrate of RPTPo using a modified yeast-two-hybrid approach. In preparation; Chapter 4.

Review articles:

1. Chagnon M.J., Uetani N., Tremblay M.L. 2004. Functional significance of the LAR receptor protein tyrosine phosphatase family in development and diseases. Biochem Cell Biol. Dec;82(6):664-75

 Blanchetot C, Chagnon M.J., Dubé N., Hallé M., Tremblay M.L. 2005 Substratetrapping techniques in the identification of cellular PTP targets. Methods. 2005 Jan;35(1):44-53.

Non-thesis related publications:

1. Uetani N., Chagnon M.J., Kennedy T.E., Iwakura Y., Tremblay M.L. 2006. Mammalian motoneuron axon targeting requires receptor protein tyrosine phosphatases sigma and delta. J Neurosci. May 31;26(22):5872-80.

I developed a method for efficiently genotyping RPTP σ and RPTP δ mice by PCR. I helped maintaining the mice colony and I generated Figure 1 and Table 1 and I provided scientific input into the writing of the manuscript.

 Uetani N., Bertozzi K., Chagnon M.J., Hendriks W., Tremblay M.L., Bouchard M.
 2008. Maturation of ureter-bladder connection and craniofacial development by LAR receptor protein-tyrosine phosphatases. In Press J. Clin. Invest.

I helped maintaining and genotyping the mice colony. I generated Table 1 and I critically revised the manuscript.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	ii
ABRÉGÉ	iv
DEDICATION	vi
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	vii
CONTRIBUTION of AUTHORS	viii
PUBLICATIONS	ix
TABLE OF CONTENTS	xi
LIST OF TABLES	xv
LIST OF FIGURES	xvi
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	xvii
CHAPTER 1: Introduction	
1.1 Introduction to tyrosine phosphorylation	2
1.1.1 Historical perspective	2
1.1.2 The Protein Tyrosine Phosphatase (PTP) family	4
1.1.3 The signature PTP domain	7
1.1.4 The substrate-trapping mutant	9
1.2 The LAR-RPTP subfamily	10
1.3 Structure and post-translational modifications of LAR-RPTPs	
1.4 Regulation of LAR-RPTP activity	14
1.4.1 Regulation of dimerization	
1.4.2 Regulation by reversible oxidation	
1.5 Signaling pathways regulated by LAR-RPTPs	19
1.5.1 Extracellular domain interactions of LAR-RPTPs	19
1.5.2 Intracellular signaling pathways elicited by LAR-RPTPs	22
1.5.2.1 Liprins	
1.5.2.2 Trio	25
1.5.2.3 Abl /Ena	
1.5.2.4 Cadherin/β-catenin complex	
1.5.2.5 Protein tyrosine kinases as LAR-RPTP substrates	
1.6 Expression and physiological functions of LAR-RPTPs	
1.6.1 Drosophila Melanogaster	31
1.6.2 Hirudo Medicinalis	35
1.6.3 Caenorhabditis Elegans	35
1.6.4 Chick	
1.6.5 Mammalian expression and function	

1.6.5.1 Single LAR-RPTP KO phenotype	
1.6.5.2 Double KO phenotype	
1.7 Potential targets in human diseases	41
1.7.1 LAR-RPTPs in cancer	41
1.7.2 RPTPo and inflammatory bowel disease	
1.7.3 LAR-RPTPs in metabolic disease	
1.7.4 LAR-RPTPs in nerve regeneration	
1.8 Thesis overview	
CHAPTER 2: Altered Glucose Homeostasis in Mice Lacking the Recepto	r Protein
Tyrosine Phosphatase Sigma	
2.1 Abstract	
2.2 Introduction	
2.3 Materials and methods	
2.3.1 Animal husbandry and genotyping	
2.3.2 Glucose and insulin measurements	
2.3.3 Insulin and glucose tolerance tests	
2.3.4 In vivo insulin stimulation	53
2.3.5 Immunoprecipitation	
2.3.6 Immunoblotting	
2.3.7 Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase assay	
2.3.8 Glucose Uptake in Isolated Muscle	
2.3.9 Serum IGF-1 quantification	
2.3.10 GH injection	
2.4.11 Statistical methods	
2.4 Results	
2.4.1 Phenotype and blood levels of glucose and insulin	
2.4.2 RPTPo (-/-) mice are hypersensitive to exogenous insulin	
2.4.3 RPTPo (-/-) mice clear glucose normally	
2.4.4 Signaling events following in vivo insulin stimulation	
2.4.5 Normal biological response to ex vivo insulin stimulation of muscles	
2.4.6 Reduced serum IGF-1 concentration in RPTPo (-/-) mice	
2.4.7 Injection of rGH into RPTPo (-/-) mice normalizes their response to exogen	ous insulin72
2.5 Discussion	
2.6 Acknowledgements	
CHAPTER 3: The corticospinal tract regenerates after spinal cord injury	in receptor
protein tyrosine phosphatase sigma (RPTPo) knockout mice	
3.1 Abstract	

3.2 Introduction	83
3.3 Material and methods	85
3.3.1 Animals	85
3.3.2 In situ hybridization	86
3.3.3 Western blotting	86
3.3.4 Spinal cord surgeries	87
3.3.5 Cerebellar neuron attachment assay	
3.3.6 Histochemical staining	
3.4 Results	
3.4.1 RPTPo is endogenously expressed in the adult mouse motor cortex and spinal cord	
3.4.2 RPTPo (-/-) mice show robust long distance regeneration of corticospinal tract axons	
across a dorsal hemisection lesion	94
3.4.3 RPTP σ (-/-) mice show normal myelin density in the spinal cord	102
3.4.4 RPTPo (-/-) cerebellar neurons were not inhibited by CSPG, but were inhibited by my substrate <i>in vitro</i>	yelin
3.4.5 No significant change in the major signaling pathways following dorsal hemisection in	104
RPTPσ (-/-) mice	108
3.5 Discussion	110
3.6 Acknowledgements	119
CHAPTER 4: Identification of new substrates of RPTPo using a modified yeast-	two
hybrid approach	120
4.1 Abstract	
4.2 Introduction	123
4.3 Materials and methods	126
4.3.1 Antibodies and reagents	126
4.3.2 Plasmids and constructs	126
4.3.3 Modified yeast-two-hybrid screen	128
4.3.4 Cell culture and transfection	128
4.3.5 Co-immunoprecipitation and immunoblotting	129
4.3.6 Protein purification	130
4.3.7 In vitro phosphatase assay	130
4.4 Results	131
4.4.1 Yeast-two-hybrid interaction between p250GAP and RPTPo	131
4.4.2 RPTPo and p250GAP interacts in mammalian cells	138
4.4.3 RPTPσ interacts and is a substrate of Fyn	141
4.4.4 The membrane proximal PTP domain of RPTPo is sufficient to trap p250GAP	143
4.4.5 Identification of the phosphorylated tyrosine residue in p250GAP	145

4.4.6 Dephosphorylation of p250GAP by RPTPo	148
4.5 Discussion	151
4.6 Acknowledgements	158
CHAPTER 5: Discussion and future perspectives	
5.1 General discussion	
5.2 RPTPO is essential for neuroendocrine development	
5.2.1 Altered glucose homeostasis in the absence of RPTPo	
5.2.2 RPTPo-dependent mechanistic regulation of neuroendocrine development	
5.3 RPTPO interferes with nerve regeneration	
5.4 The role of RPTPO in cellular signaling	
5.5 The next challenge: Regulating RPTPO activity	
CHAPTER 6: Concluding remarks	
BIBLIOGRAPHY	
APPENDIX	202

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1: Metabolic parameters in WT and RPTPo (-/-) male mice	57
Table 4.1: List of candidates 13	35

•

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1 Classification of the four different PTP families.	.5
Figure 1.2 The classical RPTPs.	.6
Figure 1.4 Structure and proteolytic cleavage of LAR-RPTPs	13
Figure 1.5 LAR-RPTPs mediated cellular signaling.	23
Figure 1.6 Schematic view of the major insulin signaling pathways.	30
Figure 1.7 Targeting defects of photoreceptor axon guidance in RPTP loss-of-function Drosophila.	34
Figure 1.8 Expression patterns of LAR-RPTPs during mouse embryogenesis	38
Figure 2.1 Insulin and Glucose tolerance tests in WT and RPTPo (-/-) mice	60
Figure 2.2 Early signaling events following in vivo insulin stimulation in WT and RPTPo (-/-) male	
mice	52
Figure 2.3 Insulin induces blunted PI3-kinase activation in muscle of RPTPo (-/-) male mice	56
Figure 2.4 Normal response to ex vivo insulin stimulation in EDL and soleus muscles of RPTPo (-/-))
male mice	59
Figure 2.5 Serum IGF-1 levels are reduced in RPTPo (-/-) male and female mice	71
Figure 2.6 Insulin tolerance tests in WT and RPTPo (-/-) mice injected with rGH	73
Figure 3.1 Expression of RPTPo	92
Figure 3.2 Model of spinal cord hemisection	95
Figure 3.3 Dorsal hemisection in RPTPo (-/-) and wild-type mice.	98
Figure 3.4 Quantification of the regeneration after dorsal hemisection	31
Figure 3.5 Myelination staining in RPTPo (-/-) and wild-type mice	03
Figure 3.6 In vitro neuronal cultures on inhibitory substrate)7
Figure 3.7 Signaling pathways activated twenty-four hours after spinal cord injury	09
Figure 4.1 Yeast substrate-trapping system	32
Figure 4.2 Screening for new substrates or binding partner of RPTPo	34
Figure 4.3 p130Cas is hyperphosphorylated in RPTPo KO brain lysates	37
Figure 4.4 Tyrosine phosphorylation of p250GAP by Fyn is required for trapping of p250GAP by	
RPTPo14	40
Figure 4.5 Fyn interacts with RPTPo14	42
Figure 4.6 RPTPoDI-D/A is sufficient to trap phosphorylated p250GAP.	44
Figure 4.7 Mapping of the tyrosine phosphorylation site on p250GAP14	47
Figure 4.8 In vitro and in vivo dephosphorylation of p250GAP by RPTPo.	49
Figure 5.1 Endocrine-mediated changes in glucose homeostasis in RPTPo (-/-) mice	65
Figure 5.2 Thesis summary	71

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

A, Ala	Alanine
Aa	Amino acid
Abl	Abelson
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
C, Cys	Cysteine
CD (CD45)	Cluster of differentiation
CNS	Central nervous system
Crk	CT10 regulator of kinase
C/S	Cysteine mutated in serine
Csk	C-terminal Src kinase
CSPG	Chondroitin sulphate proteoglycan
D, Asp	Aspartic acid
D/A	Aspartic acid mutated in alanine
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium
DH	Dbl homology domain
DSPs	Dual-specific phosphatases
E, Glu	Glutamic acid
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
EGF-R	Epidermal growth factor-receptor
ERK 1/2	Extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2
ES cells	Embryonic stem cells
EV	Empty vector
FAK	Focal adhesion kinase
FasL	Fas ligand
FN	Fibronectin
GAP	GTPase-activating protein
GDP	Guanosine diphosphate
GEF	Guanine nucleotide exchange factor
GH	Growth hormone

G, Gly	Glycine
GPI	Glycosylphosphatidylinositol
Grb-2	Growth factor receptor binding protein-2
GST	Gluthathione S-transferase
GTP	Guanosine triphosphate
HSPG	Heparan sulphate proteoglycan
IB	Immunoblot
IG	Immunoglobulin-like
IGF-1	Insulin-like growth factor-1
IL	Interleukin
iNOS	Inducible nitric oxide synthase
IP	Immunoprecipitation
IR	Insulin receptor
IRS	Insulin receptor substrate
JNK	c-Jun NH2-terminal kinase
KO, (-/-)	Knockout
LAR	Leukocyte common antigen related
MAPK	Mitogen activated protein kinase
mRNA	Messenger RNA
NO	Nitric oxyde
NRPTPs	Non-receptor PTPs
NT	Nucleotide
P, Pro	Proline
p130Cas	Crk-associated substrate
PAGE	Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PDGF	Platelet derived growth factor
PDGF-R	Platelet derived growth factor receptor
PEST	Pro, Glu, Ser, Thr amino acid enriched sequence
PFA	Paraformaldehyde

PH	Pleckstrin homology domain
РКС	Protein kinase C
PNS	Peripheral nervous system
PTB	Phosphotyrosine binding
PTKs	Protein tyrosine kinases
PTPs	Protein tyrosine phosphatases
PTP-1B	Protein tyrosine phosphatases 1B
PTP-PEST	Protein tyrosine phosphatase PEST
PVDF	Polyvinylidene difluoride
RPTP	Receptor-like PTP
RTKs	Receptor tyrosine kinases
ROCK	Rho-associated coiled-coil-containing protein kinase
Q, Gln	Glutamine
Q/A	Glutamine mutated in alanine
S, Ser	Serine
SH2	Src homology 2
SH3	Src homology 3
SHP2	SH2 domain-containing protein tyrosine phosphatase 2
TC-PTP	T-cell PTP
T, Thr	Threonine
TNF	Tumour necrosis factor
TRK	Tropomyosin-related kinase
V, Val	Valine
WPD	Tryptophan, proline, aspartic acid
WT	Wild-type
Х	Any amino acids
Y, Tyr	Tyrosine

xix

CHAPTER 1: Introduction

1

1.1 Introduction to tyrosine phosphorylation

The control of cellular phosphorylation levels is now recognized to be of great importance in many biological systems. Development and survival of multicellular organisms entails highly organized and coordinated responses of cells to diverse external stimuli, including soluble factors, extracellular matrix components, and molecules on the surface of adjacent cells. One of the earliest biochemical events detected in response to such stimuli is protein tyrosine phosphorylation, which is involved in relaying information from the cell surface to the nucleus as well as reorganizing the cytoskeleton. Although now widely accepted, the vital contributions of protein tyrosine phosphorylation to these processes has recently expanded.

1.1.1 Historical perspective

In 1955 Edmond H. Fischer and Edwin G. Krebs first described a reversible protein phosphorylation reaction that served as a biological regulatory mechanism (Fischer and Krebs, 1955). Although this landmark discovery eventually earned its authors a Nobel Prize, it took an additional 25 years before phosphorylation on tyrosine residues was widely appreciated. Tony Hunter surprisingly found that v-src, the transforming gene of the Rous sarcoma virus, defined two years earlier, was not only a kinase (Collett and Erikson, 1978), but a tyrosine kinase (Hunter and Sefton, 1980). Shortly thereafter, a series of growth factor receptors were identified as protein tyrosine kinases. Many of these could act as their own substrates through autophosphorylation on multiple tyrosine residues. The significance of this autophosphorylation event was uncovered in 1986 when Anthony Pawson found that proteins containing a Src homology 2 (SH2) domain are able to bind to tyrosinephosphorylated receptors (Sadowski et al., 1986). The interaction of this noncatalytic SH2 domain with other kinases and with tyrosine-phosphorylated proteins is now known to be crucial for the organization of the downstream intracellular signalling pathways, which control normal and aberrant cellular functions.

Although interest in tyrosine kinases continued to grow, it was only in 1988 that the first protein tyrosine phosphatase, named PTP1B, was purified and characterized by Nicholas Tonks and colleagues (Tonks et al., 1988a, b). This led to the interesting discovery that cluster of differentiation (CD) 45, often found on the surface of haematopoietic cells, was homologous to PTP1B, whose function was unknown prior to the identification of what would become the prototypical PTP. Other PTPs were subsequently identified based on the presence of a highly conserved phosphatase domain, including, in 1993, a new receptor phosphatase highly expressed in the rat nervous system (Walton et al., 1993; Yan et al., 1993). The following year, the murine homolog of what is today known as RPTPo was cloned at McGill University in the laboratory of Michel L. Tremblay (Wagner et al., 1994). Furthermore, this group later published the gene-targeted deletion of RPTPo

3

in mice (Elchebly et al., 1999a) These knockout mice have proven to be a very valuable tool for studying the function of this enzyme.

1.1.2 The Protein Tyrosine Phosphatase (PTP) family

Although it represents less than 1% of total protein phosphorylation occurring in the cell, tyrosine phosphorylation still represents a major regulator of intracellular signalling. Effective signalling is achieved by the opposing actions of protein tyrosine kinases (PTKs) and protein tyrosine phosphatases (PTPs). The sequencing of the human genome has led to the identification of almost 100 PTKs (reviewed in (Manning et al., 2002)) compared to 107 PTPs. These PTPs can be classified into four protein families (Alonso et al., 2004) based on the amino acid sequences of their catalytic domain. The largest family can be further subdivided into two main subfamilies based on their substrate specificity (Figure 1.1).

The first group contains the dual specificity phosphatases (DSP), comprised of approximately 65 genes able to dephosphorylate their substrates on both tyrosine and serine/threonine residues (reviewed in (Pulido and Hooft van Huijsduijnen, 2008)). The second group contains the 38 tyrosine-specific classical PTPs, which are further divided into the non receptor cytoplasmic PTPs and the transmembrane receptor-like PTPs (RPTPs) (Figure 1.2).



Figure 1.1 Classification of the four different PTP families.

Number in brackets indicates the number of members in each group. Adapted from (Alonso et al., 2004).



Figure 1.2 The classical RPTPs.

Schematic view of the domain structure of the RPTP families. The gene symbol is included in parentheses for clarifications. Arrowheads point to RPTP that are discussed in more details in the text. Adapted from (Tonks, 2006).

1.1.3 The signature PTP domain

All PTPs contain a conserved catalytic domain characterized by the signature motif HCxxGxxR. Residues in this motif form the phosphatase binding loop. As illustrated in Figure 1.3, the cysteine residue carries out a catalytic nucleophilic attack on the phosphoryl group of its target substrate, transiently accepting the phosphate during catalysis. The conserved arginine is involved in substrate binding as well as the stabilization of the phospho-enzyme complex. Binding of the phosphorylated substrate to the catalytic pocket triggers a major conformational change in the enzyme which traps its substrate in a closed active site. Upon this conformational change the WPD loop is brought into close vicinity of the cysteinylphosphate intermediate. The aspartic acid residue acts as a general acid to promote the cleavage of the phosphate from the tyrosine by protonating the oxygen residue of the tyrosyl-leaving group. In a second catalytic step, this same aspartic residue will act together with a conserved glutamine residue to serve as a general base in order to activate a water molecule that will then promote the hydrolysis of the cysteinylphosphatase intermediate (reviewed in (Andersen et al., 2001) and (Zhang, 2003)).

7



Active enzyme

Figure 1.3 Chemical analysis of the two-step RPTPo-catalyzed dephosphorylation reaction.

The cysteine residue carries out a catalytic nucleophilic attack on the phosphoryl group of its target substrate leading to its dephosphorylation. Adapted from (Zhang, 2003).

1.1.4 The substrate-trapping mutant

Mutation of the invariant residues within the catalytic domain of PTPs causes a dramatic decrease in catalytic activity. For example, mutating the cysteine residue to a serine or alanine ablates all phosphatase activity. Mutational analyses of these catalytically important residues have led to the elaboration of invaluable methods for identifying new substrates of PTPs and allow us to gain insight into their molecular mechanisms. Although cysteine to serine mutants have been utilized extensively in the identification of a number of substrates, the novel approach of mutating the aspartic acid of the WPD loop to alanine results in a dramatic decrease of enzymatic K_{cat} without affecting the K_m (Flint et al., 1997). In other words, the mutated PTP is able to form a stable cysteinyl-phosphate intermediate with the substrate but cannot carry out the catalytic reaction necessary to release it. As a result, these mutants become effective substrate traps, and are the basis of the "substrate-trapping" method (Blanchetot et al., 2005). Although this technique has been widely used in order to identify specific substrates (Garton et al., 1996), it still lacks robustness in the sense that identification of the "trapped" substrate relies on trial and error using commercially available antibodies against proteins of corresponding molecular weight. More sophisticated approaches that do not rely on educated guesswork and antibody availability have been developed, i.e. large-scale substrate-trapping experiments combined with LC/MS/MS protein sequencing. A modified yeast-two-hybrid approach employing substrate-trapping represents an additional option (discussed in Chapter 4). These approaches with substratetrapping mutants have led to the identification of a multitude of putative PTP substrates. In order to ensure the physiological significance of these interactions a set of criteria had to be established (Tiganis and Bennett, 2007). Briefly, there should be a direct and stable interaction of the PTP substrate-trapping mutant with the substrate whereas the wild-type PTP enzymes should not be able to stably trap the substrate. Secondly, the endogenous phosphorylation levels of the putative substrate should be modulated by altering the activity of the PTP. Finally, the PTP should be able to directly dephosphorylates the substrate *in vitro*. Although these criteria are guidelines and cannot always be met, they should provide standardization to aid the identification of PTP substrates.

1.2 The LAR-RPTP subfamily

Among the classical RPTPs, it has been suggested that members of the LAR subfamily of RPTPs act in several key aspects of neural development, as well as in a dysfunctional manner in various pathologies ranging from diabetes to cancer. This subfamily represents a dynamic set of enzymes that can be modulated by transcriptional and posttranscriptional events. Their general extracellular domain structure, reminiscent of the immunoglobulin superfamily, alludes to their potential interaction with the vast network of membrane-associated proteins that are responsible for cell-cell and cell-extracellular matrix interactions. The composition, similarities, and conservation of LAR-RPTPs among various metazoans and their mechanism of action and regulation will be presented below. Recent findings on their action in neuronal growth and regeneration have led us to believe that they will become key targets in the treatment of various human pathologies.

1.3 Structure and post-translational modifications of LAR-RPTPs

The LAR subfamily of RPTPs, also classified as receptor type IIA PTPs (Andersen et al., 2001), is among the most widely studied groups of RPTPs. This subfamily is composed of three vertebrate homologs: LAR, RPTPo and RPTPo. In humans, they are encoded by the genes PTPRF, PTPRS and PTPRD, which have been mapped to chromosomes 1p32, 19p13.3, and 9p24 respectively (Hasegawa et al., 1993; Harder et al., 1995; Wagner et al., 1996). This subfamily also includes the invertebrate RPTPs: Dlar, DPTP69D in Drosophila, PTP-3 in Caenorhabditis elegans, and HmLAR1, HmLAR2 in Hirudo medicinalis. These proteins were grouped with the LAR-RPTPs based on their highly similar structure: 66% amino acids identity in the full-length proteins and 84% identity in the catalytic domains (Pulido et al., 1995). The large extracellular domain of LAR-RPTPs is highly reminiscent of the cell adhesion molecule (CAM) structure and generally consists of three immunoglobulin-like (Ig-like) domains and four to eight fibronectin type III (FNIII) domains, depending on alternative splicing (Figure 1.4A) (Pulido et al., 1995). They have a hydrophobic transmembrane stretch followed by two cytosolic

PTP domains, one proximal to the membrane (D1) and the other distal (D2). LAR-RPTPs are expressed as a 200 kDa proprotein spanning the plasma membrane once with an extracellular amino-terminus. The proprotein is cleaved to generate a 150 kDa extracellular domain (E-subunit), non-covalently bound to an 85 kDa intracellular tandem phosphatase domain (P-subunit). This first proteolytic cleavage step is mediated by furin-like endoproteases that recognize a critical penta-arginine sequence at the C-terminus of the extracellular domain. A second, non sequencespecific, calcium-dependant proteolytic cleavage step promotes extracellular domain shedding (Serra-Pages et al., 1994) and internalization of the P-subunit (Aicher et al., 1997) (Figure 1.4B). Notably, the function of the proteolytic cleavage and shedding is still unknown. Similar to all PTPs, the 280 amino acid catalytic domain contains an invariable signature motif ([I/V]HCXAGXXR[S/T]G), including an essential cysteine that catalyzes the nucleophilic attack on the phosphoryl group of its target substrate leading to its dephosphorylation (Guan and Dixon, 1991). The D1 domains have robust catalytic activity, while the D2 domains have weak, if any, catalytic activity against a variety of substrates (Streuli et al., 1990). This suggests that D2 serves a regulatory, rather than a catalytic role (discussed below). The three members of the LAR-RPTPs also share additional post-translational modifications such as glycosylation (Yu et al., 1992) and phosphorylation (Tsujikawa et al., 2002). All these modifications, as well as proteolytic cleavage, may contribute to the regulation of LAR-RPTP activity.



Figure 1.4 Structure and proteolytic cleavage of LAR-RPTPs.

A) Schematic diagram of the major LAR-RPTPs isoforms in vertebrates and invertebrates. Each contains three N-terminal immunoglobulin-like (Ig-like) domains, four to nine fibronectin type III (FNIII) domains and two cytoplasmic PTP domains (D1 and D2).

B) LAR-RPTPs are initially expressed as a ~ 200 kDa proprotein, which is then proteolytically cleaved by a furin-like endoprotease to generate a 150 kDa E-subunit and a non-covalently attached 85 kDa P-subunit. Further cleavage results in shedding of the E-subunit and internalization of the P-subunit.

13

1.4 Regulation of LAR-RPTP activity

LAR-RPTP catalytic activity is most likely negatively regulated by dimerization (ligand-induced or not) as are CD45 (Majeti et al., 1998), RPTPa (Blanchetot and den Hertog, 2000a), and RPTP_β (Meng et al., 2000). Crystallographic studies have demonstrated that the catalytically active RPTPa D1 domain can homodimerize. A helix-loop-helix "wedge" structure at the N terminal of D1 inserts itself in the D1 catalytic domain of the other partner, resulting in the co-inactivation of both catalytic domains (Bilwes et al., 1996). Deletion or mutation of the wedge in RPTPa or CD45 leads to constitutively active RPTPs, or at least RPTPs that are not inactivable by dimerization (Jiang et al., 1999; Majeti et al., 2000). These results suggest a fundamental role of the wedge in the regulation of RPTP activity. Since this wedge structure is conserved among all LAR-RPTPs, they may be regulated in a similar manner. Interestingly wedge domain peptides of LAR were shown to bind homophilically and to inhibit LAR function in cells (Xie et al., 2006). This represents a unique PTP inhibition strategy, which overcomes problems of lack of specificity encountered with classical inhibitors directed against the highly conserved PTP catalytic site.
1.4.1 Regulation of dimerization

Although it is possible that the phosphatase activity of LAR-RPTPs is regulated by dimerization, how, in turn, is the dimerization process regulated? The extracellular domains of LAR-RPTPs exhibit a variety of alternative splicing isoforms, and their expression patterns are spatially and temporally regulated (Mizuno et al., 1993; Pulido et al., 1995; Endo et al., 1996; Yang et al., 1999). It is tempting to speculate that each isoform may have its own specific ligand-binding or dimerization affinity. In support of this idea, the laminin-nidogen complex was shown to be a ligand for a specific splice variant of LAR (see below). Furthermore, recent studies demonstrated that extracellular isoforms of CD45 that were differently glycosylated promoted CD45 homodimerization with varying efficiencies. The stronger the dimerization, the more CD45 enzymatic activity was reduced (Xu and Weiss, 2002).

In a very elegant *in vitro* study, RPTPo was demonstrated to exist in the cell as a homodimer and, more importantly, for the first time it was shown that ectodomain dimerization was necessary for heterophilic ligand binding (Lee et al., 2007). Moreover, the two main isoforms described above were shown to alter ligand specificity largely by changing the rotational conformations of the binding site thus imparting new ligand capabilities. The functionality of ligand binding to the homodimerized form of RPTPo still remains to be assessed.

Consistent with a ligand induced regulation of RPTPs, a small ectodomain isoform of LAR was able to bind homophilically and to positively regulate it (Yang et al., 2005). Probably this molecule binds to the monomerized form of LAR, thus preventing inactivation of LAR by dimer formation. On the other hand, unlike RPTPa, the LAR intracellular domain does not crystallize as a dimer (Nam et al., 1999). Therefore, LAR phosphatase activity may be regulated differently. Although it cannot yet be ruled out that LAR-RPTPs exist simply as monomers or monomerize upon ligand binding, it should be noted that the full intracellular domain of LAR (D1 and D2) was used in the crystallization studies, while in the case of RPTPa only D1 was used. In the LAR crystal, D1 sits on the top of D2 with a large interface between the two domains, and the presence of D2 prevents the dimerization of D1 by steric hindrance. Recent evidence suggests that the interaction between D1 and D2 is not rigid and can be regulated by external stimuli (Blanchetot et al., 2002). Thus, D2 putatively regulates the activity of D1. Indeed, using an in vitro system, the D2 of RPTPo binds to and reduces the phosphatase activity of RPTPo D1 by 50% (Wallace et al., 1998). Also, the D2 domains of LAR-RPTPs bind to the D1 domain of RPTPa with different affinities (Blanchetot and den Hertog, 2000b). Thus, the LAR-RPTPs probably regulate and/or are regulated by inter- and intra-molecular interactions mediated by their D2 domains. Again, the crystal structure of the tandem PTP domains of LAR suggested that D2 might have

an enzymatic role in addition to its regulatory role. The tertiary structure of both PTP domains are similar, but two amino acids crucial for catalysis and the proper conformation of a functional PTP catalytic domain are different in D2 (Nam et al., 1999). Predictably, when these two amino acids are mutated to the D1 equivalent, robust PTP activity is observed, suggesting that D2 may act as an active enzyme on specific substrates in a particular cellular context, although this appears unlikely to us. Interestingly, the Dlar full-length inactive mutant (C1638S) was able to rescue the Dlar null phenotype in Drosophila. This rescuing ability was lost in mutants missing D2 (Krueger et al., 2003) but not in mutants with an inactive D2 (C1929S). Moreover, the simple replacement of CD45 D2 by LAR D2 affected CD45 activity. All these results strongly suggest that the D2 domains have other functions rather than simply regulating enzymatic activity in vivo. Instead of acting on the substrates themselves, it is possible that the D2 recruits and presents substrate(s) to the D1 domains or other signaling partners and/or binds to proteins important for relocalization of the enzyme.

The E-subunits of the LAR-RPTPs are important for the function and regulation of LAR-RPTPs. Again, the catalytically inactive mutant of Dlar was sufficient to rescue the Dlar null phenotype (Krueger et al., 2003). In addition, the Ig-like domains were essential for survival while the FNIII domains were required for oogenesis. Different sections of the Dlar E-subunit are then critical at specific stages of *Drosophila* development. Further understanding of the regulatory role of the LAR-RPTPs E-subunit by splicing, glycosylation, dimerization and shedding will be instrumental in elucidation of their signaling and physiological roles.

1.4.2 Regulation by reversible oxidation

Reversible oxidation has emerged as a new means of regulation of PTPs (Tonks, 2005). The production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in response to a wide variety of stimuli such as growth factors, cytokines, and cellular stress are responsible for the oxidation of the highly susceptible invariant cysteine residue found in the PTP motif, thus impairing its nucleophilic function in catalyzing the tyrosine dephosphorylation. In the context of RPTPs, oxidation also provides another level of regulation since the PTP D2 domain of RPTP α was shown to be more reactive to oxidation than D1 (Persson et al., 2004) and may explain how the D2 domain regulates D1 even though it is catalytic inactive. The response to oxidation of RPTPa has been extensively studied (Blanchetot et al., 2002; van der Wijk et al., 2004; Groen et al., 2005) but similarities were also found with LAR. Oxidation of LAR-D2 contributes to its dimerization by forming intermolecular disulphide bonds, inducing conformational changes to the cytoplasmic domain and changing the rotational coupling dependant on D2 (Groen et al., 2008). This may force the LAR dimer into an inactive conformation or affect the binding of extracellular ligands. Since the amino acid sequence similarity of the D2 domain of all three members of the LAR-RPTPs is higher than the D1 domain (Andersen et al., 2004), it suggests a similar function across the subfamily.

1.5 Signaling pathways regulated by LAR-RPTPs

1.5.1 Extracellular domain interactions of LAR-RPTPs

Like some other RPTPs, LAR-RPTPs are involved in adhesion signaling (reviewed in (Beltran and Bixby, 2003)). The CAM-like extracellular domains of LAR-RPTPs suggest that they act as adhesion molecules and, unlike CAMs, they are in a unique position to transduce extracellular signals into intracellular signaling pathways by means of their PTP domains. RPTPô was shown to function as a homophilic cellular adhesion molecule, and this interaction promoted both neuronal adhesion and neurite growth (Wang and Bixby, 1999). The same group further described RPTPS as an attractive guidance molecule (Sun et al., 2000b). Additionally, a small ectodomain isoform of 11 kDa of LAR was shown to bind homophilically to LAR promoting neurite outgrowth (Yang et al., 2003) by activating LAR-induced positive signalling of Src, Trk, and FAK kinases and their downstream signalling partners (Yang et al., 2005). Much evidence supports a role for LAR-RPTPs acting as their own homophilic ligands in order to promote, not only axonal guidance, but neuronal growth as well. The LAR-RPTP extracellular domains are also capable of heterophilic interactions. A specific isoform of LAR missing a region in FN5 due to alternative splicing was shown to bind to the lamininnidogen complex. How this interaction regulates LAR function is not known. However, cells plated on laminin-nidogen extended cellular processes that contain high levels of LAR. Importantly, this cytoskeleton rearrangement is blocked by antibody-induced cross-linking of LAR. This suggests a role for LAR dimerization in laminin-induced cell morphological changes (O'Grady et al., 1998). Furthermore, Stoker's group presented the first evidence that cPTPo (formerly known as Crypa) had isoform-specific ligands in the retinotectal pathway (Haj et al., 1999). By promoting ligand/receptor interactions, they observed intraretinal axon growth (Ledig et al., 1999a) through the remodeling of the growth cone lamelipodia (Mueller et al., 2000). They also identified Heparan Sulfate Proteoglycans (HSPG [mainly agrin and collagen XIII]) as the first class of RPTPo heterotypic ligands (Aricescu et al., 2002). Using molecular modeling and biochemical analyses, they identified a Heparin/HSPG binding site in the first Ig-like domain of cPTPo. Since HSPG are known regulators of axonal extension (Chang et al., 1997; Kim et al., 2003; Baerwald-De La Torre et al., 2004) and because of their overlapping expression pattern with cPTPo in the developing retina, HSPG are physiologically relevant ligands. The HSPGs syndecan and dallylike were shown to interact functionally with Dlar during motor axon guidance and synaptogenesis (Fox and Zinn, 2005; Johnson et al., 2006). They appear to act on a common signalling pathway and compete with each other for binding to Dlar binding in order to modulate its PTP activity. A similar role in mammals remains to be assessed. Recently, a new class of ligand of the cPTPo short isoform, not related to HSPG, was found in myotubes (Sajnani-Perez et al., 2003) and identified as nucleolin (Alete et al., 2006). Interestingly, the cPTPo short isoform is highly expressed in developing motor neurons suggesting a function in targeting motor neurons to the appropriate muscle.

It is noteworthy that α -latrotoxin, a black widow spider toxin, binds to the extracellular domain of RPTP σ and stimulates neuronal exocytosis (Krasnoperov et al., 2002). The intracellular domain of RPTP σ is not necessary for this exocytotic stimulation, suggesting that RPTP σ also acts as a ligand for other extracellular foreign molecules.

These findings suggest that LAR-RPTPs can no longer be considered orphan receptors but receptors for homophilic and heterophilic ligands. The ligands identified thus far confirm the role of the LAR-RPTPs as receptors for cell-cell as well as cell-extracellular matrix associated cues, as was expected by their CAM-like structures. Additional work is needed to determine the regulatory and functional roles of these ligand/receptor interactions, and their link to the cytoskeleton.

21

1.5.2 Intracellular signaling pathways elicited by LAR-RPTPs

The structure of LAR-RPTPs suggests that their E-subunits sense the cell extracellular environment and transduce signals intracellularly through their PTP activity. So far, the intracellular signaling mechanisms have not been extensively defined but evidence points toward transmission of adhesive signalling crucial for a variety of cellular event such as formation and maturation of neuronal synapses. Moreover extensive work with *Drosophila* have lead to a major role towards the remodeling of the actin cytoskeleton (summarized in Figure 1.5).



Figure 1.5 LAR-RPTPs mediated cellular signaling.

Possible interactions between LAR-RPTPs and effectors of actin cytoskeleton remodeling. Double-headed arrows indicate putative interactions and arrows indicate a positive effect.

1.5.2.1 Liprins

The D2 domains of all three members of the LAR-family interact with liprin- α (LAR-interacting proteins), a family of proteins that contains SAM and coiled-coil domains responsible for protein-protein interactions (Pulido et al., 1995). The LARliprin complexes localize to focal adhesions, further suggesting a role for LAR-RPTPs in adhesion signaling (Serra-Pages et al., 1995).

Upon ligand binding, the integrin family of receptors aggregates at focal complexes and mediates intracellular signaling, causing actin remodeling of the cytoskeleton into stress fibers (reviewed in (DeMali et al., 2003)). During this process, focal adhesion kinase (FAK) is activated, and PTPs are most probably involved in the dynamic regulation of this process. Liprins, however, are not tyrosine phosphorylated and are unlikely to be substrates of LAR-RPTPs. Perhaps the liprins recruit the LAR-RPTPs within the vicinity of their substrates. The functional role of this interaction is seemingly more obvious in the developing nervous system. Recent evidence has suggested a role for liprins in maintaining the integrity of the presynaptic zone assembly in C.elegans (Zhen and Jin, 1999) and Drosophila (Kaufmann et al., 2002). Liprin- α 1 was also identified as a major binding partner of the glutamate receptor interacting protein (GRIP) (Wyszynski et al., 2002) and GIT1 (Ko et al., 2003) in neurons. Together these proteins have the capacity to form a large scaffolding protein complex associated with AMPA receptors at the postsynaptic zone. Thus, recruitment of LAR-RPTPs into a complex with GRIP and GIT1 by liprins implies a role for the LAR-RPTPs in AMPA receptor trafficking, synaptic zone assembly, and/or maintenance of synaptic transmission. In fact, LAR-RPTPs are concentrated at excitory synapses in hippocampal neurons and are postulated to control synapse morphogenesis by targeting the cadherin/ β -catenin complex to the GRIP-liprin-AMPA receptor protein complex (Dunah et al., 2005).

1.5.2.2 Trio

The signal transduction pathways downstream of the LAR-RPTPs, which lead to changes in axonal extension and guidance are mainly unknown, but ultimately involve cytoskeleton remodeling and therefore require RhoGTPases. One of these proteins, Trio, was found as a binding partner of LAR using a yeasttwo-hybrid approach (Debant et al., 1996). This large multidomain protein was shown to have two guanine-nucleotide exchange factor domains specific for Rac1 and RhoA, respectively, as well as a serine/threonine kinase domain. Most of the functional data on Trio was obtained from work on *Drosophila*, where Trio was shown to regulate axonal guidance (Bateman et al., 2000). Interestingly, Trio also interacts with, and is tyrosine phosphorylated by, FAK (Medley et al., 2003). This suggests that LAR, once recruited to the focal adhesions by liprins, could be in a prime position to first regulate tyrosine phosphorylation by counteracting FAK kinase activity, and then activate the RhoGTPases by modulation of Trio. Another link between the cytoskeleton and LAR-RPTPs is the actin binding protein MIM-B, which was recently identified as a binding partner of RPTPδ (Woodings et al., 2003).

1.5.2.3 Abl /Ena

Abl and its substrate Ena, two proteins implicated in axon growth and guidance, also interact with Dlar and act as substrates of one another in vitro (Wills et al., 1999). Abl and Ena possess antagonistic functions to Dlar in Drosophila and together are thought to act as a phosphotyrosine-dependent switch that controls axonal guidance. In addition, RNAi of HmLAR1 led to hyperphosphorylation of Ena further suggesting that Ena is an in vivo substrate of LAR in leech neurons (Biswas et al., 2002). Recently, it was shown that clr-1 in C.elegans inhibited netrinmediated attraction, possibly by dephosphorylating the netrin receptor UNC-40/DCC or its effector Unc-34/Ena (Chang et al., 2004). Clr-1 does not have a clear homolog in mammals, but its extracellular domain is highly reminiscent of LAR-RPTPs. A growing body of evidence (reviewed in (Lanier and Gertler, 2000)) implicates Abl and its signaling partners in cell adhesion signaling and actin polymerization, resulting in regulation of growth cone motility during axonogenesis. Therefore, LAR-RPTPs are ideal intermediates to transduce adhesive cues regulating axon growth and guidance via actin remodeling.

1.5.2.4 Cadherin/ β -catenin complex

26

LAR-RPTPs not only transduce signals from cell-extracellular matrix interactions, but from cell-cell interactions as well. LAR associates with and dephosphorylates β catenin in PC12 cells in vitro (Kypta et al., 1996) and also localizes with γ -catenins in adherens junctions (Muller et al., 1999). LAR expression in the MCF7 breast cancer cell line and the rat Ln3 mammary adenocarcinoma cell line increases with cell density (Symons et al., 2002). This regulation of expression is lost if E-cadherin complexes are disrupted. LAR also prevents epithelial cell migration dependent on β -catenin phosphorylation (Muller et al., 1999). These data support a role for LAR in cell density-dependent contact inhibition and retention of epithelial integrity by regulation of the tyrosine phosphorylation of cadherin/catenin complexes. $RPTP\sigma$ mRNA expression is also upregulated in dense cell cultures (Celler et al., 1995) and E-cadherin and β -catenin were found as *in vivo* substrates in the colon (Muise et al., 2007). In this context, RPTP σ would help maintain the integrity of adherens junctions demonstrating, again, that LAR-RPTPs regulate cell-cell interactions and density-dependent growth arrest.

As mentioned above, LAR-RPTPs were shown to dephosphorylate β -catenin *in vitro* and LAR-RPTP-mediated dephosphorylation of β -catenin promoted its accumulation at the synapse as well as the cell-adhesion functions of the cadherin/ β catenin complex at the synapse (Dunah et al., 2005). RPTPo was the first RPTP shown to directly dephosphorylate not only β -catenin but N-cadherin as well, a

27

significant advancement towards the understanding of the role of RPTPo (Siu et al., 2007). Dephosphorylation of N-cadherin in DRG neurons results in increased adhesiveness due to remodelling of the actin cytoskeleton and leads to a reduced rate of axon outgrowth, as observed in the context of active RPTPo.

1.5.2.5 Protein tyrosine kinases as LAR-RPTP substrates

Many PTPs have been shown to interact with and modulate different PTK signaling pathways and LAR-RPTPs are no exception. LAR and the insulin receptor (IR) co-immunoprecipitate in CHO cells when overexpressed (Tsujikawa et al., 2001). Both D1 and D2 are important for this interaction, and the catalytically inactive LAR C/S mutant binds more tightly to the IR than the wild-type form. Autophosphorylation levels of the IR are increased in cells transfected with the C/S mutant, suggesting that the IR could be a LAR substrate. Furthermore, data from mice overexpressing LAR in insulin-target tissues also suggest a role for LAR in insulin signaling. Insulin-induced IR and IRS-1 phosphorylation in LAR overexpressing mice is unaffected, but IRS-2 phosphorylation is decreased (Zabolotny et al., 2001). PI3-kinase activity associated with IRS-1 and IRS-2 is also reduced, indicating that LAR may not act directly on the IR, as suggested by in vitro studies, but at the level of IR substrates (Figure 1.6). Moreover, the protein tyrosine kinases EGFR (Suarez Pestana et al., 1999), HGFR (Kulas et al., 1996), RET (Qiao et al., 2001), LCK and FYN (Tsujikawa et al., 2002) have been reported to be substrates of LAR-RPTPs. However, the physiological significance of these interactions has not yet been assessed.

The Trk family of PTKs are receptors for neurotrophin growth factors known to promote axon outgrowth (reviewed in (Gillespie, 2003)). LAR has been shown to regulate signalling of TrkA and TrkB and was also found in a complex with them (Xie et al., 2006; Yang et al., 2006). Downregulation of LAR led to augmentation of TrkA signalling and neurite outgrowth (Tisi et al., 2000), while LAR activity could activate TrkB signalling through activation of Src (Yang et al., 2006). So, depending on the context, LAR could positively or negatively regulate Trk signalling. RPTPo, on the other hand, was found in a stable complex with TrkA and TrkC while being able to dephosphorylate all three members of the Trk family. This interaction was functionally significant as overexpression of RPTPo in chick DRG neurons limited NGF-induced neurite outgrowth (Faux et al., 2007).



Figure 1.6 Schematic view of the major insulin signaling pathways.

The activated insulin receptor phosphorylates IRS proteins, SHC, CAP and other substrates onto tyrosine residues. These phosphorylated substrates bind to various downstream signaling effectors, transmitting the metabolic and mitogenic response of insulin. PTPs such as LAR and PTP1B have been shown to regulate these pathways. Adapted from (Cheng et al., 2002).

1.6 Expression and physiological functions of LAR-RPTPs

From invertebrate to vertebrate, the majority of the LAR subfamily of RPTPs are expressed in the developing nervous system (Tian et al., 1991; Desai et al., 1994; Stoker et al., 1995; Sommer et al., 1997; Schaapveld et al., 1998), and immunohistochemical studies have revealed that they are localized to axons and growth cones in *Drosophila* (Tian et al., 1991; Clandinin et al., 2001; Maurel-Zaffran et al., 2001), leech (Gershon et al., 1998b), chick (Stoker et al., 1995) and mammals (Thompson et al., 2003). These data suggest that the physiological role of LAR-RPTPs in the nervous system is evolutionally conserved. This is discussed in more detail for each organism.

1.6.1 Drosophila Melanogaster

In *Drosophila*, four out of five RPTPs (DLAR, DPTP69D, DPTP10D and DPTP99A) are expressed specifically in the developing nervous system (Tian et al., 1991; Yang et al., 1991; Desai et al., 1994). Specific antibodies against DLAR, DPTP69D and DPTP99A demonstrate expression of these RPTPs in the central nervous system (CNS) nerve roots, developing motor nerves and the visual system (Tian et al., 1991; Desai et al., 1994; Clandinin et al., 2001; Maurel-Zaffran et al., 2001). In mutant embryos lacking either DLAR or DPTP69D, segmental nerve b (SNb) motor axons stop growing before reaching their muscle targets or follow incorrect pathways that bypass the muscles, suggesting that there are functional

redundancies between DLAR and DPTP69D (Desai et al., 1996; Krueger et al., 1996). Interestingly, further genetic studies on DLAR, DPTP69D, and DPTP99A, using either double or triple combination mutants, have revealed that these RPTPs function as competitors or cooperators depending on the cellular context at the different SNb nerve branch points (Desai et al., 1997; Desai and Purdy, 2003).

During the development of the visual system in Drosophila, DLAR and DPTP69D are required for layer-specific targeting of photoreceptor axons (Garrity et al., 1999; Newsome et al., 2000; Clandinin et al., 2001; Maurel-Zaffran et al., 2001) (summarized in Figure 1.7). The fruitfly has a compound eye comprised of roughly 750 omatidia, each of which contains eight photoreceptor neurons (R cells), R1 to R8. Within each cluster, the R8 cell extends its axon towards the optic lobe as a pioneer and terminates in the medulla. The R1-R6 and the R7 axons follow this pathway, fasciculating tightly with the R8 axon. The R1-R6 axons then terminate in the lamina, and the R7 axon terminates in the medulla beyond the region within the optic lobe targeted by R8 (reviewed in (Tayler and Garrity, 2003)). Two studies using loss-of-function mutants revealed that DPTP69D is involved in lamina target specificity of the R1-R6 axons, and also in the correct targeting of the R7 axon. The R1-R6 axons frequently fail to terminate in the lamina, and instead follow the R8 axon into the medulla in DPTP69D mutant embryos (Garrity et al., 1999). Furthermore, in DPTP69D mutants, the R7 axons fail to reach their targets, stopping at the same level as the R8 axons, indicating DPTP69D plays a permissive role rather than an instructive role in axon targeting (Newsome et al., 2000) (reviewed in (Stoker, 2001)). In Dlar loss-of-function mutants, R1-R6 axons stop at the lamina correctly but often fail to choose correct target neurons and R7 axons incorrectly retract to the R8 target layer (Clandinin et al., 2001; Maurel-Zaffran et al., 2001). This R7 targeting defect can be fully rescued by transgenic expression of Dlar in the R7 neurons, but is only partially rescued if Dlar is expressed in R8, suggesting that Dlar plays a role as either a receptor in R7 neurons or as a ligand in R8 neurons.

It has also been shown that DPTP69D and DPTP10D are required for repulsion of growth cones from the midline of the embryonic CNS by positively regulating Slit/Robo repulsive signaling in the embryonic CNS (Sun et al., 2000a). As well, Dlar, together with liprins, are involved in normal synaptic morphogenesis at the neuromuscular junction (NMJ) (Kaufmann et al., 2002).

33



Figure 1.7 Targeting defects of photoreceptor axon guidance in RPTP loss-of-function *Drosophila*.

(A) Schematic diagrams of photoreceptor axon guidance in wild type *Drosophila*. Firstly, the R8 cell extends pioneer axon and terminates in the medulla (I). Secondly, the R1-R6 and the R7 axons follow this pathway (II). Finally, the R1-R6 axons terminate in the lamina and the R7 axon terminates in the medulla beyond the R8 targeted place (III).

(B) Typical photoreceptor guidance defects in DLAR loss-of-function (DLAR LOF) and DPTP69D loss-of-function (DPTP69D LOF) mutants are represented. In DLAR LOF mutants, although the R1-R6 axons stop in the lamina correctly, they terminate on incorrect target cells. In the DPTP69D LOF mutant, the R1-R6 and R7 axons fail to terminate in the correct place, following R8 axons and terminating nearby.

1.6.2 Hirudo Medicinalis

Following the work on Dlar, other studies have revealed that leech HmLAR2 is required for guidance and extension of neuron-like comb cells. This requires the ectodomain of HmLAR2, which transduces extracellular guidance cues (Gershon et al., 1998a). Further evidence suggests that HMLAR2 acts on actin cytoskeleton through an ENA/Vasp substrate (Biswas et al., 2002). Taken together, these data suggest that HmLAR2 regulates the morphology of the growth cone by controlling actin polymerization and focal adhesion complexes(Baker et al., 2008).

1.6.3 Caenorhabditis Elegans

In *Celegans*, Clr-1, a RPTP structurally similar to LAR-RPTPs, is a key regulator of anterior ventral microtubule (AVM) axon guidance. Loss-of-function mutations in Clr-1 resulted in enhanced netrin-dependent axon attraction and suppressed ventral guidance defects in slt-1/Slit mutants (Chang et al., 2004). On the other hand, it was shown that PTP-3 is involved in epidermal and early neural morphogenesis, although axon guidance in selected neurons appears normal. Further genetic analysis revealed that the loss-of-function of PTP-3 synergistically enhances the phenotypes of the PTK Eph receptor VAB-1 and ephrin EFN-4 mutants (Chin-Sang et al., 2002; Harrington et al., 2002).

1.6.4 Chick

High levels of the cPTPo protein are localized in chick retinal axons extending from the eye to the tectum, primitive inner plexiform, tectobulbar axons and non-retinal fibres of the tectal stratum opticum (Stoker et al., 1995; Ledig et al., 1999b). Consistent with this expression pattern, it has been shown that cPTPo is required for intraretinal axon growth (Ledig et al., 1999a) and topographic mapping of retinal axons in the chick visual system (Rashid-Doubell et al., 2002). Moreover, double-stranded RNA interference mediated knockdown of RPTPo and RPTPô as well as PTPRO (a type III RPTP), have provided a first set of *in vivo* evidence for a RPTP role in axon growth and motor axon guidance (Stepanek et al., 2005).

1.6.5 Mammalian expression and function

In mammals, LAR is predominantly expressed in basal lamina-associated epithelial tissues and is less specific to neuronal tissues (Schaapveld et al., 1998). In contrast, RPTPo and RPTPo are more highly expressed in the developing nervous system and exhibit a parallel expression pattern (Yan et al., 1993; Mizuno et al., 1994; Sommer et al., 1997; Schaapveld et al., 1998) (summarized in Figure 1.8). In the developing murine nervous system, LAR expression is highly restricted to the subventricular zone. The level of expression is low in the cortical layer within the CNS, but high in peripheral nervous system (PNS) nuclei such as dorsal root ganglia (DRG) (Schaapveld et al., 1998). RPTPo mRNA is predominantly expressed in the

CNS and PNS during embryogenesis with maximal expression at embryonic day 16 (E16), a period when important axonal outgrowth occurs. Specific expression of RPTPo was also found in the olfactory epithelium and in Rathke's pouch (the embryonic tissue leading to pituitary gland development). Other sites of expression include the germinal cell layer lining the lateral ventricles of the developing brain, the neural fold, the DRG, cranial nerve ganglia and retina (Yan et al., 1993; Schaapveld et al., 1998). RPTPo mRNA expression is also largely restricted to the developing mouse CNS and more precisely to the cortex, diencephalon, pituitary grand, olfactory bulb, olivary nucleus, retina and inner ear. In the embryonic spinal cord, RPTP& expression is restricted to the roof plate and to differentiated neurons in the motor columns, suggesting a likely function in motor axon guidance in vertebrates (Schaapveld et al., 1997; Sommer et al., 1997). In situ hybridization analysis revealed that RPTPS expression in the adult brain is localized to the pyramidal cell layer of the hippocampal CA2-CA3 region, thalamic reticular nucleus and piriform cortex (Mizuno et al., 1993; Sommer et al., 1997; Schaapveld et al., 1998).



Figure 1.8 Expression patterns of LAR-RPTPs during mouse embryogenesis.

A summary of the LAR, RPTPo and RPTPo expression patterns from mice embryonic age E14 to E16 is shown. Ob, olfactory bulb; Nc, nasal cavity; Th, thymus; He, heart; Lu, lung; Li, liver; Gu, gut; Pi, pituitary gland; Sp, spinal cord; DRG, dorsal root ganglia; Di, diaphragm; Ki, kidney; Sv, subventricular layer; Ol, olivary nucleus; Ge, geniculate ganglion; Mo, motor column.

1.6.5.1 Single LAR-RPTP KO phenotype

Mice lacking LAR grow normally, and yet show defects in mammary gland development during the gestation period (Schaapveld et al., 1997) and minor defects in cholinergic innervations of the hippocampal dentate gyrus (Yeo et al., 1997; Van Lieshout et al., 2001) leading to spatial learning impairment and hyperactivity (Kolkman et al., 2004). Mice lacking either RPTPo or RPTPo display more striking nervous system phenotypes as compared to LAR deficient mice. RPTPo deficient mice exhibit severe growth retardation and semi-lethality after birth with abnormal pituitary development and neurological defects including: motor dysfunction, defective proprioception, hippocampal dysgenesis, and a thinner corpus callosum and cerebral cortex (Elchebly et al., 1999a; Wallace et al., 1999; Meathrel et al., 2002). RPTPô deficient mice also exhibit early growth retardation and neonatal mortality likely due to insufficient food-intake caused by motor dysfunction. These mutant mice exhibit spatial learning impairment, due to the significantly enhanced magnitude of hippocampal long-term potentiation (LTP) (Uetani et al., 2000).

Interestingly, recent data has revealed that LAR and RPTPo are involved in peripheral nerve regeneration. The absence of LAR delays axonal regeneration *in vivo* following injury to the sciatic nerve, a mixed sensory and motor nerve (Xie et al., 2001; Van der Zee et al., 2003). The upregulation of LAR protein expression in DRG neurons after sciatic nerve injury suggested a role for LAR in promoting rather than inhibiting neurite outgrowth in sensory neurons (Xie et al., 2001). On the other hand, it was reported that axonal regeneration in the sciatic and facial nerve is enhanced following nerve crush, in the absence of RPTP σ (McLean et al., 2002; Thompson et al., 2003). Most interestingly, deletion of RPTP σ also promoted axonal regrowth of retinal ganglion cells following optical nerve lesion into the nonpermissive environment of the central nervous system (Sapieha et al., 2005). In contrast to the effect of LAR on both sensory and motor neurons, RPTP σ seems to impair axon outgrowth, suggesting that LAR and RPTP σ may have the opposing function in different types of neurons and in different cellular contexts as seen in *Drosophila*. As mentioned above, the *in vitro* experiments indicate that a soluble form of the RPTP δ extracellular domain can stimulate both the growth and steering of CNS neurites (Wang and Bixby, 1999; Sun et al., 2000b); however, it has not been reported whether RPTP δ promotes or impairs nerve regeneration in mice.

1.6.5.2 Double KO phenotype

Axon outgrowth and guidance defects in the single knockout mice are not nearly as severe as those observed when Dlar is mutated in *Drosophila*, suggesting that in mammals loss of one LAR-RPTP subfamily member may be functionally complemented by the other two. Downregulation of RPTPo, RPTPo and PTPRO in the chick first suggested complementation of RPTPs in vertebrates, but a clear role for these enzymes in mammalian development was only obtained after generation of

40

double mutant mice. When RPTPo/RPTPô double KO mice were generated their phenotype was seen to be much more severe than single knockout mice. RPTPo/RPTPô double-mutant E18.5 embryos are paralyzed, unable to draw a breath and die right after caesarean section. Detailed analysis of the phrenic nerve revealed that although the motoraxons emerge from the spinal cord they are unable to properly target to the diaphragm (Uetani et al., 2006) showing an essential role for these enzymes during development of the mammalian nervous system.

1.7 Potential targets in human diseases

1.7.1 LAR-RPTPs in cancer

Compelling evidence has implicated associated members of the PTP family with various congenital diseases (reviewed in (Tautz et al., 2006)) and led to the recognition that PTPs control many physiological processes. For example, some LAR-RPTP chromosomal loci are amplified (Harder et al., 1995; Andersen et al., 2004) or mutated (Wang et al., 2004) in different human cancers, ie. small cell lung or colon cancer. LAR expression is significantly increased in thyroid carcinomas (Konishi et al., 2003) and breast cancer (Yang et al., 1999). Although more research is needed, expression of LAR may correlate with the prognosis of breast cancer metastases (Levea et al., 2000). As discussed above, LAR associates with the cadherin-catenin complex, which maintains epithelial integrity and inhibits tumor formation in nude mice (Muller et al., 1999). Accordingly, RPTPo was shown to

41

reduce colony formation in a soft agar assay (Suarez Pestana et al., 1999). Clearly this subfamily of PTPs plays a role in neoplastic transformation. More work is necessary in order to determine whether the increased expression of LAR-RPTPs in different tumors is beneficial, by counteracting an oncogenic kinase activity, or detrimental, due to unregulated activity that could contribute to the tumorigenic transformation. The later situation raises the possibility that specific inhibitors of RPTPs could be designed for cancer treatment.

1.7.2 RPTPo and inflammatory bowel disease

Ulcerative colitis is a major type of inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) affecting mainly the colon and the rectum. RPTP σ is expressed in the colon and RPTP σ KO mice display features associated with IBD such as cachexia, and mild colitis (Wallace et al., 1999; Batt et al., 2002). Indeed RPTP σ KO mice were shown to develop severe colitis when treated with known inducers of experimental model colitis. Furthermore three SNPs found in the human PTPRS gene are associated with ulcerative colitis (Muise et al., 2007). These SNPs result in novel alternative splicing of the long isoform of RPTP σ , resulting in the loss of the third Ig-like domain, which could affect ligand binding and RPTP σ regulation. These observations indicate that polymorphisms in the human PTPRS gene are associated with ulcerative colitis and will provide better understanding of this disease.

1.7.3 LAR-RPTPs in metabolic disease

The function of LAR in insulin signaling has been recently reviewed extensively (Cheng et al., 2002; Mooney and LeVea, 2003). LAR possibly downregulates signaling downstream of the IR (Figure 1.6). The most recent in vivo data showing that LAR regulates glucose homeostasis and signaling comes from the study of transgenic mice overexpressing LAR in skeletal muscle (MCK-hLAR mice) (Zabolotny et al., 2001). These mice maintain normal glucose levels, but they exhibit a 2.5-fold increase in fasting insulin levels and had reduced glucose uptake in skeletal muscle compared to controls. Both observations are signs of insulin resistance. Overexpression of PTP1B in skeletal muscle also caused a similar impairment in insulin action (Zabolotny et al., 2004). However, overexpression of both PTPs did not yield an additive effect, suggesting that there are some redundancies in the effects of overexpression of these proteins on insulin resistance in vivo. Although PTP1B has become the main PTP target for diabetes and obesity treatment, as seen by the enormous number of reports in the literature, its effects seem to be tissue-specific. In adipose tissue in particular, IR phosphorylation is unchanged in PTP1B-deficient mice (Elchebly et al., 1999b). Interestingly LAR and RPTPo are highly expressed in adipose tissue (Norris et al., 1997) and could be prime drug targets for tissue-specific regulation of insulin resistance and reduction of adiposity.

1.7.4 LAR-RPTPs in nerve regeneration

The recent findings that RPTPo inhibits the rate of axonal extension and nerve regeneration in the peripheral (McLean et al., 2002; Thompson et al., 2003) and central (Sapieha et al., 2005) nervous system of mice has generated interest in this subfamily of enzymes as possible new targets for the treatment of neurodegenerative diseases and nervous system repair. This enzyme, which is known to be involved in nervous system development, could probably have a more prevalent role in this therapeutic area than in cancer or diabetes considering its expression pattern. Future work will ensure that the downregulation of this RPTP will not amplify tumorigenic or unbalance metabolic signaling. Another challenge for drug development will be to generate specific compounds that selectively inhibit RPTPo but not the highly similar subfamily members LAR and RPTPo, which have opposite effects on regeneration (Xie et al., 2001; Van der Zee et al., 2003) and neurite outgrowth (Johnson et al., 2001). LAR-RPTPs represent great potential for the discovery of new nervous system treatments, an area of therapeutics that has provided very few answers thus far.

1.8 Thesis overview

The control of cellular tyrosine phosphorylation levels is of great importance in many biological systems. Among the kinases and phosphatases that modulate these levels, the LAR-RPTPs are definite players in several key aspects of neural development, and in a dysfunctional manner in various pathologies from diabetes to cancer. This thesis focuses on the research that I have been conducting in the laboratory of Dr. Michel L. Tremblay in order to describe the physiological functions of one member of this subfamily, namely RPTPo.

Several PTPs expressed in insulin sensitive tissues have been suggested to be key regulators of the insulin receptor (IR) signaling pathway. Among these, RPTP σ became a prime candidate for further study since it is expressed in relatively high levels in insulin-target tissues. Chapter 2 describes the role of RPTP σ in the maintenance of glucose homeostasis using the RPTP σ knockout mouse model.

In the absence of RPTPo, axonal regeneration in the sciatic, facial and optical nerve is enhanced following nerve crush. However, myelin-associated growth inhibitory proteins and components of the glial scar such as CSPGs (chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans) have long been known to inhibit axonal regeneration in the CNS, making spinal cord injury irreversible. The aim of Chapter 3 is to investigate whether RPTPo plays a role in regulation of axonal outgrowth in the inhibitory environment of the CNS following spinal cord injury.

Identification of a new set of RPTPo substrate(s) will be the key to understanding its physiological role. In Chapter 4, we used a modified yeast-two-

45

hybrid approach, to screen a murine embryonic library for new substrates of RPTPo. The new substrate and binding partners identified will be described.

The characterization of RPTPo and its signaling partners is essential for understanding its role *in vivo* and may one day translate into treatment of neural diseases and injuries. This is discussed further in the thesis summary and future perspectives sections.

CHAPTER 2: Altered Glucose Homeostasis in Mice Lacking

the Receptor Protein Tyrosine Phosphatase Sigma

2.1 Abstract

Several protein tyrosine phosphatases (PTPs) expressed in insulin sensitive tissues are proposed to attenuate insulin action and could act as key regulators of the insulin receptor (IR) signaling pathway. Among these PTPs, RPTPo is expressed in relatively high levels in insulin-target tissues. We show that $RPTP\sigma$ knockout (-/-) mice have reduced plasma glucose and insulin concentrations in the fasted state compared to their wild-type siblings. The knockout animals were also more sensitive to exogenous insulin as assayed by insulin tolerance test. Despite increased whole-body insulin sensitivity, tyrosine phosphorylation of the IR was not increased in muscle of RPTPo (-/-) animals, as would be expected in insulin-sensitive animals. Instead, the levels of IR tyrosine phosphorylation and PI3-kinase activity were reduced in the muscle of knockout animals stimulated with insulin in vivo. However, insulin-stimulated Akt serine phosphorylation was essentially identical between both groups of mice. Accordingly, muscles isolated from RPTPo (-/-) mice did not have a significant increase in glucose uptake in response to insulin, suggesting that RPTPo did not play a direct role in this process. Taken together, our results suggest an indirect modulation of the IR signaling pathways by RPTPo. Since low dose injection of GH normalized the response to exogenous insulin in RPTPo (-/-) mice, we propose that the insulin hypersensitivity observed in RPTP σ (-/-) mice is secondary to their neuroendocrine dysplasia and GH/IGF-1 deficiency.

2.2 Introduction

Insulin binds to its cell surface receptor and induces a variety of metabolic and mitogenic responses. Upon insulin binding to the α -subunit of the insulin receptor (IR), the β -subunits of the IR undergo tyrosine autophosphorylation, which leads to increased IR tyrosine kinase activity towards its intracellular substrates, notably Shc and the insulin receptor substrate (IRS) protein family (Saltiel and Kahn, 2001; White, 2002). Tyrosine phosphorylated IRS proteins serve as large scaffolding proteins by binding to several SH2 (Src-homology 2) effector proteins such as PI3-kinase, Shp-2, and Grb2. Subsequently, these proteins mediate the metabolic and mitogenic effects of insulin.

An important regulatory step in insulin signal transduction cascade is the dephosphorylation of tyrosine-phosphorylated residues from several effector proteins by protein tyrosine phosphatases (PTPs), which likely participate in attenuating insulin signaling (Cheng et al., 2002). Of these PTPs, PTP1B has emerged as the most potent negative regulator of insulin signaling. We and others, have generated PTP1B deficient mice, which showed increased insulin sensitivity and protection against obesity induced by a high fat diet (Elchebly et al., 1999b; Klaman et al., 2000). This phenotype correlates with an increased IR tyrosine phosphorylation in liver and muscle, but not in the adipose tissue of these knockout

mice, suggesting that other PTPs might have specific preferences for this receptor in different insulin-sensitive tissues.

LAR, which belongs to the LAR-RPTPs family that also includes RPTPo and RPTPô, associates and dephosphorylates the IR in vitro (Ahmad and Goldstein, 1997; Mooney and LeVea, 2003). The localization of this RPTP at the plasma membrane made it a logical candidate for dephosphorylating the IR. Studies with LAR-deficient mice, however, were inconclusive in confirming a role for LAR in negative modulation of the IR signaling (Ren et al., 1998). Insulin-stimulated tyrosine phosphorylation of the IR and basal PI3-kinase activity were only modestly increased with reduced LAR expression. In contrast, insulin-stimulated PI3-kinase activity was reduced in these mice in comparison to control. It should be noted that LAR has a role in neuronal development and the lack of proper neuronal development in the knockout mice has made the study of glucose homeostasis in these animals more complex. To overcome this issue, transgenic mice specifically over-expressing LAR in muscle were generated (Zabolotny et al., 2001). These mice are insulin resistant and maintain normal glucose levels at higher plasma insulin levels. Glucose uptake is also reduced in skeletal muscles. Insulin-induced tyrosine phosphorylation of the IR and IRS-1 are normal in muscle of these mice, but IRS-2 phosphorylation is decreased along with IRS-1 and IRS-2 associated PI3-kinase activity. These results indicate that LAR could negatively modulate the insulin
signaling through dephosphorylation of IRS-2, although other proteins might be affected.

Since the intracellular domain of LAR is 85% identical to that of RPTPo at the amino acid level (Pulido et al., 1995), it is possible that both could act on a common set of substrates. Moreover, RPTPo is expressed at higher levels than LAR in the insulin-sensitive adipose tissue and muscle (Norris et al., 1997). These observations suggest that RPTPo could play a role in glucose homeostasis.

The generation of RPTP σ (-/-) mice has demonstrated the importance of this RPTP in neuroendocrine development, neuronal axon growth and regeneration (Elchebly et al., 1999a; Wallace et al., 1999; McLean et al., 2002; Thompson et al., 2003). In the present study, we utilized adult RPTP σ (-/-) mice to further explore whether this enzyme plays a role in glucose homeostasis and insulin signaling. We determined that these mice maintain lower blood glucose levels in the fasted state despite having lower insulin levels. They are also more responsive to exogenous insulin administration. Examination of insulin action in the major insulin-responsive tissues did not show any marked increased in tyrosine phosphorylation of the IR or activation of its associated downstream signaling molecules or muscle glucose uptake. Since the sensitivity to exogenous insulin observed in RPTP σ -deficient mice could be rescued by injection of low dose of GH, we conclude that the phenotypic

changes in glucose homeostasis in the RPTP σ -deficient mice are mainly related to the neuroendocrine function of this PTP.

2.3 Materials and methods

2.3.1 Animal husbandry and genotyping

RPTP σ (-/-) mice were generated as previously described (Elchebly et al., 1999a) and genotyped by PCR (Thompson et al., 2003). WT and RPTP σ (-/-) mice on a Balb/c background (11 to 15 weeks old) were used. Animals were housed under 12-hours light/dark cycle and had free access to water and regular animal chow. All animal experiments described in this manuscript followed the Canadian Council of Animal Care guidelines.

2.3.2 Glucose and insulin measurements

Blood from fed or overnight-fasted animals was collected from the tail or saphenous vein for the measurement of the glucose and insulin concentrations. Glucose levels were determined using an Accu-check glucometer (Roche). Serum insulin concentrations were determined as previously described (Elchebly et al., 1999b).

2.3.3 Insulin and glucose tolerance tests

Insulin tolerance tests were performed by intraperitoneal injection of insulin (Humulin, Eli Lilly) at 0.75 U/kg after the mice had been fasted for six hours. Glucose tolerance tests were performed by intraperitoneal injection of 1g/kg of glucose after the mice had been fasted overnight. In both cases blood was withdrawn at 0, 30, 60, and 120 minutes following injection and glucose concentrations were measured.

2.3.4 In vivo insulin stimulation

Experiments were carried out on mice fasted overnight and anesthetized with 20 µl/g of 2.5% Avertin. Insulin (10 mU/g) was injected through the hepatic portal vein. Hind limb muscles, adipose tissue (reproductive fat pad) or liver were removed at the indicated time after insulin injection and immediately frozen in liquid nitrogen. Tissues were homogenized in Ripa buffer (50 mM Tris-Cl pH 7.4, 150 mM NaCl, 1% NP-40, 0.25% deoxycholate, 1 mM Na3VO4, 50 mM NaF, and a cocktail of protease inhibitors (Complete, Roche)). Protein concentrations were determined using a protein assay kit (BioRad).

2.3.5 Immunoprecipitation

Muscle lysates (1 mg of protein) were immunoprecipitated overnight at 4°C with 3 μ l of anti-IR β -subunit rabbit polyclonal antibody (Santa Cruz). The resulting immune complexes were recovered by the addition of 30 μ l of protein A-agarose

(Invitrogen) for 90 minutes at 4°C. The precipitates were washed 3 times with homogenization buffer. The final protein A-agarose pellets were resuspended in SDS sample buffer and boiled for 5 minutes.

2.3.6 Immunoblotting

Proteins from immunoprecipitation or 20 μ l of total tissue lysates were separated by SDS/PAGE on 8% gel and transferred onto polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membranes (Immobilon-P, Millipore). Membranes were then incubated with anti-phospho IR (1162/1163) (Biosource), anti-phospho-Akt (Cell Signaling), anti-insulin receptor β -subunit, anti-Akt (Cell Signaling), anti-IRS1 (Cell Signaling), anti-p85 (Cell Signaling), anti-Actin (Sigma) or anti-phosphotyrosine (4G10, Upstate) according to manufacturer's instructions.

2.3.7 Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase assay

Phosphotyrosine-associated PI3-kinase activity was assessed by immunoprecipitation of muscle lysates with anti-phosphotyrosine monoclonal antibody (PY20, Transduction Laboratories). After washing the immunoprecipitates, the pellets were resuspended in kinase buffer (4 µg of phosphatidyl inositol (Sigma), 10 µM ATP, 5 mM MgCl2, and 10µCi of γ-32P-ATP) and incubated for 20 minutes at 30°C. The kinase reaction was stopped by the addition of 100 µl of 1 N HCl and 200 µl of a 1:1 mixture of chloroform and

54

methanol. The lipids were extracted and applied to silica thin-layer chromatography (TLC) plates (EM sciences) with CHCl3/CH3OH/H2O/NH4OH (60:47:11:2) as the mobile phase. The radioactivity in phosphatidyl inositol spots was then quantified by Phosphor Imager (Molecular Dynamics).

2.3.8 Glucose Uptake in Isolated Muscle

In vitro glucose uptake experiments were performed in isolated extensor digitorum longus (EDL) and soleus muscles. Glucose transport was measured using the glucose analogue 2-[3H]-2-deoxy-D-glucose as previously described (Kapur et al., 1997).

2.3.9 Serum IGF-1 quantification

IGF-1 serum concentrations were measured by radioimmunoassay using the DSL-2900 Rat IGF-1 RIA kit (Diagnostic Systems Laboratories). Analyses were performed according to the manufacturer's protocol.

2.3.10 GH injection

Human rGH (National Hormone and Peptide Program) was injected subcutaneously into the mice twice daily for 6 days at a concentration of $0.5 \mu g/g$. On the seventh day, insulin tolerance tests were performed as described above.

2.4.11 Statistical methods

The data are presented as means \pm SEM for the indicated number in each group. Unpaired Student's t tests were used for comparison between groups.

2.4 Results

2.4.1 Phenotype and blood levels of glucose and insulin

As previously described, fifteen week old RPTP σ (-/-) mice had a 17% body weight reduction relative to their WT littermates (Elchebly et al., 1999a; Wallace et al., 1999). RPTP σ (-/-) mice had smaller reproductive fat pad mass and this effect persisted even after adjusting to body weight (Table 1). In contrast, muscle and liver ratios to body mass were not significantly changed (data not shown). RPTP σ (-/-) mice had similar food consumption to WT mice while adjusted to body weight (Table 1) suggesting that the decreased size observed is more due to a growth defect than a disturbance in the food intake monitoring.

We next determined whether glucose homeostasis was affected by the absence of RPTP σ . We measured blood glucose and insulin concentrations in the fed and fasted states of RPTP σ (-/-) and WT male mice (Table 1). Under fed conditions, RPTP σ (-/-) mice had unchanged plasma glucose concentrations but tended to have lower plasma insulin than WT mice. Under fasted conditions the plasma glucose and insulin levels were decreased in RPTP σ -deficient mice by 18%

56

and 40%, respectively, in comparison to their WT counterpart. The lower glucose /insulin ratio, particularly under fasted condition, suggest that RPTP σ (-/-) mice are more sensitive to insulin.

Table 2.1: Metabolic parameters in WT and RPTPo (-/-) male mice.

	Wild-type	RPTP σ (-/-)
Body weight (g)	30.6 ± 0.8 (12)	25.5 ± 1.1 (7)*
Reproductive fat pad mass (g)	0.718 ± 0.06 (12)	$0.427 \pm 0.082 (7)^{**}$
Fat pad mass/Body weight (%)	2.3 ± 0.2 (12)	$1.6 \pm 0.3 (7)^{***}$
Food intake (5 days)/Body weight (%)	60.5 ± 0.03 (6)	60.8 ± 0.02 (4)
Fasting glucose (mg/dl)	106.7 ± 4.7 (6)	86.6 ± 3.1 (10)**
Fasting insulin (ng/ml)	0.77 ± 0.12 (6)	$0.45 \pm 0.03 (8)^{***}$
Fed glucose (mg/dl)	113.0 ± 10.6 (6)	103.6 ± 5.0 (11)
Fed insulin (ng/dl)	2.64 ± 0.77 (9)	1.72 ± 0.48 (8)

Data are presented as mean ± SEM, P: * < 0.001, ** < 0.01, *** < 0.05

The value in () indicates the number of mice analyzed.

2.4.2 RPTPo (-/-) mice are hypersensitive to exogenous insulin

To better characterize the effects of RPTP σ deficiency on glucose homeostasis, we performed insulin tolerance tests on males fasted for 6 hours. After a single intraperitoneal bolus injection of 0.75 U/Kg of insulin, glucose clearance occurred more efficiently in RPTP σ (-/-) mice (Figure 2.1A). The glucose concentration reached the lowest level at sixty minutes post-injection in both WT littermate controls and RPTP σ (-/-) animals. However, RPTP σ -deficient mice displayed greater hypoglycemia after 30 minutes through 120 minutes. Similar results were also obtained with female mice (data not shown). The hypoglycemia observed in RPTP σ (-/-) mice demonstrates that these animals are hypersensitive to exogenous insulin.

2.4.3 RPTPo (-/-) mice clear glucose normally

To further examine the effects of the absence of RPTP σ on glucose homeostasis, glucose tolerance tests were performed on male mice. Following overnight fasting, the baseline glucose levels were lower in RPTP σ (-/-) mice as shown in Table 1. Despite a lower baseline glucose concentration, the ability of RPTP σ -deficient mice to clear glucose was very similar to WT controls (Figure 2.1B). Intraperitoneal glucose administration resulted in an increase in the blood glucose concentration with maximum levels at thirty minutes. Thereafter, the plasma glucose returned to normal levels in both groups of animals. A similar response was also observed in female mice (data not shown). RPTP σ (-/-) mice appear to respond normally to glucose loading, suggesting that endogenous insulin secretion is adequate.





A) Insulin tolerance tests were performed following a six hour fast by intraperitoneal injection of 0.75 U/kg of insulin to WT (triangles, n=5) and RPTP σ (-/-) (squares, n=5) male mice. B) Glucose tolerance tests were performed after an overnight fast by intraperitoneal injection of 1 g/kg of glucose to WT (triangles, n=6) and RPTP σ (-/-) (squares, n=7) male mice. Values represent the mean ± SEM. * P < 0.05, ** P < 0.01.

2.4.4 Signaling events following in vivo insulin stimulation

To gain insight into the molecular mechanisms underlying the increase insulin sensitivity observed in RPTP σ (-/-) mice, the early signaling events following insulin stimulation were studied. To determine if the greater sensitivity to insulin was associated with an increase in the IR signal transduction cascade, we measured the muscle IR phosphorylation in response to a bolus of insulin (10 mU/g) injected into the hepatic portal vein. Protein extracts from muscles were first analyzed by a combination of immunoprecipitation and western blotting using anti-IR β -subunit and anti-phosphotyrosine monoclonal antibodies. Insulin stimulation in the muscle of WT animals caused a marked increase in the tyrosine phosphorylation of the IR reaching a further increase at five minutes post-injection (Figure 2.2A). In comparison to WT, the muscle IR β -subunit phosphorylation of RPTP σ (-/-) mice was decreased by 30-40% at one minute post injection (Figure 2.2B). Thereafter, the IR β -subunit phosphorylation increased to reach levels equivalent to the WT response. A greater decrease in IR phosphorylation in response to insulin was observed in the RPTPo-deficient mice when a phospho-specific antibody against the IR β -subunit was used (Figure 2.2C). This antibody recognizes the IR that is phosphorylated at tyrosine residues 1162/1163, important sites for the activation of the IR. No significant difference in the level of expression of the IR was observed.







Mice were fasted overnight, anesthetized, and 10mU / kg of insulin was injected into the hepatic portal vein. Muscle tissue was removed at the indicated time following insulin injection or control PBS injection (time = 0). A) The β -subunit of IR was immunoprecipitated as described under Materials and Methods and immunoblotted with anti-phosphotyrosine (4G10) antibody (upper panel) and reprobed anti-IR (lower panel). B) Quantification of panel A using the NIH Image software. The results are representative of at least three mice in each group. Results are expressed as percentages of WT, non stimulated. Values represent the mean \pm SEM. * P < 0.05. C) Total muscle protein extracts were immunoblotted using polyclonal antibody against Tyr 1162/1163-phosphorylated IR (upper panel). D) Quantification of panel C using the NIH Image software. The results are representative of at least three mice in each group. Results are expressed as percentages of WT, non stimulated. Values represent the mean \pm SEM. * P < 0.05. E) Total muscle, adipose tissue, or liver protein extracts were immunoblotted using polyclonal antibody against Ser 473-phosphorylated Akt (upper panel). Membranes were reprobed with anti-IR (lower panel) or anti-Akt (C, lower panel). Results are representative of 4-6 mice per groups. Downstream of the insulin receptor, Akt kinase is an important mediator of the metabolic effects of insulin. We analyzed Akt serine (473)-phosphorylation in response to the same bolus of insulin in both groups of animals. The levels of expression of Akt, and the increase in its serine (473)-phosphorylation in response to insulin were similar in RPTP σ (-/-) and WT control mice (Figure 2.2E) for all three insulin responsive tissues, namely muscle, adipose tissue and liver.

Since PI3-kinase plays a central role in Akt activation in response to insulin stimulation, we attempted to clarify the discrepancy in the kinetics of IR phosphorylation and Akt phosphorylation that we observed. Therefore, phosphotyrosine-associated PI3-kinase activity was assessed in muscles from WT and RPTPo (-/-) animals before and after insulin treatment. We first measured the level of expression of IRS1 and p85, the regulatory subunit of PI 3-kinase and observed no change in muscle of RPTPo (-/-) mice (Figure 2.3A). Tyrosinephosphorylated proteins were immunoprecipitated and used to in vitro phosphorylate phosphatidyl inositol and the production of phosphorylated lipids was measured. Under fasting conditions, both WT and RPTPo (-/-) mice had very low levels of PI 3-kinase activity (Figure 2.3B), as measured by the low amounts of phosphorylated lipids. Upon insulin stimulation, muscle from WT mice had a marked increase in PI 3-kinase activity that reached its maximum at one minute post-injection (Figure 2.3C). In contrast, insulin injection did not produce the early

64

PI 3-kinase activation peak in muscle from mice lacking RPTP σ (Figure 2.3B, lane 5). In these mice, insulin injection produced a blunted initial activation of PI3-kinase with PI3P formation equivalent to about 65% of the WT initial peak. The reduced PI 3-kinase activation is consistent with the reduced IR phosphorylation observed in RPTP σ (-/-) mice.



Figure 2.3 Insulin induces blunted PI3-kinase activation in muscle of RPTP σ (-/-) male mice.

A) Total muscle protein extracts were immunoblotted using anti-IRS1 (upper panel), anti-p85 (middle panel), and anti-Actin (bottom panel). B) P13-kinase activity was assessed after a bolus injection of 10 mU/ kg of insulin. Tyrosine-phosphorylated proteins were immunoprepipitated using anti-phophotyrosine antibody (PY-20) from 1 mg of muscle lysates. The precipitates were assayed for PI3-kinase activities.

The 32P-labeled lipid products were separated by TLC. B) The radioactivity in PI3P spots was quantified by Phosphor Imager. The results are representative of at least three mice in each group. Results are expressed as percentages of control at one minute post insulin injection. Values represent the mean \pm SEM. * P < 0.05.

2.4.5 Normal biological response to *ex vivo* insulin stimulation of muscles

In response to insulin, skeletal muscle is the primary site of glucose disposal. In order to examine the insulin response of muscle independently of the systemic neuronal and metabolic controls in RPTP σ (-/-) mice, we measured the glucose transport in isolated EDL and soleus muscles following insulin treatment. Insulin stimulated glucose transport was measured by determining the uptake of the glucose analogue 2-[3H]-deoxy-glucose in those tissues. Increasing the insulin concentration in the media led to a 1.5 to 2-fold increase in glucose transport in EDL (Figure 2.4A) and soleus muscles (Figure 2.4B) of both WT and RPTP σ (-/-) mice. Even though the glucose transport in response to a maximal dose of insulin tends to be higher in tissues lacking RPTP σ , this was not statistically significant. Thus, as observed for Akt, insulin action on glucose uptake is preserved, but not augmented in muscles isolated from RPTP σ (-/-) mice and stimulated *ex vivo*.



Figure 2.4 Normal response to *ex vivo* insulin stimulation in EDL and soleus muscles of RPTPo (-/-) male mice.

Isolated EDL (A) or soleus (B) muscles were incubated with the indicated amounts of insulin. Glucose transport was measured using the glucose analogue 2-[3H]-2-deoxy-D-glucose. Results represent the mean \pm SEM of four to six different muscles in each group.

69

2.4.6 Reduced serum IGF-1 concentration in RPTPo (-/-) mice

Since RPTP σ (-/-) mice displayed a neuroendocrine dysplasia (Elchebly et al., 1999a; Batt et al., 2002), in particular anatomic and histologic abnormalities of the pituitary, we hypothesized that pituitary associated functional defects might explain the higher insulin sensitivity that we observed in these mice. Plasma T4 and corticosterone levels in both males and females were not different in the RPTP σ (-/-) and WT mice (data not shown).

In all mammals, GH is released episodically (pulsatile secretion). In an attempt to avoid individual variations related to this process of secretion, and because IGF-1 expression and secretion from the liver are directly related to the plasma GH level, we determined the plasma levels of IGF-1 rather than GH in our mice. IGF-1 concentrations were decreased in both RPTP σ (-/-) males and females by 25% (P < 0.02) and 40% (P < 0.01), respectively (Figure 2.5). These findings suggest an involvement of the GH-IGF-1 axis in the glucose homeostasis abnormalities observed in RPTP σ (-/-) mice.



Figure 2.5 Serum IGF-1 levels are reduced in RPTP σ (-/-) male and female mice.

IGF-1 serum concentrations were measured by radioimmunoassay. Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM. Four to six male and female mice were used in each group of WT (light bars) or RPTP σ (-/-) (dark bars). * P < 0.02, ** P < 0.01.

2.4.7 Injection of rGH into RPTPo (-/-) mice normalizes their response to exogenous insulin

In order to determine if the enhanced sensitivity to exogenous insulin seen in RPTPo (-/-) mice was secondary to their low levels of circulating GH/IGF-1, we injected these mice with rGH (0.5µg/g) twice daily for 6 days. Control mice were injected with an equivalent volume of PBS. On the seventh day we performed insulin tolerance tests on the different groups of mice. As described above the RPTPo (-/-) mice injected with PBS were more sensitive to exogenous insulin compared to the WT mice injected with PBS (Figure 2.6). However the RPTPo (-/-) that were treated with the rGH were not as sensitive to insulin and had a response similar to the WT, which is clearly significant after 2 hours. Thus injection of rGH rescued the glucose homeostasis phenotype observed in RPTPo (-/-) mice. It is important to note that the amount of rGH used in our study did not have any detectable effects on the WT group of mice in comparison to the PBS-injected WT mice (Figure 2.6). These results confirm our hypothesis that the glucose homeostasis abnormalities observed in these mice is secondary to their reduced serum levels of GH/IGF-1.



Figure 2.6 Insulin tolerance tests in WT and RPTPo (-/-) mice injected with rGH.

WT and RPTP σ (-/-) mice were injected subcutaneously with 0.5µg/g of rGH, or an equivalent volume of PBS for 6 days twice daily. Insulin tolerance tests were performed on the seventh day following a six hour fast by intraperitoneal injection of 0.75 U/kg of insulin to WT+PBS (black triangles, n=10), WT +rGH (white triangles, n=7), RPTP σ (-/-) +PBS (black squares, n=7), and RPTP σ (-/-) + rGH (white squares, n=6) male mice. Values represent the mean ± SEM. * P < 0.05 (WT + PBS vs RPTP σ (-/-) + PBS), † P< 0.05 (RPTP σ (-/-) + PBS vs RPTP σ (-/-) + rGH).

In mammals, insulin is the most potent anabolic hormone responsible for the maintenance of plasma glucose homeostasis. The metabolic effects of insulin occur by inhibiting the hepatic glucose output and promoting glucose uptake into muscle and adipose tissues. At the molecular level, the metabolic effects of insulin are mediated by enhancing IR tyrosine kinase activity, which subsequently leads to activation of the IRS/PI3K/Akt cascade.

In humans, resistance to insulin action in muscle is considered the main pathophysiological process involved in the development of non-insulin dependent diabetes (type 2) and obesity, however, the molecular mechanism leading to the development of insulin resistant state is still poorly understood. Previous work, using gene targeting and gene over-expression approaches, has led to the discovery that PTP1B (Elchebly et al., 1999b; Klaman et al., 2000; Zabolotny et al., 2004) and LAR (Ren et al., 1998; Zabolotny et al., 2001) are major players involved in insulin signaling pathways. PTPs, expressed in insulin-sensitive tissues have thus emerged as prominent negative regulators of insulin action (Cheng et al., 2002; Asante-Appiah and Kennedy, 2003). Hence, the identification of these and other PTPs will provide invaluable insight towards understanding the molecular basis of human insulin resistance development, and will reveal new targets for the treatment of obesity and type 2 diabetes-associated insulin resistance. Among the PTPs that might be involved in glucose homeostasis, RPTP σ is clearly a potential candidate as it is expressed in insulin-sensitive tissues (Norris et al., 1997), however, its physiological role in insulin signaling and glucose homeostasis had not been previously investigated. The aim of the present study was to determine whether adult mice carrying a homozygous mutation in the RPTP σ gene, exhibited abnormalities in glucose homeostasis. Our previous studies have shown that mice lacking RPTP σ are smaller and display neuroendocrine dysplasia (Elchebly et al., 1999a). We now demonstrate that RPTP σ (-/-) mice have a reduced mass of adipose tissue, consistent with increased insulin sensitivity. Increased whole-body insulin sensitivity was confirmed with exogenous insulin stimulation. Thus, these findings suggest a mechanism whereby an altered metabolic environment produced by RPTP σ deletion can affect glucose homeostasis and whole-body insulin sensitivity.

To determine how the absence of RPTPo affects glucose homeostasis, we investigated the proximal elements of the insulin signaling pathways. If RPTPo acts on this signal transduction cascade, its absence should induce an enhancement and/or prolongation of the time course of IR phosphorylation, as we have previously observed in PTP1B (-/-) mice (Elchebly et al., 1999b). Yet, despite a higher insulin sensitivity observed in fasted states and after exogenous insulin injection, our results demonstrate that RPTPo deletion does not produce an enhancement of the muscle IR-phosphorylation levels. In contrast, we found that deletion of RPTPo is

associated with reduced IR-tyrosine phosphorylation, and blunted PI 3-kinase activation in response to insulin. This blunted level of PI 3-kinase activation was nevertheless sufficient to fully activate Akt. The mechanism by which this occurs, remains unclear, but this may represent an important safeguard mechanism to prevent hypoglycemia beyond a critical level. Therefore, although the RPTP σ (-/-) mice are insulin sensitive, a direct role for this PTP in the proximal modulation of the IR signaling cascade was not observed in either of the peripheral insulin responsive tissues.

Consistent with the results obtained at the molecular level, muscles isolated from RPTP σ (-/-) animals had a normal rate of glucose transport in response to insulin. Therefore, our findings confirm that RPTP σ is not a physiological PTP that negatively modulates the IR signal transduction cascade in muscles. Rather, they suggest an indirect role for this PTP on IR signaling, whereby it exerts a physiological control on whole animal glucose homeostasis.

Glucose homeostasis is a complex process in which all organisms provide appropriate responses to changes in the cell-external environment to maintain relatively constant concentration of blood glucose (Haymond and Sunehag, 1999; Gerich, 2000). This complex mechanism reflects a constant balance between insulin action and the action of several counter-regulatory hormones. Since these hormones are released in response to acute hypoglycemia triggered via glucose sensors situated in both the hypothalamus and the porto-hepatic area, we suggest that the apparent enhanced insulin sensitivity that we observed in RPTP σ (-/-) mice could be a secondary effect of the GH deficiency of these mice (Elchebly et al., 1999a; Wallace et al., 1999; Batt et al., 2002). We examined several pituitary axes that may play a counter-regulatory role in glucose homeostasis and that may be affected by a RPTP σ loss-of-function. Of these axes, GH/IGF-1 is a particularly important one to investigate, since the insulin antagonistic effects of GH are very well documented (Dominici and Turyn, 2002).

Our results demonstrated that RPTP σ (-/-) mice had significantly lower plasma IGF-1 concentration. These results agree with the recent findings showing that RPTP σ (-/-) neonates had a marked reduction in circulating GH (Batt et al., 2002). To test whether the GH deficit was responsible for the increased insulin response in RPTP σ (-/-) mice we injected these mice with rGH. Short GH therapy normalized the response of these mice to exogenous insulin as measured by insulin tolerance test. Although the amount injected did not change the tolerance to insulin in the WT group. We can then conclude that the phenotypic alterations in glucose homeostasis observed in these RPTP σ (-/-) mice is caused mainly by their GH deficit.

Other models of mice having reduced levels of GH secretion such as the Ames dwarf mice, or impaired GH signaling as in the Laron mice (GHR (-/-)) show similar increased whole body insulin sensitivities (Dominici et al., 2002; Liu et al., 2004). Furthermore, despite the increase insulin sensitivity, the Ames dwarf mice also have decreased insulin responses in skeletal muscles, as observed in the present study. However, in contrast to RPTP σ (-/-) mice where no detectable changes are observed at the level of Akt phosphorylation, the IR signaling in the liver of the dwarf mice is augmented upon insulin stimulation. The effects seen in RPTPo (-/-) mice are probably less dramatic since they only have a moderate reduction in GH and IGF-1 production as opposed to the dwarf mice that totally lack these growth factors (Dominici et al., 2002). In humans, GH administration causes hyperinsulinaemia and impairs the ability of insulin to stimulate glucose uptake and to suppress hepatic glucose production. GH also enhances fat utilization by stimulating lipolysis and fat oxidation. These metabolic effects engender increased adiposity in GH deficiency and a reduction in the fat mass associated with In contrast, we observed that a very small number of RPTPo (-/-) acromegaly. animals show increased adiposity, but on average have a significantly lower mass of adipose tissue as reported in the present paper. GH deficiency certainly accounts for the increased insulin sensitivity observed in RPTPo (-/-) mice, but we cannot exclude the possibility that other counter-regulatory hormones might also play a role in this phenomenon. In addition, we observed that RPTPo (-/-) mice have a higher metabolic rate (data not shown), which correlates with their lean phenotype. It will be interesting to determine by the generation of mice carrying tissue-specific gene deletions, if RPTPo is involved in the central regulation of whole body homeostasis.

In conclusion, our *in vivo* data indicate that RPTPo plays an indirect role in the regulation of whole-body insulin sensitivity and glucose homeostasis. Our findings support the conclusion that RPTPo deletion does not directly alter insulin signaling in insulin sensitive tissues. Since the absence of this enzyme can alter glucose homeostasis and enhances insulin sensitivity it is possible that inhibitors of RPTPo might become important therapeutic tools for the treatment of insulin resistance associated, or not, with GH over-secretion. Further analysis of this animal model will provide valuable insights into the molecular mechanisms controlling the proper development of the hypothalamo-pituitary axis. Finally, identification of either cellular substrates or ligands for RPTPo will be crucial steps towards our understanding of the signaling transduction cascade controlled by this PTP and its primary physiological role.

2.6 Acknowledgements

We wish to thank Ms. Eva Migon and Ms. Lisa Michelle Read for their help with excellent animal care, and Dr. Nadia Dubé and Dr. Yves R. Boisclair for critical reading of the manuscript and helpful discussions. This work was supported by funding from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) operating grant No. MOP-42482. M.J.C. is a recipient of an Alexander McFee Memorial Fellowship. N.U. is a recipient of a CIHR-funded Chemical Biology Postgraduate Training Award. M.L.T. and A.M. are CIHR scientists. CHAPTER 3: The corticospinal tract regenerates after spinal cord injury in receptor protein tyrosine phosphatase sigma (RPTPo) knockout mice

3.1 Abstract

Myelin-associated growth inhibitory proteins and components of the glial scar such as chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans (CSPGs) are known to inhibit axonal regeneration in the central nervous system (CNS). Damage to the spinal cord is therefore irreversible. Here we provide evidence of robust, long distance regeneration of corticospinal tract axons after spinal hemisection in RPTP σ (-/-) mice. In comparison, wild-type control littermates show no regeneration after identical spinal injuries. In addition to the regenerative ability of RPTP σ (-/-) corticospinal axons, primary cortical neurons isolated from RPTP σ (-/-) P9 mice showed a significantly greater attachment to CSPG inhibitory substrate than wildtype control neurons, while no difference in attachment between the two groups was observed on myelin substrate. RPTP σ may therefore be a new class of molecules with an important role in the regenerative capacity of the CNS.

3.2 Introduction

Neuronal axons in the adult mammalian central nervous system (CNS) have a limited capacity to regenerate after injury. These neurons remain permanently damaged and are unable to recapitulate the developmental process of axonal extension as well as connection with appropriate neurological targets. The resulting loss of motor and sensory function is highly debilitating, particularly after spinal cord injuries. Scientific endeavor has thus long been compelled to identify and counteract the molecules responsible for inhibiting successful spontaneous CNS axon regrowth and long distance regeneration. To date, the axon growth-inhibitory roles of proteins associated with degenerating myelin (Nogo, myelin-associated glycoprotein, oligodendrocyte myelin protein) and the glial scar (chondroitin sulphate proteoglycans; CSPGs) at the injury site are well characterized (David and Lacroix, 2003; Filbin, 2003; Silver and Miller, 2004; Gonzenbach and Schwab, 2008). Multiple studies have been designed to overcome these inhibitory elements and promote neuronal regeneration after spinal cord injury. Neutralizing therapies included autoimmunization of mice with myelin homogenate (Huang et al., 1999), application of antibodies against Nogo-A (Schnell and Schwab, 1990; Brosamle et al., 2000) and usage of antagonist peptide to Nogo-66 receptor (NEP-1) to the injury site directly or systemically (GrandPre et al., 2002). While these therapies that target the known inhibitory proteins have been shown to improve post-injury conditions and can produce extensive regeneration with functional recovery, their effects are of a

83

limited nature. It is clear that other additional regeneration-inhibitory elements are present in the CNS.

Members of the type IIa subfamily of receptor protein tyrosine phosphatases (RPTPs) play an essential role in appropriate axonal extension and guidance during neural network development (Johnson and Van Vactor, 2003; Stepanek et al., 2005; Uetani et al., 2006). RPTPo is one of three Type IIa RPTP vertebrate members highly abundant in both the developing and mature mammalian nervous system. It can function as an intrinsic "brake" to axonal extension in in vitro neuronal cultures (Ledig et al., 1999a; Thompson et al., 2003). Given this important developmental "growth arresting" role of RPTPo, this enzyme may also have an inhibitory influence on the ability of axons to regenerate after injury. We hypothesize that RPTPo could be a potential target for improving the long distance regeneration capacity of the CNS. In support of this idea, a number of previous studies with RPTPo deficient (-/-) mice have reported enhanced regeneration after injury to certain axonal pathways in both the peripheral nervous system (PNS) and CNS as compared to wild type counterparts.

McClean et al. (McLean et al., 2002) reported that sciatic nerve crush and transection injuries sustained in RPTPo (-/-) mice produce enhanced and more rapid regeneration of peripheral nerve fibers than in wild-type counterparts.

Moreover, Thompson et al. (Thompson et al., 2003) demonstrated that the crushed facial nerve in mice has an accelerated return of function in the absence of RPTP σ . Additionally within the CNS, the retinocollicular system of adult RPTP σ (-/-) mice showed significantly more regenerative axonal outgrowth after optic nerve crush as compared to wild-type controls (Sapieha et al., 2005). The growth inhibitory effect of RPTP σ on neurons is thought to be an intrinsic mechanism as cortical neurons from E15 RPTP σ (-/-) mice are able to extend longer neurites than wild-type cells over the same 36-hour period (Thompson et al., 2003). Together, these results suggest that RPTP σ may also have a potential axon growth-inhibitory role in more complex CNS regions such as the spinal cord.

Here we investigate the ability of corticospinal axons to regenerate after dorsal spinal hemisection injuries in adult RPTP σ (-/-) mice and provide evidence of long distance regeneration through the lesion site. We therefore propose that RPTP σ contributes to the limited regeneration nature of the spinal cord and is a potential target for improving the regenerative capacity of the CNS.

3.3 Material and methods

3.3.1 Animals

RPTP σ (-/-) and wild-type mice were generated from a Balb/c background as previously described (Elchebly et al., 1999a). All surgeries were performed on 8-10

85

week old female mice with the approval of the McGill University Animal Care committee and following Canadian Council on Animal Care guidelines. The mice were genotyped by PCR analysis on tissue lysates using allele specific primers as described (Uetani et al., 2006).

3.3.2 In situ hybridization

Animals were anesthetized and perfused transcardially with PBS and 4% paraformaldehyde for twenty minutes. Sections of the thoracic region of the spinal cord (T8-T10) and motor cortex were dissected and post-fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde overnight, followed by cryopreservation in 30% sucrose overnight. Fifteen-micrometer cryostat sections were mounted on slides. *In situ* hybridization was performed as previously described (Henrique et al., 1995; Thompson et al., 2003). Sense and antisense cRNA probes to murine RPTP σ were labeled with digoxigenin (DIG) RNA labeling mix (Roche). Hybridization was detected using an anti-DIG alkaline phosphatase-coupled antibody (Roche) and visualized with alkaline phosphatase substrate BM purple (Roche).

3.3.3 Western blotting

Tissues were dissected and snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen and then homogenized in TNN buffer (50 mM Tris-Cl pH 7.4, 150 mM NaCl, 1% NP-40, 1 mM Na₃VO₄, 50 mM NaF, and a cocktail of protease inhibitors (Complete, Roche)).
Protein concentrations were determined using BCA protein assay kit (Pierce). 20 μ g (motor cortex) or 50 μ g (spinal cord) of total tissue lysates were separated by SDS/PAGE on 8% gel and transferred onto polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membranes (Immobilon-P, Millipore). Membranes were then incubated with the following antibodies: RPTP σ (17G7.2 (Thompson et al., 2003)), p190 (Transduction Laboratories), Erk 1/2 pT202/pY204, Erk 1/2, p38 pT180/pY182, p38, caspase-3, STAT3 pY705, and STAT3 (Cell Signaling), tubulin (Sigma), NG2 (Chemicon).

3.3.4 Spinal cord surgeries

Mice were surgically anesthetized with ketamine: xylazine: acepromazine (50:5:1 mg/kg) and the lower thoracic spinal cord exposed at T9 by laminectomy. The corticospinal tract was injured at T9 either by a hemisection or contusion injury. The dorsal hemisection of the spinal cord was performed with spring scissors to the level of the central canal (0.5mm), which completely severed the corticospinal tract. For the contusion injury, the spinal column was stabilized with forceps holding the adjacent vertebrae and the Infinite horizons impactor device applied to the exposed dorsal spinal cord with moderate impact injury (50 kdyne, 400-500um displacement of spinal cord).

The regeneration of the corticospinal tract was assessed by cortical injection of the axonal tracer biotinylated dextran amine (BDA). Seven days after spinal

87

injury, mice were re-anesthetized and two 0.2 μ l bilateral injections of 10% BDA were made into the sensory motor cortex with a glass pipette attached to a Hamilton syringe.

The animals were sacrificed two weeks later and transcardially perfused with 4% paraformaldehyde. The spinal cords were dissected out and placed in 30% sucrose in 0.1M phosphate buffer for 36 hours for cryoprotection. 25µm-thick sagittal sections were cut on a cryostat and incubated in 0.6% hydrogen peroxide for 3 hours. After an overnight incubation with streptavidin complex (Vector Laboratories), sections were reacted with the chromagen diaminobenzine to visualize the streptavidin-biotin-dextranamine complex and counterstained with methyl green.

3.3.5 Cerebellar neuron attachment assay

96-well plates were coated with nitrocellulose (40cm^2) dissolved in methanol (50 ml), then pre-incubated overnight with poly-L-lysine (Sigma, 5µg/ml). Chondroitin sulphate proteoglycans (Chemicon, 0.5-2.5 µg) or purified bovine CNS myelin (0.2 µg) in a 2 µl drop was placed in the centre of the wells and incubated for 4 hours at 37°C. Wells were then washed and used for the neurite outgrowth assay. Cerebellar granule neurons were purified from postnatal day 9 RPTP σ (-/-) or wildtype mice by Percoll density gradient centrifugation (Hatten, 1985). Cells were plated in the wells at a density of 1 x 10⁵ in DMEM media supplemented with 1% MEM vitamin solution and 10% fetal calf serum for 24 hours. Cultures were fixed and stained with Coomassie blue. For attachment assays, the number of neurons on four constant sample areas of the substrate droplet, and two areas of the surrounding poly-L-lysine coating were counted on an inverted microscope. To determine the turning behavior of neurites with neuronal cell bodies attached to the boundary between the CSPG substrate and poly-L-lysine, all neurons with neurites on the perimeter of the CSPG substrate droplet were counted for whether or not the neurites grew onto the substrate.

3.3.6 Histochemical staining

For Luxol Fast Blue staining to visualize myelin, sections were washed in PBS, dehydrated in increasing concentrations of ethanol (50-95%) and incubated in 0.1% Luxol Fast Blue (diluted in 95% ethanol and 10% acetic acid) overnight at 37°C. Sections were cooled to room temperature, incubated in 0.05% lithium carbonate and differentiated in 70% ethanol then washed in PBS.

3.4 Results

3.4.1 RPTPo is endogenously expressed in the adult mouse motor cortex and spinal cord

The expression of RPTP σ protein in the CNS was analyzed by Western blot using a monoclonal antibody (17G7.2) that was raised against the intracellular subunit of RPTP σ . RPTP σ expression was observed in tissue lysates of the adult mouse RPTP σ (+/+) motor cortex and thoracic spinal cord region (T8-T10) as a 75-80 kDa immunoreactive band consistent with the correct molecular weight of the antibody target region of RPTP σ (Figure 3.1A and B, lane +/+). No RPTP σ was detected in lysates from equivalent regions in RPTP σ (-/-) mice (Figure 3.1A and B, lane -/-).

The endogenous expression of RPTP σ mRNA in adult mouse motor cortex and thoracic spinal cord was examined by *in situ* hybridization using a specific DIGlabeled RNA antisense probe. Strong positive staining was detected in presumptive neurons of layers II to VI of the motor cortex including presumptive layer V containing the pyramidal cells from which corticospinal axons extend to the spinal cord (Figure 3.1G). While previous studies have reported reduced cerebral cortical expression of RPTP σ in the postnatal brain in comparison to other structures such as the hippocampus where the levels are the highest (Wang et al., 1995), the present study shows that relatively high expression of RPTP σ is maintained in this region of the mouse cortex. Positive DIG staining was also observed throughout the grey matter of the thoracic spinal cord in the presumptive neurons of both the dorsal and ventral horns (Figure 3.11). While it has been previously shown that RPTP σ protein is expressed in developing cortical axons and growth cones (Thompson et al., 2003) and that RPTP σ mRNA is present in presumptive oligodendrocytes (Sapieha et al., 2005), the present study found no detectable signal in the white matter regions of the spinal cord. No staining was detected in either motor cortex or spinal cord sections incubated with control sense probe (Figure 3.1H and J).

We then investigated by Western blot analysis whether spinal cord injury induced a change in the expression of RPTP σ protein at the site of injury (T8-10) or in the motor cortex where the injured axons have their cell bodies. No change was detected in either tissue 24 hours after hemisection injury (Figures 3.1D and 3.1E). Similarly contusion injury also did not cause any changes in RPTP σ protein expression from non-injured levels at 1, 3, 7 or 21 days post injury. This is consistent with previous results which have shown no change in expression of RPTP σ after optic nerve transection (Sapieha et al., 2005) as well as facial nerve crush (Thompson et al., 2003).

91



Figure 3.1 Expression of RPTPo.

Western blot analysis for RPTP σ in tissue homogenates prepared from adult motor cortex (A) and spinal cord (B) and P9 cerebellar cortex (C). RPTP σ expression is detected in wild-type animals while being completely absent from (-/-) animals. (D and E) Twenty-four hours after hemisection (I) the expression of RPTP σ is unchanged as compared to non injured (NI) control in both motor cortex (D) and spinal cord (E). (F) The expression of RPTP σ is consistent in wild-type animals injured by contusion even after several days. (Non injured: NI, 1 day, 3 days, 7 days, 21 days after injury). (G, H, I, J) RPTP σ mRNA expression detected by *in situ* hybridization using antisense RNA probe on coronal section of the cortex, and transverse section of the spinal cord at the thoracic level. Expression was detected in layers II to VI of the motor cortex (G) as well as in large neurons of the grey matter in the spinal cord (I). (H, J) Sense RPTP σ RNA probe was used as a negative control in the motor cortex (H) and spinal cord (J). Scale bar, 1 mm.

3.4.2 RPTPo (-/-) mice show robust long distance regeneration of corticospinal tract axons across a dorsal hemisection lesion

Adult RPTPo (-/-) and wild-type mice were given dorsal spinal cord hemisection at the lower thoracic level 9 to a depth of 500 µm, which effectively severed all axons above the central canal as illustrated in Figure 3.2. The completeness of the hemisection was rigorously assessed to ensure that all animals included in the study had a complete disruption of the dorsal corticospinal tract, eliminating the possibility that any fibers observed distal to the lesion were spared axons from the dorsal funiculus pathway. The criteria for a complete hemisection lesion were: damage to neurons and gliosis above the central canal, disruption of the central canal, and the presence of heme from red blood cells. Samples that did not satisfy each of these criteria were discarded. One week after hemisection, mice were given cortical injections of BDA to assess regeneration of the corticospinal tract. Specifically, the length and number of BDA labeled axons and sprouts distal to the lesion were measured and a semi-quantitative score of regeneration robustness (0 to 4 with 4 being the maximum) was assigned to each spinal cord.



Figure 3.2 Model of spinal cord hemisection.

Schematic model of the spinal cord injury done by dorsal hemisection to the depth of the central canal. This type of lesion completely severs the corticospinal tract. Regenerating axons are detected by BDA anterograde labeling injected into the cortex seven days after injury. A large proportion of the RPTPo (-/-) mice (about 85 %; n=9) showed a remarkable degree of robust long distance corticospinal axon regeneration with many BDA labeled corticospinal axons crossing the lesion site (Figure 3.3A-E). Fibers consistently reached 6-12 mm distal to the injury site and grew through both the grey and white matter (Figure 3.3D-E). Labeled axons successfully penetrated through the centre of the lesion site (Figure 3.3B) and were often observed growing around blood vessels in the newly vascularized region (Figure 3.3C). The fibers branched and sprouted in a manner typical of regenerating fibers, emerging through the dorsal grey matter in the first 1mm distal to the hemisection (Figure 3.3B). Further distal from the injury site, these fibers extended through the dorsal white and grey matter above the central canal (Figure 3.3D) often growing in the white/grey matter interface. In other cases the axons penetrated the grey matter above the central canal with numerous sprouts branching ventrally (Figure 3.3E).

In marked contrast wild-type mice (n=6) showed virtually no regeneration beyond the beginning of the lesion site with labeled axons arresting as terminal bulbs at the point of axotomy (Figure 3.3F). Two cases had several fibers extending 100-200um into the proximal damaged lesion area but did not reach the midline of the lesion.

96



Figure 3.3 Dorsal hemisection in RPTPo (-/-) and wild-type mice.

(A) Montage showing BDA labeled axons of the corticospinal tract proximal to the lesion (to the left side) in RPTP σ (-/-) mice. Some of these fibers pass through the lesion (arrow) and extend distally for long distances (arrowheads). Damage to the central canal is visible (small arrows). BDA labeled fibers in this and adjacent sections are shown at higher magnification below. Scale bar, 1mm. (B, C): Higher magnification micrograph of the injury site from A (B, Scale bar 100µm) and adjacent section (C, scale bar, 200 µm). Some of the axons end in terminal bulbs (small arrows), while others make a loop around a blood vessel to grow distally through the lesion (arrows). Axon sprouts can also be seen ventral to the tract (arrowheads). (D, E) BDA labeled axons extending through the white matter /grey matter interface (arrows) and the grey matter around the central canal (arrowheads) in grey matter 6 mm distal to the lesion (E, scale bar 100µm). (F) Montage showing BDA labeled axons of the corticospinal tract proximal to the lesion (to the left side) in wild-type mice but none reaching the lesion site (arrow).

Highly robust axon growth and sprouting was observed in 40% of the RPTP σ (-/-) mice with scores of 3-4 on the semi-quantitative scale (Figure 3.4A) with the majority of animals growing labeled axons a maximum distance above 6mm in both white and grey matter (Figure 3.4B and C). Of these robustly regenerating animals, up to 100 axons and sprouts were observed in each millimeter segment in the distal spinal cord (Figure 3.4D). The mean number of distal fibers for all cases combined being approximately 30 from 0-5 mm distal to the lesion, then dropping to 20 and 13 fibers at 6 mm and 7 mm respectively. While the number of fibers growing further caudal than 6 mm were lower, 66% of the RPTP σ (-/-) mice had at least several fibers beyond this point, some reaching even up to 12 mm in both the white and grey matter (Figures 3.4B and C).

Regeneration score after hemisection





А

Maximum distance of regenerating fibres





Axons distal to hemisection in RPTPo (-/-)



Figure 3.4 Quantification of the regeneration after dorsal hemisection.

(A) Semi-quantitative assessment of the robustness of the regeneration rated on a scale of 0-4, with 4 being the highest and 0 representing no regeneration. (B) Maximum distance to which regenerating fibers extended in the white or gray matter distal to the hemisection lesion. Fibers were consistently seen beyond 6 mm in RPTP σ (-/-) animals while their wild-type counterparts did not extend pass 200 μ m distal to the lesion. (C) The number of fibers caudal to the injury sites was quantified in RPTP σ (-/-) animals.

3.4.3 RPTP σ (-/-) mice show normal myelin density in the spinal cord

Relative hypomyelination during development in the peripheral nerve of RPTPo (-/-) mice bred from a C57Bl/6 background has been previously described. This condition matures to larger fiber diameter and myelin thickening in the PNS of adult animals (Wallace et al., 1999). To determine whether the spinal cord of RPTPo (-/-) mice on a Balb/c background, also exhibited abnormal myelination of fibers, longitudinal spinal cord section from naive RPTPo (-/-) and wild-type mice were stained with Luxol Fast Blue for the identification of myelin profiles. No difference in myelin density was observed between the two groups (Figure 3.5A and B). There was also no gross difference in the morphology of the spinal cord between the two groups. Sapieha and colleagues (Sapieha et al., 2005) examined the optic nerve morphology in RPTPo (-/-) mice on the Balb/c background and reported no difference in cellular structure after histological analysis as compared to wild-type mice. This included the number, size and organization of nerve fibers in the optic nerve.



Figure 3.5 Myelination staining in RPTP σ (-/-) and wild-type mice.

(A,B) Previous studies have shown hypomyelination in the sciatic nerve of RPTP σ (-/-) mice. We examined myelination in the spinal cord of wild-type (A) and RPTP σ (-/-) (B) mice by Luxol Fast Blue staining and found no apparent difference. Arrow indicates lesion. Scale bar, 1 mm.

3.4.4 RPTP σ (-/-) cerebellar neurons were not inhibited by CSPG, but were inhibited by myelin substrate *in vitro*

As the inability of CNS axons to regenerate is caused in part by the interaction between the neuron and the axon growth inhibitory elements present at the injury site and region of potential regenerative growth, we tested the ability of the cerebellar granule cells isolated from RPTP σ (-/-) and (+/+) pups (P9) to adhere to inhibitory myelin and CSPG substrates overnight. Expression of RPTP σ protein in the cerebellar cortex was first confirmed by Western blot analysis (Figure 3.1C).

No difference was observed between the two groups of cultured primary neurons in regards to their ability to bind to a droplet of myelin substrate (Figure 3.6B). RPTP σ (-/-) cerebellar granule neurons showed clear attachment inhibition equal to that of neurons isolated from wild-type littermates, with both preferring to attach to the surrounding permissive poly-L-Lysine substrate. This suggests that RPTP σ likely does not interact with myelin proteins.

In contrast, there was a very significant dose-dependant increase in the binding of granule cells to CSPG substrate. At 0.5 μ g/ml of CSPG the RPTP σ (-/-) neurons showed a 4-fold increase in the number of attached cells as compared to wild-type neurons, while at 0.25 μ g/ml there was a 2.5 fold increase in attachment of

RPTP σ (-/-) neurons. This increase in neuronal attachment suggests that the absence of RPTP σ reduces the normal inhibitory effects of CSPG on neurons (Figure 3.6C). Further evidence was seen by observing the growth pattern of neurites with their cells body attached to the very edge of the boundary between the poly-L-Lysine and CSPG substrate. RPTP σ (-/-) neurons extended neurites that were able to cross the boundary and grow onto the inhibitory CSPG substrate. Over 50% of RPTP σ (-/-) neurons grew neurites that were able to cross over the CSPG boundary while less than 10% of (+/+) neurons could do so (Firgure 3.6D). This clearly suggests that neurons lacking RPTP σ have an enhanced ability to cross through the glial scar mostly composed of CSPGs following spinal hemisection injury.



Figure 3.6 In vitro neuronal cultures on inhibitory substrate.

(A) Schematic of the neuronal growth experiment on inhibitory surface. The well was first coated with poly-lysine, and a 2 μ l drop of myelin or CSPG was gently applied in the middle to act as the inhibitory substrate. 1 X 10⁵ cerebellar granule cells were grown on this surface for 24 hours. (B, C) Quantification of the number of cells isolated from RPTPo wild-type and (-/-) mice adhering to myelin substrate (B) or to two different concentrations of CSPG (C). The numbers are expressed as a percentage of the cells adhering to the poly-lysine permissive substrate (control area). (D) Quantification of the number of neurites crossing from the poly-lysine permissive substrates onto the CSPG inhibitory substrate. The numbers are expressed as a percentage of the total amount of neurites including those that turned away from the inhibitory boundary.

3.4.5 No significant change in the major signaling pathways following dorsal hemisection in RPTP σ (-/-) mice

Since the response of RPTP σ (-/-) neurons to CSPG substrate appeared to be altered we examined the level of protein expression of NG2, which is one major type of CSPG expressed in the spinal cord following injury. The levels of this protein were slightly elevated 24 hours following injury but were similar in both RPTP σ (-/-) and wild-type animals (Figure 3.7A).

We then investigated putative signaling mechanisms involved in axon outgrowth after hemisection injury by Western blot analysis using antibodies that recognize the phosphorylated forms of Erk1/2, p38, and STAT3 or the total amount of protein for caspase-3 (Figure 3.7B). Twenty-four hours after injury, wild-type animals showed a clear increase in the phosphorylated forms of p38 and STAT3, and total caspase-3 protein, while phosphorylated levels of Erk, remained unchanged. When the injury was reproduced in RPTP σ (-/-) mice no significant difference in the activation of the same signaling proteins was observed compared to controls, although the increase in the activation of p38 as well as STAT3 appeared slightly attenuated (Figure 3.7B).





(A, B) Western blot analysis in spinal cord homogenates before (not inured: NI) and 24 hours (injured: I) after dorsal hemisection performed in wild-type and RPTP σ (-/-) mice. (A) The level of NG2 slightly increases post injury in both wild-type and RPTP σ (-/-) animals (n=3). Levels were normalized against tubulin. (B) Stimulation of p38 and STAT3 was observed after injury in both wild-type and RPTP σ (-/-) (n=2). In both sets of animal however the levels of activated Erk1/2 remained unchanged after injury (n=3). The levels of activated p38, STAT3 and Erk 1/2 were normalized against total amount of these proteins. The amount of protein expression of Caspase-3 increased after injury in a similar fashion in both sets of animals (n=2).

3.5 Discussion

The developing nervous system expresses RPTPo at the tips of migrating growth cones, where it functions to appropriately arrest the growth of developing axons (Stoker et al., 1995; Thompson et al., 2003). Mice that are deficient for this enzyme show neural-related developmental defects (Elchebly et al., 1999a; Wallace et al., 1999), which have raised much interest in the potential role of RPTPo in the control of axonal growth following injury.

Indeed RPTP σ has been shown to decrease the rate of axonal extension following injury in the peripheral nerve, which is a permissive environment for regeneration (McLean et al., 2002; Thompson et al., 2003). Moreover the deletion of RPTP σ in mice not only enhanced axonal growth after optical nerve crush but also conferred an ability of axons to regenerate moderately in the inhibitory environment of the CNS (Sapieha et al., 2005).

In the present study, we demonstrate that the CNS of the RPTP σ (-/-) mouse is a novel system in which the spinal cord can spontaneously regenerate after dorsal thoracic hemisection injury. This injury model showed resprouting axons penetrating deeply into inhibitory scar tissue at the lesion site and robust long distance regeneration of severed corticospinal tract (CST) axons was observed caudal to the lesion two weeks post-injury to RPTP σ (-/-) mice. In comparison, wild-type mice did not show any regeneration of injured axons after identical spinal hemisection. This remarkable amount of highly robust, spontaneous regeneration of severed axons in RPTP σ (-/-) mice suggests a highly pertinent role for RPTP σ in preventing the non-regeneration of CST axons in the injured mouse spinal cord.

While the elevated expression of RPTP σ early in development has been observed to decrease postnatally (Yan et al., 1993; Wang et al., 1995; Wallace et al., 1999), our analysis of RPTPo expression by western blot and in situ hybridization showed that adult cortical and spinal cord neurons still express relatively high amount of RPTPo. The corticospinal tract was therefore a system of choice for evaluating the role of RPTP σ in axon outgrowth in the adult CNS. The morphology and location of the cells stained by in situ hybridization is highly indicative of neuronal cells. However, it is possible that the surrounding glia may contribute to the observed expression of RPTPo, as glial cells have been previously reported to express RPTPo in the optic and sciatic nerve of mice (McLean et al., 2002; Sapieha et al., 2005). LAR-RPTPs act as homophilic ligands (Sun et al., 2000b; Yang et al., 2003) and so expression of RPTP σ in the surrounding glia could affect RPTP σ induced signaling in the growing axons. The RPTPo ectodomain substrate supports the growth of retinal neuritis revealing a non-cell-autonomous role for this enzyme in neurite outgrowth (Sajnani et al., 2005).

The present study showed that expression of RPTP σ remains stable in both the spinal cord and motor cortex at least for up to 21 days after injury. Therefore, RPTP σ would potentially be able to influence the regrowth of axons after injury. This is consistent with previous observations in neuronal populations of retinal ganglion cells and facial motoneurons where the expression of RPTP σ also remained unchanged after injury while still inhibiting axonal regeneration (Thompson et al., 2003; Sapieha et al., 2005). In comparison, RPTP σ expression was increased in dorsal root ganglia and sciatic nerve following injury suggesting that various neuronal cell populations could be differently regulated (Haworth et al., 1998; McLean et al., 2002).

Homologs of the LAR-RPTPs subfamily have been shown to play a role in the projection and guidance of axons across multiple organisms such as *Drosophila melanogaster, Hirudo Medicinalis, Xenopus laevis,* and chick (Krueger et al., 1996; Desai et al., 1997; Gershon et al., 1998a; Johnson et al., 2001; Rashid-Doubell et al., 2002). Similarly, neuronal cells isolated from the embryonic cortex of RPTP σ (-/-) mice were shown to extend longer axons than wild-type controls when cultured on poly-lysine or poly-lysine plus laminin (Thompson et al., 2003). Neurons derived from neural stem cells isolated from RPTP σ (-/-) mice extended neurites twice as long as controls on laminin (Kirkham et al., 2006). These results clearly indicate that removing or inhibiting RPTP σ will promote axonal extension. Indeed signals intrinsic to the neurons during development are emerging as significant players in the control of axonal regrowth after injury.

Recent identification of N-cadherin as a substrate of RPTPo shed light on one potential mechanism for RPTPo-dependent inhibition of axonal growth (Siu et al., 2007) via actin stabilization and increased adhesion. Neurotrophic-induced axon extension could also be regulated by RPTPo as the Trk family of receptors interact and are dephosphorylated by RPTPo in overexpression studies with 293T cells, explaining the downregulation of NGF-dependent neurite promoting signaling pathways in primary sensory neurons (Faux et al., 2007). We examined Erk 1/2 activation in response to injury since the Trk family of neurotrophin receptors was previously shown to modulate both MAPK and P13K/ Akt to promote axon outgrowth (Atwal et al., 2000). Moreover, increased basal activation of MAPK was observed in the retina of RPTP $\sigma(-/-)$ mice (Sapieha et al., 2005). The deletion of RPTP σ in the present study did not affect the Erk 1/2 response to dorsal hemisection as opposed to the observed response in other models. We also examined levels of activated p38 and caspase-3 expression, as they are mediators of neuronal apoptosis following CNS injury (Springer et al., 1999; Wang et al., 2005). As expected their levels were increased after injury but in a similar fashion in both RPTP σ (+/+) and (-/-) spinal cords. This observation suggests that there is no difference in the rate of cell death after injury between RPTP σ (-/-) and wild-type mice, consistent with observations made in retinal ganglion cells following axotomy (Sapieha et al., 2005). STAT3 is a major mediator of astrogliosis and scar formation (Herrmann et al., 2008) however, its activation response was also comparable in both sets of animal analyzed. RPTP σ could potentially act in a small subset of cells whose mechanistic effect is lost in the heterogeneous spinal cord mixture used for this analysis. Further studies have been initiated in order to further understand the signaling mechanisms by which RPTP σ may regulate axon regeneration in the context of CNS injury.

Multiple lines of evidence suggest that the glial environment of the adult CNS represents a major impediment for spontaneous axonal regeneration. Both myelin-associated inhibitors as well the astroglial scar formed after injury prevent axon outgrowth in adult animals. Embryonic axons are unmyelinated during development as they extend through the nervous system to connect with appropriate targets in response to guidance cues. Developing axons are therefore not exposed to the growth inhibitory effects of myelin-associated proteins. Hypomyelination of the sciatic nerve as well as reduction in the size of the white matter of the spinal cord of RPTP σ (-/-) mice on a C57Bl/6 background were observed (Wallace et al., 1999; Meathrel et al., 2002). These observations were made in young animals and were not seen in the adult RPTP σ (-/-) mice on a Balb/c background (Elchebly et al., 1999a) used in the present study. Strain variations and age differences are likely to account

for this discrepancy. We did not observe any obvious defects in myelination as compared to wild-type mice that could account for the improved regenerating ability observed in RPTPo (-/-) mice. Furthermore in vitro experiments showed that the cerebellar granule cells isolated from P9 RPTPo (-/-) pups were as equally inhibited as wild-type cells on purified myelin substrate. However the same type of RPTP σ (-/-) cells were clearly less inhibited on a mixture of the extracellular matrix substrate CSPGs, showing much more cellular attachment and neurite extension from more permissive poly-L-lysine onto the CSPG substrate. In spinal cord lysates the expression levels of NG2 in RPTP (-/-) were comparable to wild-type littermates either before of after injury. This suggests both neuronal cell bodies and their neurites in RPTPo (-/-) mice may have a blunted sensitivity to CSPG despite still retaining a growth inhibitory response to myelin. This may contribute to the ability of corticospinal axons to extend through the inhibitory scar tissue that forms after spinal injury. Interestingly genetic deletion of inhibitors in the glial scar such as GFAP, vimentin (Menet et al., 2003), and EphA4 (Goldshmit et al., 2004) have resulted in better recovery following dorsal hemisection injury than deletion of myelin-associated targets such as Nogo (Simonen et al., 2003; Zheng et al., 2003), NgR (Kim et al., 2004; Zheng et al., 2005), and p75 (Song et al., 2004) suggesting that overcoming the glial scar inhibition could represent a major barrier to adult CNS regeneration in vivo. However myelin-associated inhibition is still a major player in the field as targeting Nogo with IN-1 antibody (Brosamle et al., 2000), NgR with antagonist peptide (GrandPre et al., 2002) or immunizing the mice with myelin (Huang et al., 1999) leads to marked recovery following CST lesions.

Relatively little is known about the neuronal receptors transducing the inhibitory signals of the CSPGs. One specific receptor for NG2 was previously identified on cerebellar granule cells, which signals through Ca++ and cAMP second messengers (Dou and Levine, 1997). We were not able to show direct interaction between RPTPo and CSPGs (data not shown), which is consistent with previous observations that other proteoglycans such as HSPGs were specific ligands of RPTP σ in the retinal basement membrane (Aricescu et al., 2002). Moreover interaction between RPTPo and its ligand was shown to promote axon extension (Ledig et al., 1999a), via suppression of its phosphatase activity (Johnson et al., 2001; Rashid-Doubell et al., 2002). Based on this model, CSPG is unlikely to be a direct substrate of RPTPo. Interactions between CSPG and growth-promoting substrates such as laminin has been previously described (Katoh-Semba et al., 1995; McKeon et al., 1995) and reviewed in (Bovolenta and Fernaud-Espinosa, 2000). It was suggested that CSPGs could prevent axonal elongation by masking such molecules from neurites. Interestingly laminin was found to be a ligand of LAR, a close relative of RPTPo, and the alternative splicing of a small exon within the fifth FNII repeat required for this interaction is conserved in RPTPo, suggesting that they may share this common ligand (O'Grady et al., 1998). Therefore, the spatio-temporal

regulation of CSPG may regulate neurite outgrowth through disruption of liganddependent inactivation of RPTPo.

CSPGs act through activation of downstream intracellular signaling pathways such as Rho/ROCK (Monnier et al., 2003) and Rac/PAK (Marler et al., 2005). Dlar, the homolog of LAR-RPTPs in the D. melanogaster was previously linked to RhoGTPases signaling via genetic interactions with Trio, a guanine nucleotide exchange factor for Rho and Rac (Bateman et al., 2000). Even though consistent interaction between Trio and mammalian RPTPo could be observed in yeast-twohybrid system, neither the interaction with Trio or RPTPo-dependent downstream signaling of Trio could be demonstrated in mammalian cells (M. J. Chagnon and M.L. Tremblay unpublished observations). Although RPTP σ could still be a candidate regulator of RhoGTPases signaling, we doubt it directly upregulates Rho activity, as an improvement of the adhesion capacity of the RPTP σ (-/-) neuronal cells on the myelin substrate would have been expected. In fact, myelin-associated inhibitors also signal primarily through Rho/ROCK pathways downstream of the coreceptor complex formed by NgR and p75/TROY (Niederost et al., 2002; Winton et al., 2002; Fournier et al., 2003; Yamashita and Tohyama, 2003).

Different mechanisms have evolved to limit axon regeneration in the adult CNS as a possible drawback for the stabilization of the highly complex neuronal circuitry formed during development. Indeed, LAR-RPTPs expression is fundamental for proper neuronal targeting during development (Stepanek et al., 2005; Uetani et al., 2006), and complementation in this (Uetani et al., 2006) and other processes (Dunah et al., 2005) was observed within the three sub-family members. Improved regeneration in the sciatic nerve of RPTPo (-/-) was accompanied by multiple errors in directional growth (McLean et al., 2002). We show that downregulation of RPTPo may be an excellent new target to aid axonal regeneration in the non-permissive environment of the CNS. Further studies are underway to ensure that deletion of RPTPo will not trigger inappropriate reinnervation. Fine-tuning of the activity mechanisms of RPTPo and its sub-family members is also required to balance promotion of neurite outgrowth without affecting correct target reinnervation. These issues could be achieved by developing new antibodies or peptides to inactivate RPTPo either alone or in combination with homologs in vivo in a timely and spatial manner. Complete systemic knockout of RPTPo, such as in the present study may not be ideal for achieving both structural and functional recovery after spinal injury as inactivation of RPTPo would need to be sufficient to lift the axonal "brake" effect after injury but not cause axons to extend indefinitely. However it has proven to be an excellent system to study and confirm the important role of RPTPo in complex adult mammalian CNS injuries.

3.6 Acknowledgements

E. Fry, is a recipient of a MUHC postdoctoral fellowship. M.J. Chagnon is a recipient of a doctoral training award from Fonds de la Recherche en Santé du Québec (FRSQ). M.L. Tremblay is a Chercheur National du FRSQ and a holder of the Jeanne and Jean-Louis Levesque Chair in Cancer Research. We thank Hiba Kazak, Nia Tsatas, Eva Migon, and Janice Penney for excellent technical help.

CHAPTER 4: Identification of new substrates of RPTPo using a modified yeast-two hybrid approach

120

4.1 Abstract

A growing body of evidence supports an important role for RPTPo in the development of the nervous system and nerve regeneration. However, the signaling mechanisms involved in these processes and how they are regulated by RPTP σ remain largely unknown. Since the identification of RPTPo substrate(s) and binding partners is invaluable to understanding its mechanism of action, we employed a modified yeast-two-hybrid approach, the yeast substrate-trapping system, to screen a murine embryonic library for new substrates of RPTPo. This strategy involves the mutation of two essential residues (Asp to Ala, and Cys to Ser) in the catalytic domain of RPTPo. These mutations decrease the catalytic activity of the enzyme and stabilize the interaction between the enzyme and its substrates. These "substrate-trapping mutants" were used as bait in the modified yeast-two hybrid system to screen a library that has been subjected to in vitro phosphorylation by an inducible, active protein tyrosine kinase (PTK). Liprin-a4, RPTP8 and Trio were found to interact with RPTP σ in the yeast system in the absence or presence of tyrosine phosphorylation. We also identified the scaffolding molecule p130Cas as well as p250GAP, a highly expressed GAP in the nervous system and a known regulator of the small RhoGTPases, as new substrates of RPTPo. Indeed p130Cas is hyperphosphorylated in brain lysates isolated form RPTPo (-/-) as compared to wildtype littermates. In mammalian cells the RPTPo-D/A mutant is able to trap p250GAP only in the presence of active Fyn. RPTPo is also able to directly

121

dephosphorylate p250GAP *in vitro*. We also found that Fyn and RPTP σ can interact with each other independently of tyrosine phosphorylation and that RPTP σ is a substrate of Fyn in mammalian cells.

The substrates and interacting partners identified should allow us to further elucidate the signal transduction mechanisms involving RPTPo and to explain its role in nervous system development and regeneration.
4.2 Introduction

Protein tyrosine phosphatases (PTPs) maintain the balance of intracellular tyrosine phosphorylation thus controlling a vast array of cellular functions. Improper control of these levels has been linked to a variety of human diseases such as cancer and diabetes (Andersen et al., 2004; Tonks, 2006). Among the 38 classical PTP genes listed in the human genome (Andersen et al., 2001), 21 are transmembrane PTPs, including the LAR subfamily of receptor protein tyrosine phosphatases (LAR-RPTPs).

This subfamily is composed of three vertebrate homologs: LAR (ptprf), RPTPo (ptprs) and RPTPô (ptprd) (Chagnon et al., 2004). Similar to most other receptor PTPs, they contain two classical intracellular PTP domains where only the membrane proximal one (D1) was shown to be catalytically active. The uniqueness and diversity among the family primarily resides in the large extracellular domain that is reminiscent of cell adhesion molecules with three immunoglobin-like domains and four to eight fibronectin type III repeats (Beltran and Bixby, 2003). LAR-RPTPs have been suggested to play a key role in neural development and in various pathologies (reviewed in (Stoker, 2001; Johnson and Van Vactor, 2003; Chagnon et al., 2004)). Generation of RPTPo knockout mice has proven the essential role of RPTPo in proper nervous system development (Elchebly et al., 1999a; Wallace et al., 1999). Furthermore, overexpression of dominant negative mutants of RPTPo in retinal ganglion cells enhanced neurite elongation (Ledig et al., 1999a). Similarly primary cortical neurons isolated from RPTP σ -KO mice spontaneously exhibited increased axonal growth as compared to wild-type controls (Thompson et al., 2003). Most interestingly the removal of RPTP σ in mice affected the regenerative property of nerves following injury in both the peripheral and central nervous system. In the absence of RPTP σ , not only was the regeneration of the facial and sciatic nerve accelerated, but this also promoted the regrowth of the retinal ganglion cells, regrowth where normally no spontaneous regeneration occurs (McLean et al., 2002; Thompson et al., 2003; Sapieha et al., 2005).

Although advances were recently made in this field, relatively little is known about the signaling mechanisms involved in these processes and specifically those regulated by RPTPo. Similar to other LAR-RPTPs, RPTPo interacts and colocalizes with liprins at focal adhesions in cultured cell lines (Pulido et al., 1995; Serra-Pages et al., 1998). This interaction contributes to the maintenance of synapse morphogenesis in hippocampal neurons (Dunah et al., 2005). Dlar, the *Drosophila melanogaster* ortholog of all three LAR-RPTPs was linked genetically to the protein kinase Abl and its substrate Ena (Wills et al., 1999) and to the guanine nucleotide exchange factor Trio (Bateman et al., 2000), leading to remodeling of the actin cytoskeleton. Yet experimental support indicating that any of these interactions are mirrored in mammals are still lacking. When overexpressed in HEK-293T cells, RPTP σ can stably bind to TrkA and TrkC, and is able to dephosphorylate all three members of the Trk family, elucidating in part the role of RPTP σ in NGFdependent neurite outgrowth (Faux et al., 2007). The negative effect of RPTP σ on neurite outgrowth could also come from interactions with the N-cadherin/ β -catenin complex that was recently identified as a substrate using a substrate-trapping approach in RPTP σ knockout mice brain lysates coupled with mass spectroscopy (Siu et al., 2007).

Since the identification of RPTP σ substrate(s) and binding partners is crucial to understanding its mechanism of action, we employed a modified yeast-two-hybrid approach, the yeast substrate-trapping system (Kawachi et al., 2001), to screen a murine embryonic library. To increase the trapping efficiency of the RPTP σ bait, two essential residues (Asp to Ala or Cys to Ser) in the catalytic domain of RPTP σ were mutated. These mutations decrease the catalytic activity of the enzyme and stabilize the interaction between the enzyme and its substrates (Blanchetot et al., 2005). These substrate-trapping mutants were used to screen a library that has been subjected to *in vitro* phosphorylation by an inducible, active protein tyrosine kinase (PTK). In the absence of expression of the PTK, we screened for interactions independent of tyrosine phosphorylation. Using this assay, we identified p250GAP, a highly expressed GAP in the nervous system and a known regulator of the small RhoGTPases, as a new substrate of RPTP σ . We show that active Fyn kinase is required for the interactions, but can itself bind to RPTPo. We also find that p130CAS is a new potential substrate and is hyperphosphorylated in the brain of RPTPo knockout mice. We propose that RPTPo regulates neurite outgrowth through its interaction with p250GAP and could form a complex with p130CAS and Fyn. The substrates and interacting partners identified should allow us to elucidate the signal transduction mechanisms of RPTPo and to further explain its role in nervous system development and regeneration.

4.3 Materials and methods

4.3.1 Antibodies and reagents

The following antibodies were used: anti-phosphotyrosine (pTyr) clone 4G10 (Millipore), anti-Myc clone 9E10 (Upstate), anti-Flag clone M2 (Sigma), antip130Cas (BD transduction laboratory). Anti-RPTPo clone 17G7.2 (Thompson et al., 2003) and anti-p250Gap polyclonal antibody (Nakazawa et al., 2003) have been previously described. Rabbit polyclonal anti-Fyn was a kind gift of Dr André Veillette. Ezview red anti-flag clone M2 affinity gel (Sigma) was used to immunoprecipitate Flag-tagged proteins.

4.3.2 Plasmids and constructs

The murine RPTPo full-length cDNA was obtained by a PCR-based strategy using two partial cDNA constructs. The cDNA sequence corresponding to nucleotides (nt) 126-3874 (GenBank accession number D28530, obtained from M. Ogata) was combined to cDNA nt 3548-5770 (GenBank accession number X82288) to obtain the full-length sequence. The final PCR product was subcloned into pGEM-T for amplification (pGEM-T vector system I, Promega #A3600). The resulting plasmid was digested with PmeI and EcoRI to release the insert that was then ligated in pcDNA3.1 zeo (+) (Invitrogen) between EcoRI and EcoRV sites. The substrate-trapping mutant RPTPo-D/A (D1516A) or RPTPo-C/S (C1548) were prepared by site-directed mutagenesis (QuikChange kit, Stratagene) and verified by sequencing. The generation of the RPTPo bait for the yeast-two-hybrid screen was made from the sequence corresponding to RPTPo DIDII domain (nucleotide 3898-5770, GenBank accession number X82288) was PCR amplified incorporating restriction sites and cloned into pBridgeLexA-vsrc (Obtained from Dr. M. Noda) at the EcoRI and BamHI restriction sites. The sequence corresponding to the DI domain (nucleotide 3898-5020, GenBank accession number X82288), the DIDII domain (nucleotides 3898-5770, GenBank accession number X82288) and the DIDIIT (truncated) domain (nucleotides 3898-5401, GenBank accession number X82288) of RPTPo were PCR amplified and subcloned into pDEST 15 or pDEST 27 using the Gateway recombination technology (Invitrogen) in order to obtain GST-fusion proteins. GST-fusion proteins for PTP-PEST, He-PTP, and MKPX have been previously described (Stuible et al., 2007). Plasmids used for the expression of p250GAP were previously described (Nakazawa et al., 2003) and obtained from Dr.

T. Yamamoto. Fyn, Fyn-Y531F, and Fyn-K299A constructs were a kind gift of Dr. S. Stamms.

4.3.3 Modified yeast-two-hybrid screen

Yeast two-hybrid screening was performed using the Saccharomyces cerevisiae strain L40, which harbors the reporter genes HIS3 and LacZ under the control of an upstream LexA-binding site. pBridgeLexA-RPTP σ (WT, C/S or D/A)/v-Src, and the mouse embryonic E17.5 cDNA library, expressed as a fusion protein with GAL4 in the pACT2 vector (Clontech), were transformed in the yeast cells as described previously (Kawachi et al., 2001; Fukada et al., 2005). Approximately 1.08 X 10⁶ clones were screened and positive clones were selected on plates lacking leucine, tryptophan, histidine and methionine, and further verified by a β -galactosidase filter-lift assay in the presence or absence of methionine. The clones that showed an increase in blue color development by v-Src induction were selected as candidate substrate molecules. The clones that interacted in both conditions were selected as candidate binding partners.

4.3.4 Cell culture and transfection

COS7 cells were routinely maintained in DMEM containing 10% Fetal Bovine Serum and 1% penicillin/streptomycin (all from Invitrogen). Cells were transfected with Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen) according to manufacturer's

128

instructions with the indicated constructs. Typically the day before transfection 0.5 X 10^6 cells were plated in a 60mm-dish, and the following day 4 µg of each construct (excepting Fyn where only 0.1 µg was used) were transfected.

4.3.5 Co-immunoprecipitation and immunoblotting

Forty-eight hours post-transfection cells were lysed in ice-cold TNN buffer (50 mM Tris-Cl pH 7.4, 150 mM NaCl, 1% NP-40, 1 mM Na₃VO₄, 50 mM NaF, and a cocktail of protease inhibitors (Roche)). When substrate-trapping was performed Na₃VO₄ was not included in the lysis buffer. Lysates were cleared by centrifugation and 10% was kept for total cell lysates analysis. The rest was incubated with Protein A- or G-agarose beads (Invitrogen) and the indicated antibody for 4 hours at 4°C for immunoprecipitation. The precipitated complex was washed three times with icecold lysis buffer and bound proteins were resuspendend in 2X Laemmlli sample buffer. Protein samples were separated by SDS-PAGE and transferred to polyvinylidene difluoride membrane (PVDF, Millipore). Western blot analysis was performed under standard conditions using the indicated antibodies. Membranes were probed with horseradish peroxidase-coupled secondary antibodies (Jackson Laboratories) and standard enhanced chemiluminescence reagent (Perkin-Elmer).

4.3.6 Protein purification

GST-PTP fusion proteins were purified from bacterial cultures as previously described (Stuible et al., 2007) with slight modifications for GST-RPTPo. Briefly a single colony of transformed BL21 cells was grown overnight at 37°C in LB medium that contained ampicillin (100 μ g/mL). This culture was then diluted ten-fold, and grown to a cell density of 0.6 OD (A600 nm) before induction with IPTG (1 mM) overnight at 25°C. All further purification steps were done at 4°C. Pelleted bacteria were resuspended in lysis buffer (20 mm HEPES/KOH pH 8.0, 500 mm NaCl, 0.1 mm EDTA, 1% Triton X-100, 1X complete protease inhibitors). Samples were sonicated on ice and centrifuged. The supernatant was then incubated with glutathione Sepharose 4B beads for 1 h with rotation. Beads were washed and resuspended in elution buffer (50 mm Tris/HCl pH 8.0, 10 mm reduced glutathione) and incubated with rotation for 1hr. The purified fusion protein was collected and quickly frozen at -80°C until further use.

4.3.7 In vitro phosphatase assay

In vitro phosphatase assay was performed by adding purified PTP enzyme to immunoprecipitated p250GAP that have been previously phosphorylated by constitutively active Fyn in COS7 cells. Assays were performed in 50mM PIPES buffers at pH 6.0 containing 3mM DTT and 0.1 mg/ml BSA. The reaction was performed at 37°C for 20 or 15 minutes.

4.4 Results

4.4.1 Yeast-two-hybrid interaction between p250GAP and RPTP σ

A modified version of the yeast-two-hybrid system where interactions can be monitored for dependence on the tyrosine phosphorylation level of the prey proteins was used to find new substrates of RPTPo. Schematic representation of the modified yeast-two hybrid assay is presented in figure 4.1A as adapted from Kawachi et al (Kawachi et al., 2001). Essentially two modifications were made: First, v-Src tyrosine kinase was conditionally expressed in yeast in order to phosphorylate all prey proteins on tyrosine residues. Upon deprivation of methionine in the yeast growing media we observed a marked increase in the level of tyrosine-phosphorylated proteins (Figure 4.1B). Secondly, the intracellular domain of RPTPo containing a substrate-trapping mutation (D1516A) or (C1548S) as well as the WT protein were used as a bait (Figure 4.1C).



Figure 4.1 Yeast substrate-trapping system.

A) Schematic representation of the modified yeast substrate-trapping assay. In the absence of methionine the prey proteins are phosphorylated by induced v-Src and can be trapped by the RPTP σ -D/A mutant. The complex formation leads to activation of reporter gene and can be screen for growth on media lacking histidine (HIS3) or by an increase in blue color development (LacZ). B) Tyrosine phosphorylation of yeast proteins was detected only when v-Src expression was induced in yeast. C) Protein expression of selected baits in yeast cell lysates used in the assay.

132

A first screening step was performed where yeast colonies were selected on plates lacking leucine, tryptophan, histidine and methionine (v-Src-induced). Approximately 1.1 X 10⁶ clones were screened from a mouse E17.5 embryonic library. The positive clones isolated were further tested by a β -galactosidase filter-lift assay in the presence or absence of methionine (Figure 4.2A). Each positive clone was scored from 0 to 4 based on the intensity of blue coloring, 0 being complete absence of blue tint and 4 being saturated blue color. Clones that developed similar blue color intensity independently of the presence or absence of v-Src were classified as potential partners while the ones that preferentially developed blue color in the presence of v-Src were classified as potential substrates as summarized in Table 1. Α



Figure 4.2 Screening for new substrates or binding partner of RPTPo.

A) β -galactosidase filter-lift assay in the absence and presence of methionine. Dotted squares indicate clones interacting in a tyrosine phosphorylation-dependent manner. RPTP σ -DIDII D/A was used as a bait to screen a mouse embryonic E17.5 library (1.08 X 10⁶ clones screened). B) β -galactosidase filter-lift assay in the absence and presence of methionine for specific clones. RPTP σ -WT interaction was compared to RPTP-D/A interaction with the putative substrate.

Table 4.1: List of candidates

Substrates	Known function
p130Cas*	Cell motility, migration
p250GAP	Neurite outgrowth, cell proliferation

Partners Known function	
Liprin alpha4	Cell motility, synapse
RPTP-Delta	Axon guidance, neurite outgrowth
Trio	Axon guidance, neurite outgrowth
p130Cas	Cell motility, migration

In agreement with published reports, liprins and RPTP δ were identified and classified as binding partners of RPTP σ , thus validating our yeast-two-hybrid approach. Multiple clones of the guanine nucleotide exchange factor Trio were also identified. As shown in figure 4.2B, Trio was classified as a binding partner since it interacted with RPTP σ WT and D/A, both in the presence or absence of v-Src. Trio was never shown to interact with RPTP σ but was previously identified as a binding partner of its homolog LAR. Since the intracellular domain of RPTP σ is highly similar to the one of LAR this interaction was somewhat expected. Surprisingly, we were unable to reproduce the interaction of Trio and RPTP σ in mammalian cells (data not shown). In addition, the adaptor protein p130Cas, known to be heavily tyrosine-phosphorylated was found as a potential substrate of RPTP σ . This adaptor p130CAS was previously suggested to be a substrate of LAR (Weng et al., 1999),

PTP-PEST (Garton et al., 1996) and PTP1B (Dube et al., 2004). To determine if this newly found interaction was physiologically relevant we looked at the tyrosine phosphorylation levels of p130Cas in brain lysates of mouse embryos, deficient for either RPTP σ or its homolog RPTP δ as compared to wild-type animals (Figure 4.3). In the absence of RPTP σ we observe a significant increase in the basal tyrosine-phosphorylation level of p130Cas further suggesting that it is a valid *in vivo* substrate. The increase in phosphorylation is also observed in RPTP δ -KO animals, which is consistent with the close identity between the PTP-DI domains of the two homologs.

Of particular interest was the identification of p250GAP, a GTPaseactivating protein for cdc42, rho and potentially rac, as a new putative substrate of RPTP σ . The interaction occurred primarily with the RPTP σ substrate-trapping mutant and was dependent on v-Src expression (Figure 4.2B).





Generation of RPTP σ (Elchebly et al., 1999a) and RPTP δ (Uetani et al., 2000) knockout mice have been previously described. Brain from (+/+), RPTP σ (-/-) , and RPTP δ (-/-) E18.5 embryos were homogenized in (50 mM Tris-Cl pH 7.4, 150 mM NaCl, 1% NP-40, 1 mM Na₃VO₄, 50 mM NaF, and a cocktail of protease inhibitors). Lysates were immunoprecipitated overnight at 4°C with 3 µl of anti-p130Cas monoclonal antibody and 30 µl of protein G-agarose. Samples were washed three times and ran on SDS-PAGE. The tyrosine phosphorylation level was increased in the absence of RPTP σ and RPTP δ (top panel). All samples expressed equal amount of p130Cas (bottom panel).

4.4.2 RPTPo and p250GAP interacts in mammalian cells

To validate the interaction of RPTP σ and p250GAP in mammalian cells we transiently transfected Cos7 cells with full-length RPTP σ -WT or D/A together with myc-tagged p250GAP. Since a tyrosine kinase was required to detect the interaction in the yeast system we first showed that Fyn, another member of the Src-kinase family could readily phosphorylate p250GAP in cells (Figure 4.4A). Without the expression of Fyn a very small amount of p250GAP was able to co-immunoprecipitate with RPTP σ -D/A (Figure 4.4B). However, expression of Fyn significantly increased the amount of p250GAP being trapped by RPTP σ D/A while RPTP σ WT as expected did not display trapping capability (Figure 4.4B).

In order to determine if the kinase activity of Fyn was required for the trapping of p250GAP by RPTPo-D/A we repeated the experiment using Fyn WT, Fyn constitutively activated (CA) or Fyn kinase dead (KD) expression constructs. In this experiment a Flag-tagged p250GAP was used and immunoprecipitated using EZview anti-flag clone M2 affinity gel. We demonstrate that immunoprecipitation of either RPTPo or p250GAP lead to the co-precipitation of the other partner. In Figure 4.4C, we also show that in the presence of inactive Fyn-KD the interaction between RPTPo-D/A and p250GAP is significantly reduced as compared to Fyn-WT or activated Fyn-CA.

Α





Figure 4.4 Tyrosine phosphorylation of p250GAP by Fyn is required for trapping of p250GAP by RPTPo.

A-C) Cos7 cells were transfected with the indicated constructs. Lysates of transfectant were immunoprecipitated with the indicated antibodies for 3 hours at 4°C. Samples were washed three times and separated by SDS-PAGE. The immunoprecipitates and total protein in the cell lysates were subjected to immunoblotting with the indicated antibodies. A) P250GAP is tyrosine phosphorylated by Fyn-WT. B) p250GAP is trapped more efficiently by RPTPσ-D/A than RPTPσ-WT and the trapping is improved in the presence of Fyn-WT. C) Co-Immunoprecipitation of p250GAP and RPTPσ is dependent on the activity of Fyn. WT: wild-type; KD: kinase dead; CA: constitutively active.

4.4.3 RPTPo interacts and is a substrate of Fyn

We showed that tyrosine phosphorylation by Fyn or Src was required for the trapping of p250GAP by RPTP σ but we also wanted to know if Fyn, which is known to be tyrosine phosphorylated, was a substrate of RPTP σ as well. In figure 4.5 we show that RPTP σ and Fyn consistently interact independently of the activity of phosphatase or the kinase. Interestingly we also observed that RPTP σ was phosphorylated by Fyn. The phosphorylation levels were lower in RPTP σ -WT probably because of auto-dephosphorylation. Other RPTPs have previously been shown to be tyrosine-phosphorylated (Toledano-Katchalski and Elson, 1999; Zheng et al., 2000; Tsujikawa et al., 2002). For example, the phosphorylation of RPTP ϵ by Neu is suggested to help direct the substrate specificity of this phosphatase (Berman-Golan and Elson, 2007). To our knowledge this is the first report that RPTP σ is tyrosine phosphorylated and could bring a new level of regulation to this enzyme.



Figure 4.5 Fyn interacts with RPTPo.

Cos7 cells were transfected with RPTPG-WT or D/A and Fyn-WT/CA/KD. Twentyfour hours later cells were lysed and immunoprecipitated with the anti-RPTPG monoclonal antibodies for 3 hours at 4°C. Samples were washed three times and separated by SDS-PAGE. Following Western blotting the membranes were probed with the indicated antibodies. All mutants of Fyn coimmunoprecipitated with RPTPGWT or D/A. Immunoblotting with pTyr antibodies (4G10) revealed that RPTPG is phosphorylated by Fyn-WT and CA. Wild-type; KD: kinase dead; CA: constitutively active.

4.4.4 The membrane proximal PTP domain of RPTPo is sufficient to trap p250GAP

As with other members of the type IIa RPTP family, RPTP σ contains two PTP domains, with the membrane proximal one (DI) being catalytically active while the membrane distal one (DII) shows relatively little PTP activity. As seen in figure 4.6, different deletion mutants of RPTP σ (DI alone, DIDII, DIDIIT (DII truncated) were transfected and although the full-length RPTP σ appears to trap a greater amount of p250GAP, the membrane proximal PTP domain (D1) was sufficient to trap p250GAP, which is consistent of p250GAP being a substrate of RPTP σ .



Figure 4.6 RPTPoDI-D/A is sufficient to trap phosphorylated p250GAP.

Cos7 cells were transfected with the indicated c-terminal deletion mutants of RPTP σ together with Fyn-CA and p250GAP. Cell lysates were immunoprecipitated with RPTP σ antibodies and the precipitated proteins were immunoblotted for p250GAP. The same membrane was reprobed with anti-RPTP σ to ensure proper expression of each deletion mutants.

4.4.5 Identification of the phosphorylated tyrosine residue in p250GAP

As a first step towards the identification of the specific tyrosine residues targeted by RPTPo on p250GAP, we identified the region where Fyn tyrosinephosphorylates p250GAP. We co-transfected various deletion mutants of p250GAP starting from the c-terminal tail with activated Fyn and assessed the tyrosine phosphorylation level of p250GAP (Figure 4.7B). Compared to full-length p250GAP, deletion mutant 1 (amino acids (aa) 1-1516) and 2 (aa 1-1314) were similarly phosphorylated by Fyn; deletion mutant 3 (aa 1-1212) exhibited a slight decrease in phosphorylation. However when the region c-terminal to the residue 1168 and beyond was deleted, virtually all tyrosine phosphorylation was lost on p250GAP (Figure 4.7A). Based on the prediction server NetPhos 2.0 (Blom et al., 1999) two tyrosine residues are most likely to be phosphorylated in the region from aa 1168-1212 which are Y1188 and Y1208. Since it was previously suggested that Fyn interacts with the c-terminal tail of p250GAP through its SH3 (Taniguchi et al., 2003) domain we cannot rule out that losing proper binding for Fyn on p250GAP will affect its ability to be phosphorylated by this kinase. Mutation of these tyrosine residues to phenylalanine to prevent phosphorylation should answer this question in the future.

Α



Figure 4.7 Mapping of the tyrosine phosphorylation site on p250GAP.

A) Cos7 cells were transfected with the indicated c-terminal deletion mutants of p250GAP constructs together with Fyn-CA. Flag-p250GAP was immunoprecipitated and subjected to anti-pTyr immunoblotting (Top panel). The same membrane was reprobed with anti-Flag to ensure proper expression of each deletion mutant. B) Schematic representation of the different deletion mutant of p250GAP used in A). The tyrosine residues predicted to be tyrosine phosphorylated by Fyn are indicated, as well as the region of p250Gap identified as an interactor of RPTPσ in the yeast substrate-trapping assay.

4.4.6 Dephosphorylation of p250GAP by RPTPo

We next examined the ability of RPTPo to dephosphorylate p250GAP in vitro (Figure 4.8A) and in intact mammalian cells (Figure 4.8C). Flag-p250GAP was first transfected into COS7 cells together with Fyn-WT and was then immunoprecipitated in the absence of sodium vanadate. The intracellular domain of RPTPo, fused to GST was expressed and purified from BL21 strain of bacteria. An aliquot of the bacterially purified RPTPo was first tested in vitro against pNPP substrate (data not shown) to ensure catalytic activity of the WT protein while the D/A mutant was catalytically dead. The immunoprecipitated Flag-250GAP was then incubated with purified RPTPo WT or D/A at 37°C for 20 minutes to allow sufficient time for the dephosphorylation to occur. Whereas addition of RPTPo-WT enzyme completely dephosphorylated p250GAP in vitro, the inactive mutant was unable to do so (Figure 4.8A). As controls, we then tested the ability of PTP-PEST, HePTP as well as the dual-specificity PTP MKPX to dephosphorylate p250GAP and that active RPTPo remained the most efficient PTP determined for dephosphorylating p250GAP (Figure 4.8B). We then looked at the level of tyrosine phosphorylation of p250GAP in the presence of active RPTPo in cells. Cos7 cells were co-transfected with p250GAP, RPTPo WT or D/A and Fyn WT. p250GAP was then immunoprecipitated and the total tyrosine phosphorylation levels were detected by Western blotting using anti-phosphotyrosine antibody (4G10) (Figure

4.8C). In the presence of active RPTPσ, p250GAP is clearly less phosphorylated suggesting that it is an *in vivo* substrate of RPTPσ.

Figure 4.8 In vitro and in vivo dephosphorylation of p250GAP by RPTPo.

A, B) Cos7 cells were transfected with Flag-p250GAP and Fyn CA. Lysates were immunoprecipitated with Flag-conjugated agarose beads for 2 hours at 4°C. Beads were washed three times. GST-PTPs were expressed and purified from bacteria as previously described. 10 μ g (A) or 2 μ g (B) of the purified PTP was added to the immunoprecipitate for 20 (A) or 15 (B) min at 37°C. Proteins were eluted in 2X SDS sample buffer. Tyrosine phosphorylation levels were detected using anti-pTyr (4G10). The membranes were reprobed with anti-Flag to ensure consistent loading of p250GAP. C) Cos7 cells were transfected with RPTP σ -WT and D/A and p250GAP, and Fyn-WT. Twenty-four hours later cells were lysed in the presence of sodium vanadate to prevent further dephosphorylation of p250GAP. Lysates were immunoprecipitated and the level of remaining tyrosine phosphorylation detected with anti-Flag to ensure consistent expression of p250GAP.



4.5 Discussion

Tyrosine phosphorylation is essential for the regulation of a variety of intracellular signaling pathways and its levels are balanced by the concerted actions of kinases and phosphatases. To understand the biological role of phosphatases we need to identify its signaling partners. A yeast-two-hybrid approach has been used in the past to identify new partners of RPTPo. At the time only the interaction of the membrane proximal PTP domain (DI) of RPTPo with the membrane distal PTP domain (DII) of its homologue RPTPo was identified (Wallace et al., 1998). The same result was also found by our approach. In the original screen, the library used was from an adult rat lung cDNA library and an 11-day mouse embryo library, which did not match the physiological RPTPo expression during development. Moreover a RPTPo-WT bait was used for screening the library. Since the interaction between a phosphatase and its phosphorylated substrate is very transient because of the high catalytic activity of PTPs, potential substrates may have been missed. In order to circumvent these issues, we employed a modified yeast-two-hybrid approach where we were able to identify protein targets that interacted with the RPTPo-D/A substrate-trapping mutant known to bind to its substrate with similar affinity but with significantly reduced K_{cat} (Flint et al., 1997; Blanchetot et al., 2005). Moreover the assay was done in the presence or absence of an activated tyrosine kinase in order to present putative phosphorylated substrates to the phosphatase.

Trio is a RhoGTPase exchange factor for rho and rac that was previously identified through yeast-two-hybrid interaction with LAR (Debant et al., 1996), a close relative of RPTPo. Moreover in Drosophila Trio was shown to interact genetically with Dlar in controlling actin remodeling (Bateman et al., 2000). In our yeast-two-hybrid assay we found multiple clones of Trio interacting with $RPTP\sigma$ independently of tyrosine phosphorylation, but this interaction could not be reproduced in mammalian cells (data not shown). This suggests that at least in mammalian cells RPTPo would have other substrates and binding partners. In the present study liprin- α 4 was also found as a binding partner of RPTPo. Liprin- α 1, 2 and 3 have been known to interact with the LAR-RPTPs family and from their homology binding of liprin-a4 was expected (Pulido et al., 1995; Serra-Pages et al., 1998). Nevertheless, this is the first time that direct binding of liprin- $\alpha 4$ with a member LAR-RPTPs has been demonstrated. P130Cas (crk-associated substrate) is an adaptor and scaffold molecule that plays an essential role in intracellular events underlying cell motility (Defilippi et al., 2006). P130Cas can undergo extensive phosphorylation modification on tyrosine providing binding sites for SH2 and PTB containing effector proteins. In addition it also contains a SH3 domain and a proline rich region that altogether make it an ideal scaffolding molecule. We show that p130CAS is hyperphosphorylated in RPTPo and RPTPo (-/-) embryos suggesting that it is a physiological substrate for this sub-family of enzymes. LAR the third member of the family was indeed previously shown to dephosphorylate p130Cas,

152

which resulted in its destabilization and degradation leading to LAR-induced caspase dependent cell-death (Weng et al., 1999). However some clones of p130Cas were also identified to interact with RPTPo in the yeast-two-hybrid assay independently of tyrosine phosphorylation, so we cannot rule out that it acts as an adaptor molecule for RPTPo. Indeed p130CAS had also been previously shown to be a target of PTP-PEST and PTP1B (Garton et al., 1996) but the interaction was mainly through its SH3 domain (Liu et al., 1996; Garton et al., 1997).

Of great interest was the finding that p250GAP is a novel substrate of RPTPo. P250GAP interacted with the RPTPo-D/A mutant in the yeast-two-hybrid system as well as in mammalian cells only in the presence of v-Src or Fyn (WT or constitutively active) indicating that tyrosine phosphorylation was required for the interaction. In agreement, RPTPo-D/A failed to interact with p250GAP in the presence of kinase dead Fyn, further suggesting that phosphorylation, but not the interaction with Fyn *per se* was required. Since RPTPo-D/A interacted with p250GAP more efficiently that RPTPo-WT and RPTPo was able to dephosphorylate p250GAP *in vivo* and *in vitro* it appears that p250GAP is a new substrate of RPTPo. P250GAP was previously shown to be a substrate of Src-family tyrosine kinases (Taniguchi et al., 2003) but to our knowledge this is the first report showing that a PTP could regulate its tyrosine phosphorylation level. P250GAP (also known as Grit, RICS, GC-GAP, and p200GAP) (Nakamura et al., 2002; Moon et al., 2003; Nakazawa et al., 2003; Okabe et al., 2003; Zhao et al., 2003) is a Rho family GTPase activating protein (GAP), which promotes the intrinsic GTP-hydrolytic activity to produce a GDP-bound inactive state. The Nterminal GAP domain of p250GAP was shown to have *in vitro* activity towards rho, rac, cdc42, although the identification of its *in vivo* physiological substrates is still debated. Regardless, some reports suggest that it possesses preferential activity towards rhoA and cdc42 over that of Rac1. Beside its GAP domain, p250Gap contains several proline-rich motifs in its C-terminal region as well as several putative phosphorylation sites on serine/threonine as well as tyrosine residues, which could serve as binding sites for SH2 or PTB domain containing proteins.

P250GAP is highly expressed in the adult and developing brain with an expression pattern very similar to that of RPTP σ . Interestingly cerebellar granule cells and cortical neurons isolated from p250GAP (-/-) neurons displayed longer neurites than those isolated form wild-type mice (Nasu-Nishimura et al., 2006), which is very similar to what is observed with RPTP σ (-/-) cortical neurons (Thompson et al., 2003). Cdc42 activity in p250GAP (-/-) neurons was higher than in the wild-type neurons suggesting that p250GAP plays a role in neurite extension by regulating cdc42 activity *in vivo*. Since the ablation of RPTP σ and p250GAP in neurons leads to a similar phenotype they could possibly act in a similar pathway to

regulate neurite outgrowth. We and others showed that Fyn (Taniguchi et al., 2003) and Src (Moon et al., 2003) together with RPTP σ can regulate the tyrosine phosphorylation levels of p250GAP. However no physiological role for its tyrosine phosphorylation have been demonstrated. While, *in vitro* phosphorylation on serine residues by Ca++/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II of p250GAP was shown to inhibit its activity (Okabe et al., 2003) the role of tyrosine phosphorylation remains elusive. Tyrosine phosphorylation by Fyn regulates the activity of p190RhoGAP (Wolf et al., 2001) and TCGAP (Liu et al., 2006). In the case of p190RhoGAP tyrosine phosphorylation affects its binding affinity to effectors such as p120RasGAP (McGlade et al., 1993) and TFII (Jiang et al., 2005). Further research will determine if p250GAP is regulated in a similar fashion.

The C-terminal region of p250GAP not only interacts with protein kinases but was also shown to exist in different complexes with several signaling partners such as TrkA, N-shc, CrkL/Crk , p130Cas, Gab1/2, Nck, β -catenin/cadherin, NR2B and PSD-95. Interestingly RPTP σ interacts and dephosphorylates all three members of the Trk-family of neurotrophins receptors and suppress NGF-dependent neurite outgrowth (Faux et al., 2007). Similarly the RhoGAP domain of p250GAP as well as the Trk-binding region of p250GAP were able to suppress neurite extension induced by NGF (Nakamura et al., 2002). Remarkably, the full-length p250GAP did not have any significant effect on NGF-induced neurite outgrowth. Thus, p250GAP regulates neurite outgrowth in a very complex mechanism and its dephosphorylation by RPTPo or dephosphorylation of TrkA could regulate further recruitment of downstream signaling partners such as N-Shc and Crk/CrkL. In the basal phosphorylated state p130CAS is able to interact with CrkL and p250GAP in mammalian cells. Upon EGF stimulation p130Cas tyrosine phosphorylation levels decrease and the p250GAP/CrkL/p130Cas complex is replaced by the p250GAP/CrkL/EGFR complex (Nakamura et al., 2002). Indeed we show that p130Cas can be dephosphorylated by RPTPo. Therefore, the interplay between RPTPo and p250GAP could in part be regulated by protein complexes recruited by the adaptor p130Cas.

The β -catenin binding domain of p250GAP is also important for its neurite outgrowth regulatory activity. Both N-cadherin and β -catenin have been shown to be direct substrates of RPTP σ and that dephosphorylation contributed to remodeling of the actin cytoskeleton and cadherin-dependent adhesiveness resulting in decreased axon outgrowth (Siu et al., 2007). Therefore the interplay between RPTP σ , p250GAP and the β -catenin/cadherin complex could bring another level of regulation in neurite outgrowth.

A role in dentritic spine morphology was also attributed to both p250GAP and RPTP σ dependent on their interaction with the β -catenin/cadherin complex. P250GAP and β-catenin/N-cadherin associate with the NMDA receptor (N and PSD-95) and regulate spine plasticity through RhoA activation (Nakazawa et al., 2008). In response to NMDA receptor activation, p250GAP was shown to be tyrosine dephosphorylated and to relocalize from the dentritic shafts to the spine. On the other hand all three members of the LAR-RPTPs subfamily together with their binding partner liprin- α control the transport of the β -catenin/cadherin complex to another type of glutamate receptor in this case AMPA receptors to synapses and dentritic spines (Dunah et al., 2005). Altering LAR-RPTPs functions resulted in impaired development and maintenance of excitatory synapses in hippocampal neurons. Although LAR-RPTP/liprin-a complex was shown to interact specifically with AMPA receptor and not NMDA receptors, RPTPo could still be in a prime position to regulate NMDA-dependent spine remodeling through dephosphorylation of p250GAP. Further work will be required in order to determine how tyrosine-dephosphorylation of p250GAP by RPTPo results in similar redistribution of p250GAP as observed following NMDA stimulation.

It is now well established that RPTP σ plays an important role in the regulation of neurite outgrowth and development and in synapse morphogenesis. The identification of new signaling partners of RPTP σ such as p130CAS, Fyn and p250GAP will certainly shed light on its mechanism of action. These interactions as well as the previously identified partners N-cadherin/ β -catenin, liprins- α and Trkfamily further suggest that RPTPo plays an important role in remodeling the actin cytoskeleton. This role is conserved from *Drosophila* to mammals although the signaling partners involved are different. Also the existence of additional RPTPo substrates cannot be excluded as more putative partners not described here were identified by the yeast-two-hybrid screen. Characterization and physiological relevance of these partners await future investigation.

4.6 Acknowledgements

This work was supported in part by an innovative grant from the Townshend-Lamarre Foundation. M.J. Chagnon is a recipient of a doctoral training award from Fonds de la Recherche en Santé du Québec (FRSQ). M.L. Tremblay is a Chercheur National du FRSQ and a holder of the Jeanne and Jean-Louis Levesque Chair in Cancer Research. We thank François Beaubien for excellent technical help and Alan Cheng for critical review of the manuscript.
CHAPTER 5: Discussion and future perspectives

.

5.1 General discussion

A key mechanism of action for intracellular signaling resides on the ability of proteins to be reversibly phosphorylated by protein kinases and protein phosphatases. This post-translational modification can alter the function or activity of the target protein by inducing conformational changes, creating new docking sites for other proteins or causing its relocation within the cell. In the past years a wide range of signaling pathways regulated by protein tyrosine phosphatases (PTPs) have been elucidated. Moreover, mutations in different PTPs have been linked to specific defects in human pathologies such as cancer (Ostman et al., 2006; Hardy and Tremblay, 2008; Stuible et al., 2008), diabetes (Cheng et al., 2002; Asante-Appiah and Kennedy, 2003) and immune diseases (Mustelin et al., 2005; Pao et al., 2007). Studies using transgenic mouse models have led to the further understanding of the functional role of PTPs in signaling pathways underlying development and diseases (Hendriks et al., 2008). Nowadays, this family of enzymes can no longer be viewed simply as housekeeping genes that counteract kinase action but as true players in the signaling field.

Although LAR-RPTPs were discovered over 15 years ago, much is still unknown about the function and regulation of these enzymes. While diverse putative ligands for LAR-RPTPs have been identified, we are still far from being able to activate or inhibit these PTPs selectively. Similarly, even though Trio has been identified as one of the most promising intracellular mediators of downstream LAR-RPTPs signaling, it is unclear if it is a common player with all members of this subfamily. Very complex and diverse cellular processes modulate LAR-RPTPs, and their potential role as regulators of nerve growth and regeneration and in modulating glucose metabolism, promises future exciting discoveries. The identification of novel signaling molecules that may control LAR-RPTPs activity encourages further investigation into this promising field of research.

Using RPTP σ deficient mice, the aim of this thesis was to further describe the physiological functions of this particular member of the LAR-RPTPs subfamily in glucose homeostasis and nerve regeneration. We also identified a new set of RPTP σ substrates, which was necessary to elucidate its mechanisms of action, and key to understanding its physiological role.

5.2 RPTP σ is essential for neuroendocrine development

5.2.1 Altered glucose homeostasis in the absence of RPTP σ

Insulin is a potent anabolic hormone whose primary function is to maintain glucose homeostasis. Several protein tyrosine phosphatases (PTPs) expressed in insulin sensitive tissues have been suggested to be key regulators of the insulin receptor (IR) signaling pathway and to attenuate insulin action (Cheng et al., 2002). Among these PTPs, RPTPo became a candidate for further study since it is expressed at relatively high levels in insulin-target tissues, such as fat and muscle (Norris et al., 1997). Moreover its close family member LAR was shown to dephosphorylate the IR *in vitro* (Tsujikawa et al., 2001) and overexpression of LAR in muscle caused whole-body insulin resistance (Zabolotny et al., 2001).

We found that the plasma glucose and insulin concentrations in the fasted state are lower in RPTP σ (-/-) mice as compared to wild-type control mice. The homozygous animals are also more sensitive to exogenous insulin. These results suggested that RPTP σ is somehow involved in insulin signaling *in vivo*. However, muscle tissue isolated from RPTP σ (-/-) mice did not show a significant increase in glucose uptake, suggesting that RPTP σ did not play a direct role in this process. Despite whole-body increased insulin sensitivity, at the molecular level IR tyrosine phosphorylation was not increased in muscle of RPTP σ (-/-) animals, as would be expected in insulin-sensitive animals. Taken together, our results suggest an indirect modulation of the IR signaling pathways by RPTP σ .

RPTPo null mice have pituitary dysplasia and were shown to secrete lower levels of growth hormone (Elchebly et al., 1999a; Batt et al., 2002) leading to decreased IGF-1 production. The lack of growth hormone observed in other models of growth hormone deficient mice also results in decreased blood glucose and insulin levels concurrent with increased insulin sensitivity (Dominici et al., 2002; Yakar et al., 2004). We therefore propose that the insulin hypersensitivity observed in RPTP σ null mice is secondary to their neuroendocrine dysplasia and GH/IGF-1 deficiency (as summarized in Figure 5.1). Taken together, we think that RPTP σ is not a major player in direct maintenance of glucose homeostasis and regulation of IR signaling.

Tyrosine phosphorylation of the insulin receptor is correlated with its increased activity. A post-receptor defect of insulin signaling is thought to underlie the basis of insulin resistance in Type II diabetes (a disease with increasing rate of occurrence in western societies) (Saltiel, 2001). Consequently the role of PTPs in this pathway has been closely scrutinized over the past several years. A number of PTPs such as LAR, RPTP α , RPTP ϵ , TC-PTP, SHP-2 and SHP-1 were shown to dephosphorylate the IR in vitro (reviewed in (Asante-Appiah and Kennedy, 2003) and (Dubois et al., 2006)), although their physiological role in directly regulating IR signaling remains controversial. After years of study, PTP1B remains the best therapeutic PTP target for the treatment of diabetes; antisense-based inhibitors have proven their efficacy and are now in phase II clinical trials (Liu, 2004). However, most of the effects of PTP1B on insulin sensitivity occur in the muscle and liver (Elchebly et al., 1999b; Klaman et al., 2000). Consequently RPTPo, which compared to other PTPs is relatively highly expressed in adipocytes, might play a more important role in fat tissues (Norris et al., 1997). Unfortunately, RPTPo (-/-) mice have not proven to be the most efficient model to answer this question since the systemic neuroendocrine defects of the mice may be masking the metabolic effects in the adipose tissues. One way to overcome this difficulty would be to use tissue specific knockout or *ex vivo* stimulation of adipocytes. This could help us define a specific role for RPTPo in insulin target tissues.



Figure 5.1 Endocrine-mediated changes in glucose homeostasis in RPTPo (-/-) mice.

We hypothesized that the insulin hypersensitivity observed in RPTP σ (-/-) mice is likely secondary to their neuroendocrine dysplasia and GH/IGF-1 secretion deficiency.

5.2.2 RPTPo-dependent mechanistic regulation of neuroendocrine development

The increased insulin sensitivity observed in the RPTPo (-/-) mice is likely secondary to their neuroendocrine dysplasia. Much work will be needed to further define the mechanistic role of this enzyme in the normal development of the pituitary gland and hypothalamus. During development RPTPo may promote proliferation and detachment as well as proper migration of the cells of Rathke's pouch, giving rise to a properly organized pituitary gland (Elchebly et al., 1999a). As discussed in chapter 4, newly identified substrates of RPTPo such as cadherin/βcatenin (Muise et al., 2007; Siu et al., 2007) and Fyn (important for cell-cell adhesion), and p130Cas (important for migration) may help explain the role of this enzyme in these processes. Moreover the newly identified interactors may prove important for neuronal migration as well (Lilien and Balsamo, 2005). Our laboratory previously showed that RPTPo (-/-) mice are hyposmic (Elchebly et al., 1999a) and lacking olfactory responses that are transmitted by neuronal projections into the glomerular complex of the olfactory bulb and relayed to the hippocampus; both these tissues normally express high levels of RPTPo during development (Walton et al., 1993). These mice are also hypofecund, possibly as a result of their smaller hypothalamus, concomitant with a depletion of luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone (LHRH)-immunoreactive cells in the median eminence. In humans, interruption of LHRH and olfactory neuronal migration are typical characteristics of Kallmann's syndrome (Crowley and Jameson, 1992). LHRH neurons exhibit axonophilic migration and follow a well-characterized migratory trajectory from the vomeronasal organ (VNO) to the forebrain along the vomeronasal nerve (reviewed in (Wierman et al., 2004)). Therefore this well-described pattern of neuronal migration could be evaluated in RPTP σ (-/-) mice and used as a model for studying the role of RPTP σ in neuronal migration, keeping in mind the new substrates and binding partners that have been discussed in this thesis.

5.3 RPTPo interferes with nerve regeneration

The recent finding that RPTP σ hinder the rate of axonal extension and nerve regeneration (McLean et al., 2002; Thompson et al., 2003) in murine peripheral nervous system has generated interest for this enzyme as a new target in the treatment of neurodegenerative diseases and nervous system repair. RPTP σ is highly expressed in neurons of both CNS and PNS (Schaapveld et al., 1998), particularly in growth cones where it functions to slow axonal extension (Thompson et al., 2003). In the absence of RPTP σ axonal regeneration in the sciatic, facial and optic nerve is enhanced following nerve crush (McLean et al., 2002; Thompson et al., 2003; Sapieha et al., 2005). On the other hand, myelin-associated growth inhibitory proteins and extracellular matrix components of the glial scar inhibit axonal regeneration in the CNS (David and Lacroix, 2003), making spinal cord injury irreversible in normal animals. Spinal cord hemisections, which completely damage the axons of the corticospinal tract, were performed on RPTP σ knockout mice. We demonstrated that the CNS of the RPTP σ (-/-) mouse is a novel system in which the spinal cord can spontaneously regenerate after dorsal thoracic hemisection injury. This injury model showed resprouting axons penetrating deeply into scar tissue at the lesion site. Robust long distance regeneration of severed corticospinal tract axons was observed caudal to the lesion three weeks post-injury in RPTP σ (-/-) mice. In comparison, wild-type mice did not show any regeneration of injured axons in our spinal injury models. Furthermore, isolation of primary neurons from RPTP σ (-/-) vs. control mice demonstrated that the absence of RPTP σ enhances the ability of these neurons to adhere to CSPG inhibitory substrate while no improvement was observed on myelin substrate. Therefore RPTP σ represents a new class of putative therapeutic targets contributing to the regenerating capacity of the CNS.

The activity of the RhoA RhoGTPase was shown to be increased following spinal cord injury in wild-type mice, and inhibition of RhoA led to promotion of spinal cord repairs (Dergham et al., 2002). The small RhoGTPases signal to the actin cytoskeleton during various morphological changes, including neurite outgrowth. So far we have been unable to show a direct modulation of RhoA by RPTPo. In *Drosophila*, Dlar regulates the actin cytoskeleton reorganization through proteins such as Trio (a guanine-nucleotide exchange factor for RhoA and Rac1) (Debant et al., 1996; Bateman et al., 2000). In this thesis we describe p250GAP as a new substrate of RPTPo, which preferentially stimulates the GTP hydrolysis of RhoA and Cdc42 (Nakamura et al., 2002; Taniguchi et al., 2003). Taken together, we think that RPTPo may be in a unique position to transduce extracellular signals to remodeling the cytoskeleton, leading to inhibition of nerve regeneration. RPTPo may do this either by direct or indirect regulation of RhoGTPases.

Damage to the CNS of higher vertebrates, including humans, often results in devastating and persistent deficits such as paraplegia and quadriplegia. While hemisection injuries are an excellent model by which to study axonal regeneration, they do not reflect the typical spinal injury sustained by humans. A spinal injury model that more closely parallels a clinical situation is the contusion or weight drop injury that compresses and severs axons and spinal tissue by crushing. The contusion injury, like the hemisection, completely severs the CST. However, it also produces much more inflammation, gliosis, widespread tissue damage and cyst formation, which is even less conducive to axonal regeneration given the inhibitory effects of CSPGs, astrocytes, macrophages and other extracellular matrix factors that accumulate after such injuries (Iseda et al., 2008). It will be important to determine the levels to which RPTPo (-/-) mice are able to functionally regenerate after a contusion injury.

Although efforts are ongoing in order to overcome the barriers to recovery it is clear that no single component is solely responsible for spinal cord regeneration failure. A combination of pharmacological and rehabilitation techniques that will recapitulate basic developmental mechanisms should lead to improved therapies (Thuret et al., 2006). However, even a small improvement in regenerative axonal sprouting and plasticity as observed in RPTP σ (-/-) mice could mediate significant improvements in clinical outcomes, i.e. the recovery of primitive neurological functions as the ability to breathe without a respirator or improved bladder control.

5.4 The role of RPTPo in cellular signaling

To further define the role of RPTPo in nervous system development and nerve regeneration we identified p250GAP, p130Cas, and Fyn as signaling partners using the yeast substrate-trapping system (Kawachi et al., 2001). It remains to be determined if tyrosine phosphorylation of p250GAP will influence its activity towards RhoGTPases. Further work will also determine if phosphorylation of RPTPo by Fyn affects its activity. The newly identified partners of RPTPo should certainly help uncover the mechanisms by which RPTPo controls neurite outgrowth in the context of development or regeneration (summarized in Figure 5.2).





Figure 5.2 Thesis summary.

We think that the newly identified partners of RPTP σ could certainly help uncover the mechanisms by which RPTP σ controls neurite outgrowth in the context of regeneration and development. As well, they could shed light on the mechanisms by which RPTP σ regulates the development of the nervous system in particular the pituitary gland morphogenesis important for glucose homeostasis. The development of new tools to inactivate RPTP σ by dimerization or with interfering peptides could launch us into the validation of a new approach for promoting nerve regeneration.

The yeast-substrate-trapping system has proven to be an efficient alternative to traditional substrate-trapping experiments, which are restricted to the identification of abundant and highly phosphorylated substrates. Although this classical technique has been widely used in order to identify specific substrates (Garton et al., 1996), the method lacks robustness in that identification of the "trapped" substrate relies on trial and error using commercially available antibodies against proteins whose molecular weight corresponds to the size of the trapped substrate. On the other hand, the yeast-substrate trapping system is very flexible, as any PTP can be screened against any type of cDNA library. Moreover, the PTK used in the assay does not have to be restricted to v-Src, and in fact should be carefully selected according to the PTP to be tested. We have adapted this method to search for new substrates of RPTPo and have extended the application to study other PTPs in the laboratory of Dr. Tremblay. The efficiency of identifying new substrates from such a large pool of candidates has encouraged the search for new alternative substrates for PTP-PEST and LAR to add to previously identified ones. Moreover the same method is being used to identify a first set of substrates for the dualspecificity phosphatase of the PRL family, after classical substrate-tapping experiments failed in this regard.

172

5.5 The next challenge: Regulating RPTPo activity

Structural studies based on RPTP α have proposed that RPTPs are able to dimerize resulting in their inactivation (Bilwes et al., 1996). The potential of using dimerization as a mean of shutting down the activity of RPTPo is challenging but may lead to an exciting control switch in the activity of this protein. Contrary to PTK receptors, RPTPs appear to be active as monomers, and are inactivated upon dimerization (Bilwes et al., 1996; Majeti et al., 1998). The inactivation of RPTPo by dimerization could launch us into the validation of a new approach for promoting regeneration after nerve injury and stimulating potential regression of some neurodegenerative diseases. Importantly, in the absence of available commercial antibodies a monoclonal antibody directed against the extracellular domain of RPTPo could be generated. We expect that the antibody could promote the dimerization of the enzyme, which in our predicted model would inactivate them. Based on this idea, it would be essential to develop a screening procedure for RPTPo, possibly based on the Fluorescence Resonance Energy Transfer (FRET) system (Tramier et al., 2003) or using luciferase complementation imaging (Luker et al., 2004). In this manner we would be able to examine RPTPo dimerization in real time, and could develop screening approaches for reagents (proteins, antibodies or small molecules agonists/ antagonists) that modulate RPTPo through its dimerization.

173

Inducing dimerization of RPTPo is not the only means by which its activity could be modulated. Interfering peptides may also be used to inhibit the activity of RPTPo. In the symmetrical RPTP dimer there is an inhibitory helix-turn-helix wedge motif from one PTP domain that occludes the active site of the partner domain. Based on this structure, when a LAR wedge domain peptide was introduced in cells it exhibited homophilic binding to LAR and affected LAR-dependent signaling (Xie et al., 2006) consistent with inhibition of LAR. This new approach is a valid alternative to small molecule inhibitors, which in the case of PTP have proven to be non-specific because of the conserved nature of the PTP catalytic site. The generation of inhibitory peptides or antibodies that distinctively target individual members of the LAR-RPTPs family will be essential to ascertain each of their roles in nervous system development and may eventually serve as potential therapies for nerve regeneration. CHAPTER 6: Concluding remarks

In this thesis, I show that RPTP σ deficient mice have a defect in maintenance of glucose homeostasis and are hypersensitive to insulin. However, RPTP σ is unlikely to play a direct role in this process and the defects seen are probably secondary to their neuroendocrine deficiency. On the other hand, RPTP σ appears to play a significant role in the prevention of nerve regeneration in the CNS. Further work will allow us to determine if this RPTP σ activity is intrinsic to regenerating neurons or comes from the inhibitory environment making it more permissive. Undoubtedly, the identification of the new set of substrates and/or interacting partners we presented here will shed light on its mechanisms of action and help us understand the physiological role of this enzyme.

RPTPo has exciting potential to be used as a regulator of nerve growth and regeneration, and perhaps even in modulating glucose metabolism. Challenges remain because of the difficulties in regulating the activity of this enzyme. The identification of novel signaling molecules that may control RPTPo activity encourages further investigation into this promising field of research, one that is likely to be of great value for the improvement of human health.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Ahmad F, Goldstein BJ (1997) Functional association between the insulin receptor and the transmembrane protein-tyrosine phosphatase LAR in intact cells. J Biol Chem 272:448-457.
- Aicher B, Lerch MM, Muller T, Schilling J, Ullrich A (1997) Cellular redistribution of protein tyrosine phosphatases LAR and PTPsigma by inducible proteolytic processing. J Cell Biol 138:681-696.
- Alete DE, Weeks ME, Hovanession AG, Hawadle M, Stoker AW (2006) Cell surface nucleolin on developing muscle is a potential ligand for the axonal receptor protein tyrosine phosphatase-sigma. Febs J 273:4668-4681.
- Alonso A, Sasin J, Bottini N, Friedberg I, Osterman A, Godzik A, Hunter T, Dixon J, Mustelin T (2004) Protein tyrosine phosphatases in the human genome. Cell 117:699-711.
- Andersen JN, Jansen PG, Echwald SM, Mortensen OH, Fukada T, Del Vecchio R, Tonks NK, Moller NP (2004) A genomic perspective on protein tyrosine phosphatases: gene structure, pseudogenes, and genetic disease linkage. FASEB J 18:8-30.
- Andersen JN, Mortensen OH, Peters GH, Drake PG, Iversen LF, Olsen OH, Jansen PG, Andersen HS, Tonks NK, Moller NP (2001) Structural and evolutionary relationships among protein tyrosine phosphatase domains. Mol Cell Biol 21:7117-7136.
- Aricescu AR, McKinnell IW, Halfter W, Stoker AW (2002) Heparan sulfate proteoglycans are ligands for receptor protein tyrosine phosphatase sigma. Mol Cell Biol 22:1881-1892.
- Asante-Appiah E, Kennedy BP (2003) Protein tyrosine phosphatases: the quest for negative regulators of insulin action. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 284:E663-670.
- Atwal JK, Massie B, Miller FD, Kaplan DR (2000) The TrkB-Shc site signals neuronal survival and local axon growth via MEK and P13-kinase. Neuron 27:265-277.

Baerwald-De La Torre K, Winzen U, Halfter W, Bixby JL (2004)

Glycosaminoglycan-dependent and -independent inhibition of neurite outgrowth by agrin. J Neurochem 90:50-61.

- Baker MW, Peterson SM, Macagno ER (2008) The receptor phosphatase HmLAR2 collaborates with focal adhesion proteins in filopodial tips to control growth cone morphology. Dev Biol 320:215-225.
- Bateman J, Shu H, Van Vactor D (2000) The guanine nucleotide exchange factor trio mediates axonal development in the Drosophila embryo. Neuron 26:93-106.
- Batt J, Asa S, Fladd C, Rotin D (2002) Pituitary, pancreatic and gut neuroendocrine defects in protein tyrosine phosphatase-sigma-deficient mice. Mol Endocrinol 16:155-169.
- Beltran PJ, Bixby JL (2003) Receptor protein tyrosine phosphatases as mediators of cellular adhesion. Front Biosci 8:d87-99.
- Berman-Golan D, Elson A (2007) Neu-mediated phosphorylation of protein tyrosine phosphatase epsilon is critical for activation of Src in mammary tumor cells. Oncogene 26:7028-7037.
- Bilwes AM, den Hertog J, Hunter T, Noel JP (1996) Structural basis for inhibition of receptor protein-tyrosine phosphatase-alpha by dimerization. Nature 382:555-559.
- Biswas SC, Dutt A, Baker MW, Macagno ER (2002) Association of LAR-like receptor protein tyrosine phosphatases with an enabled homolog in Hirudo medicinalis. Mol Cell Neurosci 21:657-670.
- Blanchetot C, den Hertog J (2000a) Antibody-induced dimerization of HARPTPalpha-EGFR chimera suggests a ligand dependent mechanism of regulation for RPTPalpha. FEBS Lett 484:235-240.
- Blanchetot C, den Hertog J (2000b) Multiple interactions between receptor proteintyrosine phosphatase (RPTP) alpha and membrane-distal protein-tyrosine phosphatase domains of various RPTPs. J Biol Chem 275:12446-12452.
- Blanchetot C, Tertoolen LG, den Hertog J (2002) Regulation of receptor proteintyrosine phosphatase alpha by oxidative stress. EMBO J 21:493-503.

- Blanchetot C, Chagnon M, Dube N, Halle M, Tremblay ML (2005) Substratetrapping techniques in the identification of cellular PTP targets. Methods 35:44-53.
- Blom N, Gammeltoft S, Brunak S (1999) Sequence and structure-based prediction of eukaryotic protein phosphorylation sites. J Mol Biol 294:1351-1362.
- Bovolenta P, Fernaud-Espinosa I (2000) Nervous system proteoglycans as modulators of neurite outgrowth. Prog Neurobiol 61:113-132.
- Brosamle C, Huber AB, Fiedler M, Skerra A, Schwab ME (2000) Regeneration of lesioned corticospinal tract fibers in the adult rat induced by a recombinant, humanized IN-1 antibody fragment. J Neurosci 20:8061-8068.
- Celler JW, Luo X, Gonez LJ, Bohmer FD (1995) mRNA expression of two transmembrane protein tyrosine phosphatases is modulated by growth factors and growth arrest in 3T3 fibroblasts. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 209:614-621.
- Chagnon MJ, Uetani N, Tremblay ML (2004) Functional significance of the LAR receptor protein tyrosine phosphatase family in development and diseases. Biochem Cell Biol 82:664-675.
- Chang C, Yu TW, Bargmann CI, Tessier-Lavigne M (2004) Inhibition of netrinmediated axon attraction by a receptor protein tyrosine phosphatase. Science 305:103-106.
- Chang D, Woo JS, Campanelli J, Scheller RH, Ignatius MJ (1997) Agrin inhibits neurite outgrowth but promotes attachment of embryonic motor and sensory neurons. Dev Biol 181:21-35.
- Cheng A, Dube N, Gu F, Tremblay ML (2002) Coordinated action of protein tyrosine phosphatases in insulin signal transduction. Eur J Biochem 269:1050-1059.
- Chin-Sang ID, Moseley SL, Ding M, Harrington RJ, George SE, Chisholm AD (2002) The divergent C. elegans ephrin EFN-4 functions inembryonic morphogenesis in a pathway independent of the VAB-1 Eph receptor. Development 129:5499-5510.

- Clandinin TR, Lee CH, Herman T, Lee RC, Yang AY, Ovasapyan S, Zipursky SL (2001) Drosophila LAR regulates R1-R6 and R7 target specificity in the visual system. Neuron 32:237-248.
- Collett MS, Erikson RL (1978) Protein kinase activity associated with the avian sarcoma virus src gene product. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 75:2021-2024.
- Crowley WF, Jr., Jameson JL (1992) Clinical counterpoint: gonadotropin-releasing hormone deficiency: perspectives from clinical investigation. Endocr Rev 13:635-640.
- David S, Lacroix S (2003) Molecular approaches to spinal cord repair. Annu Rev Neurosci 26:411-440.
- Debant A, Serra-Pages C, Seipel K, O'Brien S, Tang M, Park SH, Streuli M (1996) The multidomain protein Trio binds the LAR transmembrane tyrosine phosphatase, contains a protein kinase domain, and has separate rac-specific and rho-specific guanine nucleotide exchange factor domains. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93:5466-5471.
- Defilippi P, Di Stefano P, Cabodi S (2006) p130Cas: a versatile scaffold in signaling networks. Trends Cell Biol 16:257-263.
- DeMali KA, Wennerberg K, Burridge K (2003) Integrin signaling to the actin cytoskeleton. Curr Opin Cell Biol 15:572-582.
- Dergham P, Ellezam B, Essagian C, Avedissian H, Lubell WD, McKerracher L (2002) Rho signaling pathway targeted to promote spinal cord repair. J Neurosci 22:6570-6577.
- Desai C, Purdy J (2003) The neural receptor protein tyrosine phosphatase DPTP69D is required during periods of axon outgrowth in Drosophila. Genetics 164:575-588.
- Desai CJ, Popova E, Zinn K (1994) A Drosophila receptor tyrosine phosphatase expressed in the embryonic CNS and larval optic lobes is a member of the set of proteins bearing the "HRP" carbohydrate epitope. J Neurosci 14:7272-7283.
- Desai CJ, Gindhart JG, Jr., Goldstein LS, Zinn K (1996) Receptor tyrosine phosphatases are required for motor axon guidance in the Drosophila embryo. Cell 84:599-609.

- Desai CJ, Krueger NX, Saito H, Zinn K (1997) Competition and cooperation among receptor tyrosine phosphatases control motoneuron growth cone guidance in Drosophila. Development 124:1941-1952.
- Dominici FP, Turyn D (2002) Growth hormone-induced alterations in the insulinsignaling system. Exp Biol Med (Maywood) 227:149-157.
- Dominici FP, Hauck S, Argentino DP, Bartke A, Turyn D (2002) Increased insulin sensitivity and upregulation of insulin receptor, insulin receptor substrate (IRS)-1 and IRS-2 in liver of Ames dwarf mice. J Endocrinol 173:81-94.
- Dou CL, Levine JM (1997) Identification of a neuronal cell surface receptor for a growth inhibitory chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan (NG2). J Neurochem 68:1021-1030.
- Dube N, Cheng A, Tremblay ML (2004) The role of protein tyrosine phosphatase 1B in Ras signaling. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:1834-1839.
- Dubois MJ, Bergeron S, Kim HJ, Dombrowski L, Perreault M, Fournes B, Faure R, Olivier M, Beauchemin N, Shulman GI, Siminovitch KA, Kim JK, Marette A (2006) The SHP-1 protein tyrosine phosphatase negatively modulates glucose homeostasis. Nat Med 12:549-556.
- Dunah AW, Hueske E, Wyszynski M, Hoogenraad CC, Jaworski J, Pak DT, Simonetta A, Liu G, Sheng M (2005) LAR receptor protein tyrosine phosphatases in the development and maintenance of excitatory synapses. Nat Neurosci 8:458-467.
- Elchebly M, Wagner J, Kennedy TE, Lanctot C, Michaliszyn E, Itie A, Drouin J, Tremblay ML (1999a) Neuroendocrine dysplasia in mice lacking protein tyrosine phosphatase sigma. Nat Genet 21:330-333.
- Elchebly M, Payette P, Michaliszyn E, Cromlish W, Collins S, Loy AL, Normandin D, Cheng A, Himms-Hagen J, Chan CC, Ramachandran C, Gresser MJ, Tremblay ML, Kennedy BP (1999b) Increased insulin sensitivity and obesity resistance in mice lacking the protein tyrosine phosphatase-1B gene. Science 283:1544-1548.



- Endo N, Rutledge SJ, Opas EE, Vogel R, Rodan GA, Schmidt A (1996) Human protein tyrosine phosphatase-sigma: alternative splicing and inhibition by bisphosphonates. J Bone Miner Res 11:535-543.
- Faux C, Hawadle M, Nixon J, Wallace A, Lee S, Murray S, Stoker A (2007)
 PTPsigma binds and dephosphorylates neurotrophin receptors and can suppress NGF-dependent neurite outgrowth from sensory neurons. Biochim Biophys Acta 1773:1689-1700.
- Filbin MT (2003) Myelin-associated inhibitors of axonal regeneration in the adult mammalian CNS. Nat Rev Neurosci 4:703-713.
- Fischer EH, Krebs EG (1955) Conversion of phosphorylase b to phosphorylase a in muscle extracts. J Biol Chem 216:121-132.
- Flint AJ, Tiganis T, Barford D, Tonks NK (1997) Development of "substratetrapping" mutants to identify physiological substrates of protein tyrosine phosphatases. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94:1680-1685.
- Fournier AE, Takizawa BT, Strittmatter SM (2003) Rho kinase inhibition enhances axonal regeneration in the injured CNS. J Neurosci 23:1416-1423.
- Fox AN, Zinn K (2005) The heparan sulfate proteoglycan syndecan is an in vivo ligand for the Drosophila LAR receptor tyrosine phosphatase. Curr Biol 15:1701-1711.
- Fukada M, Kawachi H, Fujikawa A, Noda M (2005) Yeast substrate-trapping system for isolating substrates of protein tyrosine phosphatases: Isolation of substrates for protein tyrosine phosphatase receptor type z. Methods 35:54-63.
- Garrity PA, Lee CH, Salecker I, Robertson HC, Desai CJ, Zinn K, Zipursky SL (1999) Retinal axon target selection in Drosophila is regulated by a receptor protein tyrosine phosphatase. Neuron 22:707-717.
- Garton AJ, Flint AJ, Tonks NK (1996) Identification of p130(cas) as a substrate for the cytosolic protein tyrosine phosphatase PTP-PEST. Mol Cell Biol 16:6408-6418.
- Garton AJ, Burnham MR, Bouton AH, Tonks NK (1997) Association of PTP-PEST with the SH3 domain of p130cas; a novel mechanism of protein tyrosine phosphatase substrate recognition. Oncogene 15:877-885.

182

Gerich JE (2000) Physiology of glucose homeostasis. Diabetes Obes Metab 2:345-350.

- Gershon TR, Baker MW, Nitabach M, Macagno ER (1998a) The leech receptor protein tyrosine phosphatase HmLAR2 is concentrated in growth cones and is involved in process outgrowth. Development 125:1183-1190.
- Gershon TR, Baker MW, Nitabach M, Wu P, Macagno ER (1998b) Two receptor tyrosine phosphatases of the LAR family are expressed in the developing leech by specific central neurons as well as select peripheral neurons, muscles, and other cells. J Neurosci 18:2991-3002.
- Gillespie LN (2003) Regulation of axonal growth and guidance by the neurotrophin family of neurotrophic factors. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 30:724-733.
- Goldshmit Y, Galea MP, Wise G, Bartlett PF, Turnley AM (2004) Axonal regeneration and lack of astrocytic gliosis in EphA4-deficient mice. J Neurosci 24:10064-10073.
- Gonzenbach RR, Schwab ME (2008) Disinhibition of neurite growth to repair the injured adult CNS: focusing on Nogo. Cell Mol Life Sci 65:161-176.
- GrandPre T, Li S, Strittmatter SM (2002) Nogo-66 receptor antagonist peptide promotes axonal regeneration. Nature 417:547-551.
- Groen A, Overvoorde J, van der Wijk T, den Hertog J (2008) Redox regulation of dimerization of the receptor protein-tyrosine phosphatases RPTPalpha, LAR, RPTPmu and CD45. Febs J 275:2597-2604.
- Groen A, Lemeer S, van der Wijk T, Overvoorde J, Heck AJ, Ostman A, Barford D, Slijper M, den Hertog J (2005) Differential oxidation of protein-tyrosine phosphatases. J Biol Chem 280:10298-10304.
- Guan KL, Dixon JE (1991) Evidence for protein-tyrosine-phosphatase catalysis proceeding via a cysteine-phosphate intermediate. J Biol Chem 266:17026-17030.
- Haj F, McKinnell I, Stoker A (1999) Retinotectal ligands for the receptor tyrosine phosphatase CRYPalpha. Mol Cell Neurosci 14:225-240.
- Harder KW, Saw J, Miki N, Jirik F (1995) Coexisting amplifications of the chromosome 1p32 genes (PTPRF and MYCL1) encoding protein tyrosine

phosphatase LAR and L-myc in a small cell lung cancer line. Genomics 27:552-553.

- Hardy S, Tremblay ML (2008) Protein tyrosine phosphatases: new markers and targets in oncology? Curr Oncol 15:5-8.
- Harrington RJ, Gutch MJ, Hengartner MO, Tonks NK, Chisholm AD (2002) The C. elegans LAR-like receptor tyrosine phosphatase PTP-3 and the VAB-1 Eph receptor tyrosine kinase have partly redundant functions in morphogenesis. Development 129:2141-2153.
- Hasegawa K, Ariyama T, Inazawa J, Mizuno K, Ogimoto M, Katagiri T, Yakura H (1993) Chromosomal assignment of the gene for protein tyrosine phosphatase HPTP delta. Jpn J Cancer Res 84:1219-1222.
- Hatten ME (1985) Neuronal regulation of astroglial morphology and proliferation in vitro. J Cell Biol 100:384-396.
- Haworth K, Shu KK, Stokes A, Morris R, Stoker A (1998) The expression of receptor tyrosine phosphatases is responsive to sciatic nerve crush. Mol Cell Neurosci 12:93-104.
- Haymond MW, Sunehag A (1999) Controlling the sugar bowl. Regulation of glucose homeostasis in children. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am 28:663-694.
- Hendriks WJ, Elson A, Harroch S, Stoker AW (2008) Protein tyrosine phosphatases: functional inferences from mouse models and human diseases. Febs J 275:816-830.
- Henrique D, Adam J, Myat A, Chitnis A, Lewis J, Ish-Horowicz D (1995) Expression of a Delta homologue in prospective neurons in the chick. Nature 375:787-790.
- Herrmann JE, Imura T, Song B, Qi J, Ao Y, Nguyen TK, Korsak RA, Takeda K, Akira S, Sofroniew MV (2008) STAT3 is a critical regulator of astrogliosis and scar formation after spinal cord injury. J Neurosci 28:7231-7243.
- Huang DW, McKerracher L, Braun PE, David S (1999) A therapeutic vaccine approach to stimulate axon regeneration in the adult mammalian spinal cord. Neuron 24:639-647.

Hunter T, Sefton BM (1980) Transforming gene product of Rous sarcoma virus phosphorylates tyrosine. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 77:1311-1315.

- Iseda T, Okuda T, Kane-Goldsmith N, Mathew M, Ahmed S, Chang YW, Young W, Grumet M (2008) Single, high-dose intraspinal injection of chondroitinase reduces glycosaminoglycans in injured spinal cord and promotes corticospinal axonal regrowth after hemisection but not contusion. J Neurotrauma 25:334-349.
- Jiang G, den Hertog J, Su J, Noel J, Sap J, Hunter T (1999) Dimerization inhibits the activity of receptor-like protein-tyrosine phosphatase-alpha. Nature 401:606-610.
- Jiang W, Sordella R, Chen GC, Hakre S, Roy AL, Settleman J (2005) An FF domain-dependent protein interaction mediates a signaling pathway for growth factor-induced gene expression. Mol Cell 17:23-35.
- Johnson KG, Van Vactor D (2003) Receptor protein tyrosine phosphatases in nervous system development. Physiol Rev 83:1-24.
- Johnson KG, McKinnell IW, Stoker AW, Holt CE (2001) Receptor protein tyrosine phosphatases regulate retinal ganglion cell axon outgrowth in the developing Xenopus visual system. J Neurobiol 49:99-117.
- Johnson KG, Tenney AP, Ghose A, Duckworth AM, Higashi ME, Parfitt K, Marcu
 O, Heslip TR, Marsh JL, Schwarz TL, Flanagan JG, Van Vactor D (2006)
 The HSPGs Syndecan and Dallylike bind the receptor phosphatase LAR and exert distinct effects on synaptic development. Neuron 49:517-531.
- Kapur S, Bedard S, Marcotte B, Cote CH, Marette A (1997) Expression of nitric oxide synthase in skeletal muscle: a novel role for nitric oxide as a modulator of insulin action. Diabetes 46:1691-1700.

Katoh-Semba R, Matsuda M, Kato K, Oohira A (1995) Chondroitin sulphate proteoglycans in the rat brain: candidates for axon barriers of sensory neurons and the possible modification by laminin of their actions. Eur J Neurosci 7:613-621.

- Kaufmann N, DeProto J, Ranjan R, Wan H, Van Vactor D (2002) Drosophila liprin-alpha and the receptor phosphatase Dlar control synapse morphogenesis. Neuron 34:27-38.
- Kawachi H, Fujikawa A, Maeda N, Noda M (2001) Identification of GIT1/Cat-1 as a substrate molecule of protein tyrosine phosphatase zeta /beta by the yeast substrate-trapping system. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98:6593-6598.
- Kim JE, Liu BP, Park JH, Strittmatter SM (2004) Nogo-66 receptor prevents raphespinal and rubrospinal axon regeneration and limits functional recovery from spinal cord injury. Neuron 44:439-451.
- Kim MJ, Cotman SL, Halfter W, Cole GJ (2003) The heparan sulfate proteoglycan agrin modulates neurite outgrowth mediated by FGF-2. J Neurobiol 55:261-277.
- Kirkham DL, Pacey LK, Axford MM, Siu R, Rotin D, Doering LC (2006) Neural stem cells from protein tyrosine phosphatase sigma knockout mice generate an altered neuronal phenotype in culture. BMC Neurosci 7:50.
- Klaman LD, Boss O, Peroni OD, Kim JK, Martino JL, Zabolotny JM, Moghal N, Lubkin M, Kim YB, Sharpe AH, Stricker-Krongrad A, Shulman GI, Neel BG, Kahn BB (2000) Increased energy expenditure, decreased adiposity, and tissue-specific insulin sensitivity in protein-tyrosine phosphatase 1B-deficient mice. Mol Cell Biol 20:5479-5489.
- Ko J, Kim S, Valtschanoff JG, Shin H, Lee JR, Sheng M, Premont RT, Weinberg RJ,
 Kim E (2003) Interaction between liprin-alpha and GIT1 is required for
 AMPA receptor targeting. J Neurosci 23:1667-1677.
- Kolkman MJ, Streijger F, Linkels M, Bloemen M, Heeren DJ, Hendriks WJ, Van der Zee CE (2004) Mice lacking leukocyte common antigen-related (LAR) protein tyrosine phosphatase domains demonstrate spatial learning impairment in the two-trial water maze and hyperactivity in multiple behavioural tests. Behav Brain Res 154:171-182.
- Konishi N, Tsujikawa K, Yamamoto H, Ishida E, Nakamura M, Shimada K, Yane K, Yamashita H, Noguchi S (2003) Overexpression of leucocyte common antigen (LAR) P-subunit in thyroid carcinomas. Br J Cancer 88:1223-1228.

- Krasnoperov V, Bittner MA, Mo W, Buryanovsky L, Neubert TA, Holz RW, Ichtchenko K, Petrenko AG (2002) Protein-tyrosine phosphatase-sigma is a novel member of the functional family of alpha-latrotoxin receptors. J Biol Chem 277:35887-35895.
- Krueger NX, Van Vactor D, Wan HI, Gelbart WM, Goodman CS, Saito H (1996) The transmembrane tyrosine phosphatase DLAR controls motor axon guidance in Drosophila. Cell 84:611-622.
- Krueger NX, Reddy RS, Johnson K, Bateman J, Kaufmann N, Scalice D, Van Vactor D, Saito H (2003) Functions of the ectodomain and cytoplasmic tyrosine phosphatase domains of receptor protein tyrosine phosphatase Dlar in vivo. Mol Cell Biol 23:6909-6921.
- Kulas DT, Goldstein BJ, Mooney RA (1996) The transmembrane protein-tyrosine phosphatase LAR modulates signaling by multiple receptor tyrosine kinases. J Biol Chem 271:748-754.
- Kypta RM, Su H, Reichardt LF (1996) Association between a transmembrane protein tyrosine phosphatase and the cadherin-catenin complex. J Cell Biol 134:1519-1529.
- Lanier LM, Gertler FB (2000) From Abl to actin: Abl tyrosine kinase and associated proteins in growth cone motility. Curr Opin Neurobiol 10:80-87.
- Ledig MM, Haj F, Bixby JL, Stoker AW, Mueller BK (1999a) The receptor tyrosine phosphatase CRYPalpha promotes intraretinal axon growth. J Cell Biol 147:375-388.
- Ledig MM, McKinnell IW, Mrsic-Flogel T, Wang J, Alvares C, Mason I, Bixby JL, Mueller BK, Stoker AW (1999b) Expression of receptor tyrosine phosphatases during development of the retinotectal projection of the chick. J Neurobiol 39:81-96.
- Lee S, Faux C, Nixon J, Alete D, Chilton J, Hawadle M, Stoker AW (2007) Dimerization of protein tyrosine phosphatase sigma governs both ligand binding and isoform specificity. Mol Cell Biol 27:1795-1808.



- Levea CM, McGary CT, Symons JR, Mooney RA (2000) PTP LAR expression compared to prognostic indices in metastatic and non-metastatic breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat 64:221-228.
- Lilien J, Balsamo J (2005) The regulation of cadherin-mediated adhesion by tyrosine phosphorylation/dephosphorylation of beta-catenin. Curr Opin Cell Biol 17:459-465.
- Liu F, Hill DE, Chernoff J (1996) Direct binding of the proline-rich region of protein tyrosine phosphatase 1B to the Src homology 3 domain of p130(Cas). J Biol Chem 271:31290-31295.
- Liu G (2004) Technology evaluation: ISIS-113715, Isis. Curr Opin Mol Ther 6:331-336.
- Liu H, Nakazawa T, Tezuka T, Yamamoto T (2006) Physical and functional interaction of Fyn tyrosine kinase with a brain-enriched Rho GTPase-activating protein TCGAP. J Biol Chem 281:23611-23619.
- Liu JL, Coschigano KT, Robertson K, Lipsett M, Guo Y, Kopchick JJ, Kumar U, Liu YL (2004) Disruption of growth hormone receptor gene causes diminished pancreatic islet size and increased insulin sensitivity in mice. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 287:E405-413.
- Luker KE, Smith MC, Luker GD, Gammon ST, Piwnica-Worms H, Piwnica-Worms D (2004) Kinetics of regulated protein-protein interactions revealed with firefly luciferase complementation imaging in cells and living animals. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:12288-12293.
- Majeti R, Bilwes AM, Noel JP, Hunter T, Weiss A (1998) Dimerization-induced inhibition of receptor protein tyrosine phosphatase function through an inhibitory wedge. Science 279:88-91.
- Majeti R, Xu Z, Parslow TG, Olson JL, Daikh DI, Killeen N, Weiss A (2000) An inactivating point mutation in the inhibitory wedge of CD45 causes lymphoproliferation and autoimmunity. Cell 103:1059-1070.
- Manning G, Whyte DB, Martinez R, Hunter T, Sudarsanam S (2002) The protein kinase complement of the human genome. Science 298:1912-1934.

- Marler KJ, Kozma R, Ahmed S, Dong JM, Hall C, Lim L (2005) Outgrowth of neurites from NIE-115 neuroblastoma cells is prevented on repulsive substrates through the action of PAK. Mol Cell Biol 25:5226-5241.
- Maurel-Zaffran C, Suzuki T, Gahmon G, Treisman JE, Dickson BJ (2001) Cellautonomous and -nonautonomous functions of LAR in R7 photoreceptor axon targeting. Neuron 32:225-235.
- McGlade J, Brunkhorst B, Anderson D, Mbamalu G, Settleman J, Dedhar S, Rozakis-Adcock M, Chen LB, Pawson T (1993) The N-terminal region of GAP regulates cytoskeletal structure and cell adhesion. Embo J 12:3073-3081.
- McKeon RJ, Hoke A, Silver J (1995) Injury-induced proteoglycans inhibit the potential for laminin-mediated axon growth on astrocytic scars. Exp Neurol 136:32-43.
- McLean J, Batt J, Doering LC, Rotin D, Bain JR (2002) Enhanced rate of nerve regeneration and directional errors after sciatic nerve injury in receptor protein tyrosine phosphatase sigma knock-out mice. J Neurosci 22:5481-5491.
- Meathrel K, Adamek T, Batt J, Rotin D, Doering LC (2002) Protein tyrosine phosphatase sigma-deficient mice show aberrant cytoarchitecture and structural abnormalities in the central nervous system. J Neurosci Res 70:24-35.
- Medley QG, Buchbinder EG, Tachibana K, Ngo H, Serra-Pages C, Streuli M (2003) Signaling between focal adhesion kinase and trio. J Biol Chem 278:13265-13270.
- Menet V, Prieto M, Privat A, Gimenez y Ribotta M (2003) Axonal plasticity and functional recovery after spinal cord injury in mice deficient in both glial fibrillary acidic protein and vimentin genes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:8999-9004.
- Meng K, Rodriguez-Pena A, Dimitrov T, Chen W, Yamin M, Noda M, Deuel TF (2000) Pleiotrophin signals increased tyrosine phosphorylation of beta betacatenin through inactivation of the intrinsic catalytic activity of the receptortype protein tyrosine phosphatase beta/zeta. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97:2603-2608.

- Mizuno K, Hasegawa K, Ogimoto M, Katagiri T, Yakura H (1994) Developmental regulation of gene expression for the MPTP delta isoforms in the central nervous system and the immune system. FEBS Lett 355:223-228.
- Mizuno K, Hasegawa K, Katagiri T, Ogimoto M, Ichikawa T, Yakura H (1993) MPTP delta, a putative murine homolog of HPTP delta, is expressed in specialized regions of the brain and in the B-cell lineage. Mol Cell Biol 13:5513-5523.
- Monnier PP, Sierra A, Schwab JM, Henke-Fahle S, Mueller BK (2003) The Rho/ROCK pathway mediates neurite growth-inhibitory activity associated with the chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans of the CNS glial scar. Mol Cell Neurosci 22:319-330.
- Moon SY, Zang H, Zheng Y (2003) Characterization of a brain-specific Rho GTPase-activating protein, p200RhoGAP. J Biol Chem 278:4151-4159.
- Mooney RA, LeVea CM (2003) The leukocyte common antigen-related protein LAR: candidate PTP for inhibitory targeting. Curr Top Med Chem 3:809-819.
- Mueller BK, Ledig MM, Wahl S (2000) The receptor tyrosine phosphatase CRYPalpha affects growth cone morphology. J Neurobiol 44:204-218.
- Muise AM, Walters T, Wine E, Griffiths AM, Turner D, Duerr RH, Regueiro MD, Ngan BY, Xu W, Sherman PM, Silverberg MS, Rotin D (2007) Proteintyrosine phosphatase sigma is associated with ulcerative colitis. Curr Biol 17:1212-1218.
- Muller T, Choidas A, Reichmann E, Ullrich A (1999) Phosphorylation and free pool of beta-catenin are regulated by tyrosine kinases and tyrosine phosphatases during epithelial cell migration. J Biol Chem 274:10173-10183.
- Mustelin T, Vang T, Bottini N (2005) Protein tyrosine phosphatases and the immune response. Nat Rev Immunol 5:43-57.
- Nakamura T, Komiya M, Sone K, Hirose E, Gotoh N, Morii H, Ohta Y, Mori N (2002) Grit, a GTPase-activating protein for the Rho family, regulates neurite extension through association with the TrkA receptor and N-Shc and CrkL/Crk adapter molecules. Mol Cell Biol 22:8721-8734.

Nakazawa T, Kuriu T, Tezuka T, Umemori H, Okabe S, Yamamoto T (2008) Regulation of dendritic spine morphology by an NMDA receptor-associated Rho GTPase-activating protein, p250GAP. J Neurochem 105:1384-1393.

Nakazawa T, Watabe AM, Tezuka T, Yoshida Y, Yokoyama K, Umemori H, Inoue A, Okabe S, Manabe T, Yamamoto T (2003) p250GAP, a novel brainenriched GTPase-activating protein for Rho family GTPases, is involved in the N-methyl-d-aspartate receptor signaling. Mol Biol Cell 14:2921-2934.

Nam HJ, Poy F, Krueger NX, Saito H, Frederick CA (1999) Crystal structure of the tandem phosphatase domains of RPTP LAR. Cell 97:449-457.

Nasu-Nishimura Y, Hayashi T, Ohishi T, Okabe T, Ohwada S, Hasegawa Y, Senda T, Toyoshima C, Nakamura T, Akiyama T (2006) Role of the Rho GTPaseactivating protein RICS in neurite outgrowth. Genes Cells 11:607-614.

Newsome TP, Asling B, Dickson BJ (2000) Analysis of Drosophila photoreceptor axon guidance in eye-specific mosaics. Development 127:851-860.

Niederost B, Oertle T, Fritsche J, McKinney RA, Bandtlow CE (2002) Nogo-A and myelin-associated glycoprotein mediate neurite growth inhibition by antagonistic regulation of RhoA and Rac1. J Neurosci 22:10368-10376.

Norris K, Norris F, Kono DH, Vestergaard H, Pedersen O, Theofilopoulos AN, Moller NP (1997) Expression of protein-tyrosine phosphatases in the major insulin target tissues. FEBS Lett 415:243-248.

O'Grady P, Thai TC, Saito H (1998) The laminin-nidogen complex is a ligand for a specific splice isoform of the transmembrane protein tyrosine phosphatase LAR. J Cell Biol 141:1675-1684.

Okabe T, Nakamura T, Nishimura YN, Kohu K, Ohwada S, Morishita Y, Akiyama T (2003) RICS, a novel GTPase-activating protein for Cdc42 and Rac1, is involved in the beta-catenin-N-cadherin and N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor signaling. J Biol Chem 278:9920-9927.

Ostman A, Hellberg C, Bohmer FD (2006) Protein-tyrosine phosphatases and cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 6:307-320.

Pao LI, Badour K, Siminovitch KA, Neel BG (2007) Nonreceptor protein-tyrosine phosphatases in immune cell signaling. Annu Rev Immunol 25:473-523.

- Persson C, Sjoblom T, Groen A, Kappert K, Engstrom U, Hellman U, Heldin CH, den Hertog J, Ostman A (2004) Preferential oxidation of the second phosphatase domain of receptor-like PTP-alpha revealed by an antibody against oxidized protein tyrosine phosphatases. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:1886-1891.
- Pulido R, Hooft van Huijsduijnen R (2008) Protein tyrosine phosphatases: dualspecificity phosphatases in health and disease. Febs J 275:848-866.
- Pulido R, Serra-Pages C, Tang M, Streuli M (1995) The LAR/PTP delta/PTP sigma subfamily of transmembrane protein-tyrosine-phosphatases: multiple human LAR, PTP delta, and PTP sigma isoforms are expressed in a tissue-specific manner and associate with the LAR-interacting protein LIP.1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92:11686-11690.
- Qiao S, Iwashita T, Furukawa T, Yamamoto M, Sobue G, Takahashi M (2001)
 Differential effects of leukocyte common antigen-related protein on
 biochemical and biological activities of RET-MEN2A and RET-MEN2B
 mutant proteins. J Biol Chem 276:9460-9467.
- Rashid-Doubell F, McKinnell I, Aricescu AR, Sajnani G, Stoker A (2002) Chick PTPsigma regulates the targeting of retinal axons within the optic tectum. J Neurosci 22:5024-5033.
- Ren JM, Li PM, Zhang WR, Sweet LJ, Cline G, Shulman GI, Livingston JN, Goldstein BJ (1998) Transgenic mice deficient in the LAR protein-tyrosine phosphatase exhibit profound defects in glucose homeostasis. Diabetes 47:493-497.
- Sadowski I, Stone JC, Pawson T (1986) A noncatalytic domain conserved among cytoplasmic protein-tyrosine kinases modifies the kinase function and transforming activity of Fujinami sarcoma virus P130gag-fps. Mol Cell Biol 6:4396-4408.
- Sajnani G, Aricescu AR, Jones EY, Gallagher J, Alete D, Stoker A (2005) PTPsigma promotes retinal neurite outgrowth non-cell-autonomously. J Neurobiol 65:59-71.

- Sajnani-Perez G, Chilton JK, Aricescu AR, Haj F, Stoker AW (2003) Isoformspecific binding of the tyrosine phosphatase PTPsigma to a ligand in developing muscle. Mol Cell Neurosci 22:37-48.
- Saltiel AR (2001) New perspectives into the molecular pathogenesis and treatment of type 2 diabetes. Cell 104:517-529.
- Saltiel AR, Kahn CR (2001) Insulin signalling and the regulation of glucose and lipid metabolism. Nature 414:799-806.
- Sapieha PS, Duplan L, Uetani N, Joly S, Tremblay ML, Kennedy TE, Di Polo A (2005) Receptor protein tyrosine phosphatase sigma inhibits axon regrowth in the adult injured CNS. Mol Cell Neurosci 28:625-635.
- Schaapveld RQ, Schepens JT, Bachner D, Attema J, Wieringa B, Jap PH, Hendriks WJ (1998) Developmental expression of the cell adhesion molecule-like protein tyrosine phosphatases LAR, RPTPdelta and RPTPsigma in the mouse. Mech Dev 77:59-62.
- Schaapveld RQ, Schepens JT, Robinson GW, Attema J, Oerlemans FT, Fransen JA, Streuli M, Wieringa B, Hennighausen L, Hendriks WJ (1997) Impaired mammary gland development and function in mice lacking LAR receptorlike tyrosine phosphatase activity. Dev Biol 188:134-146.
- Schnell L, Schwab ME (1990) Axonal regeneration in the rat spinal cord produced by an antibody against myelin-associated neurite growth inhibitors. Nature 343:269-272.
- Serra-Pages C, Saito H, Streuli M (1994) Mutational analysis of proprotein processing, subunit association, and shedding of the LAR transmembrane protein tyrosine phosphatase. J Biol Chem 269:23632-23641.
- Serra-Pages C, Medley QG, Tang M, Hart A, Streuli M (1998) Liprins, a family of LAR transmembrane protein-tyrosine phosphatase-interacting proteins. J Biol Chem 273:15611-15620.
- Serra-Pages C, Kedersha NL, Fazikas L, Medley Q, Debant A, Streuli M (1995) The LAR transmembrane protein tyrosine phosphatase and a coiled-coil LARinteracting protein co-localize at focal adhesions. EMBO J 14:2827-2838.

- Silver J, Miller JH (2004) Regeneration beyond the glial scar. Nat Rev Neurosci 5:146-156.
- Simonen M, Pedersen V, Weinmann O, Schnell L, Buss A, Ledermann B, Christ F, Sansig G, van der Putten H, Schwab ME (2003) Systemic deletion of the myelin-associated outgrowth inhibitor Nogo-A improves regenerative and plastic responses after spinal cord injury. Neuron 38:201-211.
- Siu R, Fladd C, Rotin D (2007) N-cadherin is an in vivo substrate for protein tyrosine phosphatase sigma (PTPsigma) and participates in PTPsigmamediated inhibition of axon growth. Mol Cell Biol 27:208-219.
- Sommer L, Rao M, Anderson DJ (1997) RPTP delta and the novel protein tyrosine phosphatase RPTP psi are expressed in restricted regions of the developing central nervous system. Dev Dyn 208:48-61.
- Song XY, Zhong JH, Wang X, Zhou XF (2004) Suppression of p75NTR does not promote regeneration of injured spinal cord in mice. J Neurosci 24:542-546.
- Springer JE, Azbill RD, Knapp PE (1999) Activation of the caspase-3 apoptotic cascade in traumatic spinal cord injury. Nat Med 5:943-946.
- Stepanek L, Stoker AW, Stoeckli E, Bixby JL (2005) Receptor tyrosine phosphatases guide vertebrate motor axons during development. J Neurosci 25:3813-3823.
- Stoker AW (2001) Receptor tyrosine phosphatases in axon growth and guidance. Curr Opin Neurobiol 11:95-102.
- Stoker AW, Gehrig B, Haj F, Bay BH (1995) Axonal localisation of the CAM-like tyrosine phosphatase CRYP alpha: a signalling molecule of embryonic growth cones. Development 121:1833-1844.
- Streuli M, Krueger NX, Thai T, Tang M, Saito H (1990) Distinct functional roles of the two intracellular phosphatase like domains of the receptor-linked protein tyrosine phosphatases LCA and LAR. EMBO J 9:2399-2407.
- Stuible M, Doody KM, Tremblay ML (2008) PTP1B and TC-PTP: regulators of transformation and tumorigenesis. Cancer Metastasis Rev 27:215-230.
- Stuible M, Zhao L, Aubry I, Schmidt-Arras D, Bohmer FD, Li CJ, Tremblay ML (2007) Cellular inhibition of protein tyrosine phosphatase 1B by uncharged thioxothiazolidinone derivatives. Chembiochem 8:179-186.
- Suarez Pestana E, Tenev T, Gross S, Stoyanov B, Ogata M, Bohmer FD (1999) The transmembrane protein tyrosine phosphatase RPTPsigma modulates signaling of the epidermal growth factor receptor in A431 cells. Oncogene 18:4069-4079.
- Sun Q, Bahri S, Schmid A, Chia W, Zinn K (2000a) Receptor tyrosine phosphatases regulate axon guidance across the midline of the Drosophila embryo. Development 127:801-812.
- Sun QL, Wang J, Bookman RJ, Bixby JL (2000b) Growth cone steering by receptor tyrosine phosphatase delta defines a distinct class of guidance cue. Mol Cell Neurosci 16:686-695.
- Symons JR, LeVea CM, Mooney RA (2002) Expression of the leucocyte common antigen-related (LAR) tyrosine phosphatase is regulated by cell density through functional E-cadherin complexes. Biochem J 365:513-519.
- Taniguchi S, Liu H, Nakazawa T, Yokoyama K, Tezuka T, Yamamoto T (2003) p250GAP, a neural RhoGAP protein, is associated with and phosphorylated by Fyn. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 306:151-155.
- Tautz L, Pellecchia M, Mustelin T (2006) Targeting the PTPome in human disease. Expert Opin Ther Targets 10:157-177.
- Tayler TD, Garrity PA (2003) Axon targeting in the Drosophila visual system. Curr Opin Neurobiol 13:90-95.
- Thompson KM, Uetani N, Manitt C, Elchebly M, Tremblay ML, Kennedy TE (2003) Receptor protein tyrosine phosphatase sigma inhibits axonal regeneration and the rate of axon extension. Mol Cell Neurosci 23:681-692.
- Thuret S, Moon LD, Gage FH (2006) Therapeutic interventions after spinal cord injury. Nat Rev Neurosci 7:628-643.
- Tian SS, Tsoulfas P, Zinn K (1991) Three receptor-linked protein-tyrosine phosphatases are selectively expressed on central nervous system axons in the Drosophila embryo. Cell 67:675-685.
- Tiganis T, Bennett AM (2007) Protein tyrosine phosphatase function: the substrate perspective. Biochem J 402:1-15.

- Tisi MA, Xie Y, Yeo TT, Longo FM (2000) Downregulation of LAR tyrosine phosphatase prevents apoptosis and augments NGF-induced neurite outgrowth. J Neurobiol 42:477-486.
- Toledano-Katchalski H, Elson A (1999) The transmembranal and cytoplasmic forms of protein tyrosine phosphatase epsilon physically associate with the adaptor molecule Grb2. Oncogene 18:5024-5031.
- Tonks NK (2005) Redox redux: revisiting PTPs and the control of cell signaling. Cell 121:667-670.
- Tonks NK (2006) Protein tyrosine phosphatases: from genes, to function, to disease. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 7:833-846.
- Tonks NK, Diltz CD, Fischer EH (1988a) Purification of the major protein-tyrosinephosphatases of human placenta. J Biol Chem 263:6722-6730.
- Tonks NK, Diltz CD, Fischer EH (1988b) Characterization of the major proteintyrosine-phosphatases of human placenta. J Biol Chem 263:6731-6737.
- Tramier M, Piolot T, Gautier I, Mignotte V, Coppey J, Kemnitz K, Durieux C, Coppey-Moisan M (2003) Homo-FRET versus hetero-FRET to probe homodimers in living cells. Methods Enzymol 360:580-597.
- Tsujikawa K, Kawakami N, Uchino Y, Ichijo T, Furukawa T, Saito H, Yamamoto H (2001) Distinct functions of the two protein tyrosine phosphatase domains of LAR (leukocyte common antigen-related) on tyrosine dephosphorylation of insulin receptor. Mol Endocrinol 15:271-280.
- Tsujikawa K, Ichijo T, Moriyama K, Tadotsu N, Sakamoto K, Sakane N, Fukada S, Furukawa T, Saito H, Yamamoto H (2002) Regulation of Lck and Fyn tyrosine kinase activities by transmembrane protein tyrosine phosphatase leukocyte common antigen-related molecule. Mol Cancer Res 1:155-163.
- Uetani N, Chagnon MJ, Kennedy TE, Iwakura Y, Tremblay ML (2006) Mammalian motoneuron axon targeting requires receptor protein tyrosine phosphatases sigma and delta. J Neurosci 26:5872-5880.
- Uetani N, Kato K, Ogura H, Mizuno K, Kawano K, Mikoshiba K, Yakura H, Asano M, Iwakura Y (2000) Impaired learning with enhanced hippocampal long-term potentiation in PTPdelta-deficient mice. EMBO J 19:2775-2785.

- van der Wijk T, Overvoorde J, den Hertog J (2004) H2O2-induced intermolecular disulfide bond formation between receptor protein-tyrosine phosphatases. J Biol Chem 279:44355-44361.
- Van der Zee CE, Man TY, Van Lieshout EM, Van der Heijden I, Van Bree M, Hendriks WJ (2003) Delayed peripheral nerve regeneration and central nervous system collateral sprouting in leucocyte common antigen-related protein tyrosine phosphatase-deficient mice. Eur J Neurosci 17:991-1005.
- Van Lieshout EM, Van der Heijden I, Hendriks WJ, Van der Zee CE (2001) A decrease in size and number of basal forebrain cholinergic neurons is paralleled by diminished hippocampal cholinergic innervation in mice lacking leukocyte common antigen-related protein tyrosine phosphatase activity. Neuroscience 102:833-841.
- Wagner J, Boerboom D, Tremblay ML (1994) Molecular cloning and tissue-specific RNA processing of a murine receptor-type protein tyrosine phosphatase. Eur J Biochem 226:773-782.
- Wagner J, Gordon LA, Heng HH, Tremblay ML, Olsen AS (1996) Physical mapping of receptor type protein tyrosine phosphatase sigma (PTPRS) to human chromosome 19p13.3. Genomics 38:76-78.
- Wallace MJ, Fladd C, Batt J, Rotin D (1998) The second catalytic domain of protein tyrosine phosphatase delta (PTP delta) binds to and inhibits the first catalytic domain of PTP sigma. Mol Cell Biol 18:2608-2616.
- Wallace MJ, Batt J, Fladd CA, Henderson JT, Skarnes W, Rotin D (1999) Neuronal defects and posterior pituitary hypoplasia in mice lacking the receptor tyrosine phosphatase PTPsigma. Nat Genet 21:334-338.
- Walton KM, Martell KJ, Kwak SP, Dixon JE, Largent BL (1993) A novel receptortype protein tyrosine phosphatase is expressed during neurogenesis in the olfactory neuroepithelium. Neuron 11:387-400.
- Wang H, Yan H, Canoll PD, Silvennoinen O, Schlessinger J, Musacchio JM (1995)
 Expression of receptor protein tyrosine phosphatase-sigma (RPTP-sigma) in the nervous system of the developing and adult rat. J Neurosci Res 41:297-310.

- Wang J, Bixby JL (1999) Receptor tyrosine phosphatase-delta is a homophilic, neurite-promoting cell adhesion molecular for CNS neurons. Mol Cell Neurosci 14:370-384.
- Wang XJ, Kong KM, Qi WL, Ye WL, Song PS (2005) Interleukin-1 beta induction of neuron apoptosis depends on p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase activity after spinal cord injury. Acta Pharmacol Sin 26:934-942.
- Wang Z, Shen D, Parsons DW, Bardelli A, Sager J, Szabo S, Ptak J, Silliman N,
 Peters BA, van der Heijden MS, Parmigiani G, Yan H, Wang TL, Riggins G,
 Powell SM, Willson JK, Markowitz S, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B, Velculescu
 VE (2004) Mutational analysis of the tyrosine phosphatome in colorectal
 cancers. Science 304:1164-1166.
- Weng LP, Wang X, Yu Q (1999) Transmembrane tyrosine phosphatase LAR induces apoptosis by dephosphorylating and destabilizing p130Cas. Genes Cells 4:185-196.
- White MF (2002) IRS proteins and the common path to diabetes. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 283:E413-422.
- Wierman ME, Pawlowski JE, Allen MP, Xu M, Linseman DA, Nielsen-Preiss S (2004) Molecular mechanisms of gonadotropin-releasing hormone neuronal migration. Trends Endocrinol Metab 15:96-102.
- Wills Z, Bateman J, Korey CA, Comer A, Van Vactor D (1999) The tyrosine kinase Abl and its substrate enabled collaborate with the receptor phosphatase Dlar to control motor axon guidance. Neuron 22:301-312.
- Winton MJ, Dubreuil CI, Lasko D, Leclerc N, McKerracher L (2002) Characterization of new cell permeable C3-like proteins that inactivate Rho and stimulate neurite outgrowth on inhibitory substrates. J Biol Chem 277:32820-32829.
- Wolf RM, Wilkes JJ, Chao MV, Resh MD (2001) Tyrosine phosphorylation of p190 RhoGAP by Fyn regulates oligodendrocyte differentiation. J Neurobiol 49:62-78.



- Woodings JA, Sharp SJ, Machesky LM (2003) MIM-B, a putative metastasis suppressor protein, binds to actin and to protein tyrosine phosphatase delta. Biochem J 371:463-471.
- Wyszynski M, Kim E, Dunah AW, Passafaro M, Valtschanoff JG, Serra-Pages C, Streuli M, Weinberg RJ, Sheng M (2002) Interaction between GRIP and liprin-alpha/SYD2 is required for AMPA receptor targeting. Neuron 34:39-52.
- Xie Y, Yeo TT, Zhang C, Yang T, Tisi MA, Massa SM, Longo FM (2001) The leukocyte common antigen-related protein tyrosine phosphatase receptor regulates regenerative neurite outgrowth in vivo. J Neurosci 21:5130-5138.
- Xie Y, Massa SM, Ensslen-Craig SE, Major DL, Yang T, Tisi MA, Derevyanny VD, Runge WO, Mehta BP, Moore LA, Brady-Kalnay SM, Longo FM (2006)
 Protein-tyrosine phosphatase (PTP) wedge domain peptides: a novel approach for inhibition of PTP function and augmentation of proteintyrosine kinase function. J Biol Chem 281:16482-16492.
- Xu Z, Weiss A (2002) Negative regulation of CD45 by differential homodimerization of the alternatively spliced isoforms. Nat Immunol 3:764-771.
- Yakar S, Setser J, Zhao H, Stannard B, Haluzik M, Glatt V, Bouxsein ML, Kopchick JJ, LeRoith D (2004) Inhibition of growth hormone action improves insulin sensitivity in liver IGF-1-deficient mice. J Clin Invest 113:96-105.
- Yamashita T, Tohyama M (2003) The p75 receptor acts as a displacement factor that releases Rho from Rho-GDI. Nat Neurosci 6:461-467.
- Yan H, Grossman A, Wang H, D'Eustachio P, Mossie K, Musacchio JM, Silvennoinen O, Schlessinger J (1993) A novel receptor tyrosine phosphatasesigma that is highly expressed in the nervous system. J Biol Chem 268:24880-24886.
- Yang T, Massa SM, Longo FM (2006) LAR protein tyrosine phosphatase receptor associates with TrkB and modulates neurotrophic signaling pathways. J Neurobiol 66:1420-1436.
- Yang T, Zhang JS, Massa SM, Han X, Longo FM (1999) Leukocyte common antigen-related tyrosine phosphatase receptor: increased expression and

neuronal-type splicing in breast cancer cells and tissue. Mol Carcinog 25:139-149.

- Yang T, Yin W, Derevyanny VD, Moore LA, Longo FM (2005) Identification of an ectodomain within the LAR protein tyrosine phosphatase receptor that binds homophilically and activates signalling pathways promoting neurite outgrowth. Eur J Neurosci 22:2159-2170.
- Yang T, Bernabeu R, Xie Y, Zhang JS, Massa SM, Rempel HC, Longo FM (2003) Leukocyte antigen-related protein tyrosine phosphatase receptor: a small ectodomain isoform functions as a homophilic ligand and promotes neurite outgrowth. J Neurosci 23:3353-3363.
- Yang XH, Seow KT, Bahri SM, Oon SH, Chia W (1991) Two Drosophila receptorlike tyrosine phosphatase genes are expressed in a subset of developing axons and pioneer neurons in the embryonic CNS. Cell 67:661-673.
- Yeo TT, Yang T, Massa SM, Zhang JS, Honkaniemi J, Butcher LL, Longo FM (1997) Deficient LAR expression decreases basal forebrain cholinergic neuronal size and hippocampal cholinergic innervation. J Neurosci Res 47:348-360.
- Yu Q, Lenardo T, Weinberg RA (1992) The N-terminal and C-terminal domains of a receptor tyrosine phosphatase are associated by non-covalent linkage. Oncogene 7:1051-1057.
- Zabolotny JM, Haj FG, Kim YB, Kim HJ, Shulman GI, Kim JK, Neel BG, Kahn BB (2004) Transgenic overexpression of protein-tyrosine phosphatase 1B in muscle causes insulin resistance, but overexpression with leukocyte antigenrelated phosphatase does not additively impair insulin action. J Biol Chem 279:24844-24851.
- Zabolotny JM, Kim YB, Peroni OD, Kim JK, Pani MA, Boss O, Klaman LD, Kamatkar S, Shulman GI, Kahn BB, Neel BG (2001) Overexpression of the LAR (leukocyte antigen-related) protein-tyrosine phosphatase in muscle causes insulin resistance. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98:5187-5192.
- Zhang ZY (2003) Chemical and mechanistic approaches to the study of protein tyrosine phosphatases. Acc Chem Res 36:385-392.

- Zhao C, Ma H, Bossy-Wetzel E, Lipton SA, Zhang Z, Feng GS (2003) GC-GAP, a Rho family GTPase-activating protein that interacts with signaling adapters Gab1 and Gab2. J Biol Chem 278:34641-34653.
- Zhen M, Jin Y (1999) The liprin protein SYD-2 regulates the differentiation of presynaptic termini in C. elegans. Nature 401:371-375.
- Zheng B, Ho C, Li S, Keirstead H, Steward O, Tessier-Lavigne M (2003) Lack of enhanced spinal regeneration in Nogo-deficient mice. Neuron 38:213-224.
- Zheng B, Atwal J, Ho C, Case L, He XL, Garcia KC, Steward O, Tessier-Lavigne M (2005) Genetic deletion of the Nogo receptor does not reduce neurite inhibition in vitro or promote corticospinal tract regeneration in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:1205-1210.
- Zheng XM, Resnick RJ, Shalloway D (2000) A phosphotyrosine displacement mechanism for activation of Src by PTPalpha. Embo J 19:964-978.

APPENDIX

202